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Awards #EJH (2019-2020)
WAI YUEN TONG fi s

The Nielsen Company
JERRARLA]

Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales Value &
Sales Volume for 6 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong*

0 70 B 0 3R B T A8 N A1 o 5 M O S B v R —

Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail Index Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder segment of
Cough Remedy category for the 6-year period ending May 2019 (from June 2013 to May 2019),
for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2019 The Nielsen Company)
¥ iR¥ENielsenEBRAR R AEHE2019F5A 1E6F Hif (B20139F6 A £2019F5A8)
EEBEHBRTS - RAEMEF R LT ERERS (0 2019 ERMARRRNENA)

Hong Kong Chinese Medicine Industry Association W l
L9 53

EAPREGE |
Hong Kong — Excellent Century-old Brand for s
Promoting Traditional Chinese Medicine Pl

il —EAEBENE XU

®
= GS1 Hong Kong
I e %E/;E%EI%I-HHE%T%@
= Consumer Caring Scheme 5 Years + Award

Bl O AR S 3 W R 8 AR +

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
HELGREHE
10 Years Plus Caring Company / €I
104EPlusPi A JEBRAEE © c2lngsompany

EEHGRGB AR
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Awards #EJH (2019-2020)
LUXEMBOURG MEDICINE )& 752 8 5

The Nielsen Company
I EOYNG]

Pearl’s Ranked 1st in Sales Value for 9 Consecutive Years
in Hong Kong*
Bl PG 38 48 U AF 2 s o B 0 e L

* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail Index Service for the defined Mosquito Repeller (for human)
category for the 9-year period ending October 2019 (from November 2010 to October 2019),
for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2020 The Nielsen Company)

* iR#ENielsenEMAR A RIEZ2019410 A LEOF R (820109118 Z=20195108)

2RBEBRAMS  BREREFEIAR (EANAR) TEAERE (O2020EMARLRIMREME)

Focus Media Hong Kong Limited
- Hong Kong’s White Collars’ Most Favourite Brand Award 2019
EW 7 v 1 R E 2 AR E 2019

S Bt ke

R

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

B elgie
10 Years Plus Caring Company

104EPlus i LR B~ carngcompany
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Dear Shareholders,

Business Review

Hong Kong's economy slowed in the second half of 2018 and continued this
trend into the first half of 2019. In the second half of the year, large-scale local
social events severely dampened the economic atmosphere, which, coupled
with the negative impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") epidemic on
local consumption and tourism in the first quarter of 2020, caused Hong Kong's
retail market to remain in the slump, with business activities in tourist areas the
most hard-hit. According to the statistics of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, visitor
arrivals to Hong Kong reversed its rising trend and fell in 2019, declining by 14.2%
year-on-year, a record annual decline. Moreover, according to the statistics of the
Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department, the volume of total retail sales in
2019 fell by 12.3% year-on-year, the largest annual decline since 1998; and the value
of total retail sales for the year declined by 11.1% year-on-year, the first decline in
the past three years. Leveraging the solid foundation of a century-old traditional
Chinese medicine (“TCM") brand, the efficient and scientific management methods,
and flexible market strategies, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the
“Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) maintained dynamic
overall business performance for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Financial
Year’ or the “year under review’) in a complicated and ever-changing business
environment, with a total revenue of HK$620.7 million for the year.

Founded in 1897 (the twenty-third year of the Guangxu reign period during the
Qing Dynasty), “Wai Yuen Tong” has always upheld its philosophy of “Preparing
Medicine with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation” throughout its history
of over 120 years. Regardless of changes of the times and upheavals in society,
the management team and employees always work together with commitment
to pursue the mission of enhancing medical care and healthcare of people
in the modern society, endeavouring to provide comprehensive and quality
products and services amidst turbulence. The Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a
widely-known Chinese medicine and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Company Limited (“Wai Yuen Tong" or “WYT Medicine’, together
with its subsidiaries, the "WYT Medicine Group”), and holds “Madame Pearl’s”

and “Pearl’s”, world-renowned Western medicine and health food brands, through

Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited ("Luxembourg Medicine”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group’). The Chinese and western
medicines and the healthcare businesses generate synergy, propelling the Group to
be one of the leaders of the industry.

Chairman’s Statement

ER

BB RE

75 ol e

R -NFLYFRBRERER_T\F
THERBRENBY  THFRAMARHE
ENBETEEERS  BN_T-2FF—
FEMBEMRE ARG E A B Rk
E¥WEEYE  BETEMEREEX  BE
EEPHMEREREEHT - REFBIREE
REHBEER  —E-NEHBREARS
THEY - RFMBREAIZE TE14.2% -
ERLREARRROFEKRE - B0 RIE
BERERRRARZ2EE  —T-NF2FE
EXRBHEESRFTHRI23%  2— AN
FURNBRAFEKE  2FNTEXAH
ERERF K%  RE=FRERES
BRIE o (LT EBEEERARDR([RQF ]
BRENBARGH AKE ) BEEFER
hEE([ERTE]RENBEERE - SHH
BOERE  BREBNTISRE Bk
ZENKERET  ARERE_T_TF
ZA=ZT-HAEFE(MREE X E/ERF
EDEBEEXBRIEDN  FEAKRES
620,700,000/ 7T °

[T BRI 18976 OB #2345 ) - KL
B0 —EERI UBERLESE  BiEEE
ERKINERE - EEHREE - KRR
BB N B TR MR - BTl - R
EERRANEFRREFERCA - ERAFN
FMTBEORHEEEREBENER LRSS - &
SEEBUTEERERAR([LTE I
TEER ]| EREMBARSBMITERESE
SEDBAEREPENTENRER SRS —
(MITE ] AREBEREBREBRER AR
(TERERER] - ERENBR RS ER
BHEXEEDHAFERRENRERRERSR
i — [RAIRIAK ] PEBERREE
BELBRRE  EAREKAAENTTES
rz—-

T BT AR A 7
T -TFFIR



Chairman’s Statement

BV T8

In the face of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Chinese government stresses the
combination of Chinese and western medical treatments and the joint use of
TCM and western pharmaceutical medicines to treat patients. In multiple editions
of the Diagnosis and Treatment Protocol for Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (Trial
Version) released by the National Health Commission of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC” or “China’), “Angong Niuhuang Wan ( & & 4 & # )" was
included for treatment of critically ill patients with the syndrome of “inner blocking
causing collapse (A B MR FE)", drawing widespread attention from domestic and
foreign markets to "Angong Niuhuang Wan". Based on the holistic philosophy of
emergency-prevention-rehabilitation, the Group launched the “Angong Sanbao
(ZE=8)" series to protect the public against cardiovascular and cerebrovascular
diseases, including “Angong Niuhuang Wan”, “Angong Jiangya Wan (% & £ & A)"
and "Angong Zaizao Wan (Z& fEi&4)". The entire series are “100% Made in Hong
Kong”, being manufactured in the TCM and western pharmaceutical medicine
Good Manufacturing Practice ("“GMP") factory in Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long
Factory”), which is invested nearly HK$600 million and constructed by the Group.
The Yuen Long Factory is equipped with a number of advanced automated
production equipment. Its six TCM production lines and three western medicine
production lines are constructed and operated in accordance with the standard
of “The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme” (“PIC/S"), a stringent
manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide recognition. Despite the tepid
local consumer sentiment, with the increase in citizens’ knowledge and awareness
of Chinese healthcare in recent years, and the COVID-19 bringing TCM to the
forefront of epidemic prevention and combat, our signature products, including
“Angong Niuhuang Wan’, “Young Yum Pills (Z & 1), “Hou Tsao Powder (& % Bx &
#)", and "Wall-Broken Ganoderma Lucidum Spores (B B2 E= 7-7)", have become the
health choice for many consumers.

The Group pro-actively seizes market opportunities. In recent years, it has continued
to focus on innovation and R&D to launch products catering for the different
healthcare needs of urban citizens. During the year under review, the Group launched
“Colla Corii Asini Powder (FIB:R&#2)" and “Ejiao Cake (FITEES)" 150g under the Colla
Corii Asini (Fa B8) series to provide convenient nourishing and healthcare options for
urban ladies. In recent years, the Group has also successfully developed and registered
the “Gastrointestinal Pills (%5 IER& #1)” and “Stomach Relief Granules (% 1IE & 77)"
for the treatment of gastrointestinal discomfort, the “Uricid Aid Capsules (F&E3)" for
uric acid problems, and “Golden Dura-Gizer (£ 2£ [l $5)" that enhances the vitality of
men. These products are widely popular in the market and have established a good
reputation among consumers. In addition, as more people are keeping cats and dogs
as pets, the demand of pet owners for quality pet health products is also on the rise.
In view of this, the Group launched "ProVet (£ % £8)", Hong Kong's first professional
healthcare product series for pets developed by professional TCM veterinarians, who
develop tailored healthcare formula for pets based on the health needs of cats and
dogs at different ages.

8 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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With respect to the segment of Western pharmaceutical and health food products,
all production facilities were relocated to the Yuen Long GMP/PIC/S Factory at the
end of 2018. The aqua products of upper airway product series under “Madame
Pearl's”
equipment of the Yuen Long Factory, thereby effectively ensuring product quality

and bolstering consumers’ purchase confidence. During the year under review, the

of Luxembourg Medicine are manufactured in-house with the advanced

production volume of Madame Pearl’s Cough Syrup, a key product under “Madame
Pearl's”, has picked up since 2019, enough for the Group to supply to local clinics
and effectively offset the decline in revenue from selling cough syrup to local key
accounts caused by weak consumption sentiment. “Pearl’s
its market leading position in the mosquito repeller category. According to Nielsen’s
market research report, “Pearl’'s” was ranked 1st in sales value in the product sector

"

continued to maintain

for 9 consecutive years in Hong Kong.

During the year under review, the Group continuously improved and enhanced its
online and offline retail networks to achieve optimal profit performance. Offline,
the Group currently has over 55 retail stores in Hong Kong across Hong Kong
Island, Kowloon and the New Territories. Among which, around 40 of these retail
stores have professional registered TCM practitioners. The Group’s operation scale
remained at industry leading position. In addition, the Group continued to widen
its distribution partner category. Currently, it has more than 3,000 points of sale
in Hong Kong to ensure the coverage of the full range of products over all major
distribution channels. Rooted in Hong Kong, the Group seeks development in cities
in the Greater Bay Area such as Macao and Shenzhen, where it has established retail
stores and multiple points of sale. Its physical retail network has gradually expanded
from Hong Kong to key cities in mainland China.

On the online front, the presence on e-commerce channels becomes more
important as people staying at home to combat the epidemic amidst the
COVID-19 epidemic gives rise to the “indoor economy”. In Hong Kong, the Group
has set up its own official online shopping platform, “Wai Yuen Tong E-Shop”
(www.wyteshop.com), and opened a brand flagship store on HKTVmall.com. For
the convenience of consumers in mainland China, the Group has also opened Wai
Yuen Tong flagship stores on Tmall.com and JD.com in mainland China. In addition,
the electronic strategy is also widely applied to Chinese healthcare services and
marketing promotion. In particular, Wai Yuen Tong's mobile application offers an
outpatient appointment function.
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Chairman’s Statement

BV T8

In terms of academic and talent exchange, the Group also spared no effort. In
August 2017, the Group and Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine jointly
established the “Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine and Wai Yuen Tong
Industry, Education and Research Base (R R R B B A 2B f T B E S E ) in
Hong Kong and launched a five-year strategic partnership for TCM. The partnership is
aimed at promoting talent training in the TCM industry, strengthening technology
and product R&D, promoting trade in health services and TCM services, and
facilitating the dissemination of TCM wisdom outside China and its launch onto the
international stage.

In addition, property investment is also one of the business segments of Wai Yuen
Tong. Up to the date of this annual report, the Group owns 10 properties in Hong
Kong, some of which are self-used as retail shops, while others are leased out to
generate rental income. During the year under review, the Group completed the
disposal of five retail shops at (1) Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong, (2) Sai Yeung Choi
Street South, Mong Kok, (3) To Kwa Wan Road, To Kwa Wan, (4) Shau Kei Wan Road,
Sai Wan Ho and (5) Jade Plaza, Tai Po, and recognised a gain of HK$60.9 million in
total. During the year, the Group made a pre-conditional voluntary partial cash offer
to the shareholders of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP’, stock code:
149, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “CAP Group”) to acquire such
number of CAP shares at the partial share offer price of HK$0.091 per CAP share. In
February 2020, the Group completed the partial share acquisition offer to CAP and
held 53.37% of the issued shares of CAP, becoming a controlling shareholder of
CAP. The Group believes that CAP holds quality investment properties and property
reserves in Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province in the PRC, and has the support of national
policies and good prospects for property investment. By having direct shareholding
of a majority stake in CAP, the Group can seize the opportunity to make additional
investments in quality properties, which complements Wai Yuen Tong's current
focus of the property investment business to achieve maximal synergy.

The Group is committed to fulfilling corporate social responsibilities. During the year
under review, it actively participated in various charity and public well-fare events,
including providing free TCM consultation services, participating in Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals’ fund-raising and elderly visits and A Drop of Life's charity walks.
In 2020, the COVID-19 threatened the health of citizens. From March to April, the
Group purposefully provided free consultations and fifty percent discount for the
first dose of Chinese medicine in Hong Kong stores with resident registered TCM
practitioners. In early April, the Group distributed complimentary health protection
gift packs containing anti-epidemic materials such as masks, Pearl's GermsOut
Hand Sanitizing Spray and Wai Yuen Tong's Young Yum Pills to 2,000 senior citizens,
taking concrete actions to fulfil its service commitment of “protecting health” and
hoping to work with Hong Kong citizens to overcome the adversities. In addition,
the Group cares about the physical and mental health and career development of
its employees. During the year, the Group invited its employees and their family
members to join a large-scale outdoor running event, and regularly conducted
various on-the-job training and lectures in the hope that employees and the
Company grow together.
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Outlook

In the second half of 2019, Hong Kong was subject to months of large-scale social
events that dampened the local consumer sentiment and tourists’ desire to visit
Hong Kong and affected the retail market in Hong Kong. Up to the first quarter
of 2020, the large-scale social events have not yet subsided, and the COVID-19
epidemic has spread across the globe. Hong Kong’s economy deteriorated notably,
leading to a more cautious local consumer sentiment. Moreover, the mandatory
quarantine measures implemented by the government for different countries and
regions have further diminished visitor arrivals to Hong Kong, exacerbating the
operating environment for the retail industry. According to the statistics of the
Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department, in the first two months of 2020, the
value of total retail sales fell by 31.8% year-on-year, and the volume of total retail
sales fell by 33.9% year-on-year. It is expected that the business environment will
remain extremely challenging for the retail industry in the short run.

However, the Group believes that the fundamentals of the long-term improvement
of the Chinese economy remain intact, and is optimistic about the growth potential
of its business in mainland China and Macao in the long run. Also, the Group
believes that once the COVID-19 epidemic is brought under control, Hong Kong's
retail market will see a significant recovery as local residents’ consumer confidence
strengthens and visitor arrivals to Hong Kong rebound, driving the Group's overall
business back to the upward trajectory. In view of the daily needs of Hong Kong
citizens (especially the elderly market) for TCM products and healthcare services, the
Group is seeking suitable locations to open new stores in community districts to
serve nearby residents. Meanwhile, the Group is actively recruiting talents to expand
its professional registered TCM practitioner team to provide citizens with one-stop
services covering consultation-prescription-decoction. In addition, as Macao attracts
more and more Chinese and foreign tourists with its gaming and tourism industry,
the Group plans to open new stores there in the second half of 2020 to nurture
the retail business in Macao into a profit growth engine. With respect to mainland
China, as the e-commerce market has matured and cross-border e-commerce has
also flourished in recent years, the Group will continue to improve its retail layout
on online channels in the PRC to achieve the omni-channel, collaborative operation
model that combines online and offline channels and connects the mainland and
Hong Kong, so as to drive the Group's business in mainland China to a higher level.
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Chairman’s Statement
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China has always attached great importance to and vigorously promoted the
development of TCM. In recent years, it formulated the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Traditional Chinese Medicine ((#RZ A R LA B 7 B8 2% ), promulgated
the Outline of the Strategic Plan on the Development of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (€ A B8 %% 2% & 8 5 38 ) 41 2 )), and implemented the “Belt and Road”
Development Plan for Traditional Chinese Medicine ((H B8 Z&[ —&5—& [ @ AR &),
in order to comprehensively develop Chinese medicine in various aspects including
medical care, healthcare, scientific research, education, industry and culture, further
give play to the role of TCM in promoting people’s health and innovation, and
promote TCM across the world. During the year under review, the Opinions of
the CPC Central Committee and the State Council on Promoting the Preservation,
Innovation and Development of Traditional Chinese Medicine (& $£r & BI75B% B3
AR 3 B8 B E R AT SR A E R.)) was issued, clearly proposing to “promote the
inheritance and open up the innovation and development of traditional Chinese
medicine” and "build a highland of traditional Chinese medicine in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area’, thereby establishing a clear positioning for the
development of the TCM industry in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area. The governments of Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao have also
entered into the Memorandum of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
Chinese Medicine Cooperation ({2 38 K & & 1 2 225 {F & = 8% )), proposing to
promote the integration and sharing of quality TCM resources in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, jointly participating in the formulation of
international standards for TCM, and building the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area into a TCM standardisation centre. To support the development of
the TCM industry and capture the benefits bring by the national policy, the Group
has established factory in mainland China in recent years, facilitating collaboration
with the Yuen Long Factory. In the future, we will also pro-actively expand the TCM
plantation bases in mainland China to ensure the excellent quality of raw materials
and products.

In the face of extremely challenging business prospects, the Group will continue
to strictly control costs, better coordinate procurement, production, sales, pricing
and promotion strategies, and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western
pharmaceutical medicine and health food. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to
identify suitable M&A opportunities to further diversify its business portfolio and
create greater value for shareholders and customers.
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Appreciation WGy

| hereby extend my heartfelt gratitude to our business partners and shareholders T - BROBEH — B SF R M E B R
for staying with us through the adversity, and extend appreciation to colleagues REREFEFREE HE BRI ET2AT

for their commitment in hardship, which allows Wai Yuen Tong to fully leverage FHRBPEA - R ERATARRRT
the business and social value of a century-old well-established brand at a critical DREAFETROBENLESEE - BET
moment and continue to protect the health of the citizens. | firmly believe that as EMRER - HAE REZHFEE-"H E
long as we all work together towards the same goal with the indomitable spirit of D - BENENENRFILEN - EREE
the lion rock, we will surely overcome adversity and embrace better development WYIR  DEE R BERAIR o

prospects.

Tang Ching Ho 0P|

Chairman and Managing Director FEREFLMLETE

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020 BE ZTZTFAA=TH

ML EEZELRBR AR 1 3
ZETFFR



Management Discussion and Analysis
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6 & For over the past century,
Wai Yuen Tong has been an internationally renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong.
Looking forward, we will continue to develop our core business
with flexible operational mechanisms and give full play to
the synergy of TCM and western pharmaceutical medicine and health food.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, total revenue of the Group decreased
by 17.4% to HK$620.7 million. As a result of the massive social unrest in Hong Kong as
well as outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020, revenue of both
Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products dropped by 25.2% to HK$467.0 million and by 13.5% to
HK$100.3 million, respectively. During the year, the Group has further expanded
its scope of business into management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets in mainland China through the acquisition of 53.37%
equity interests in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ("CAP”") (stock code: 149)
which was completed in February 2020. Since the acquisition, this new business
contributed revenue of HK$44.2 million to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a profit attributable to
owners of the parent amounting to HK$95.8 million (2019: HK$74.6 million). Such
improvement was mainly attributable to a provisional gain on bargain purchase
arising from the acquisition of CAP, gain on disposal/redemption of financial
assets and gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment and an investment
property, netting off the decrease in gross profit of the Group and impairment
losses on items of property, plant and equipment.

Dividends

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board" or the "Directors”) does not
recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil). No interim dividend was made for the six months ended 30 September
2019 (30 September 2018: Nil).

Business Review

(1) Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

During the year under review, revenue of the Chinese pharmaceutical
and health food products decreased by 25.2% year-on-year to HK$467.0
million. According to the latest retail sales figures released by the Census
and Statistics Department of Hong Kong, the estimated retail sales in Hong
Kong for the full year 2019 dropped by approximately 12.3% year over year.
The continuous social unrest and COVID-19 pandemic have unavoidably
hurt the inbound tourism and directly affected our retail sales, particularly
for those districts where were originally very popular with mainland tourists.
Notwithstanding the subdued economic outlook, we have implemented
various initiatives during the year for the long-term growth of the Group,
including enriching the product range, advocating our high quality
Chinese medical services provided by our professional Chinese doctors and
consolidating distribution channel, etc. Revenue of this business segment
accounted for 75.2% of total revenue of the Group.
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Again, Angong Sanbao (%5 = &) is regarded as our key Chinese pharmaceutical
products: Angong Niuhuang Wan (&= 4% #1), Angong Jiangya Wan (%= F& [
A1), Angong Zaizao Wan (&= F i 341), which are gatekeepers of cardiovascular
health of the public based on the overall concept of emergency-prevention-
rehabilitation. The series is registered in Hong Kong according to ancient
prescriptions/nationally recognised prescription and its whole production
process is carried out at our GMP factory in Yuen Long, Hong Kong. We have
launched a series of product promotion, which successfully drew public attention
on cerebrovascular health through health talks and event promotional vehicles
in various districts. During the existing pandemic environment, our Angong
Niuhuang Wan is considered as good for health product with growing popularity.
Despite the weak consumer sentiment and subdued economic conditions,
the sales of TCM healthcare products for common diseases of urban people
remained strong for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group targeted better cost efficiency through further optimisation of
its retail sales network and distribution channels. We had enhanced the
distribution channel by partnering with a strong distributor since the fourth
quarter of 2018 which focuses on distributing our products to the key
accounts in Hong Kong. By the end of the year, we had over 55 retail outlets
in Hong Kong. We review the distribution of our retail shops and aim to
relocate our retail shops to a more successful location to capture customers.
The optimisation of distribution network helps strengthen the Group's sales
and brand recognition. A strong network has been laid down for a sustainable
growth in the future.

The Group is well aware of the importance of networks nowadays and
therefore has intensified its efforts to explore other sales channels, major
customers, distributors as well as overseas regions to expand and enrich
its marketing capacity. The Group is also in the process of exploring
collaboration with casinos, commercial banks and insurance companies to
broaden the customer base in the future.

Last but not least, the Group will continue to work with renowned universities
and research institutes to promote and develop new Chinese medicine
health products, in particular for the elderly. In the face of future challenges,
the Group will insist on strict monitor on product quality and a sincere service
attitude.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and health food products decreased
by 13.5% to HK$100.3 million since the consumer sentiment stayed weak for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

" "

The two major product series, namely “Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s” under
this business segment encountered different challenges during the year. Last
year, the segment’s prime product — cough syrup — under the Madame Pearl’s
brand was affected by the relocation of production facilities to the Group's
PIC/S factory in Yuen Long which led to the decline in production volume
of Madame Pearl's cough syrup. As the relocation of production completed
by the end of 2018, the production volume of Madame Pearl’s cough syrup
started picking up in 2019. In order to better utilise the increased production
capacity, we started supplying local clinics and we are aiming to cover more
than 400 local clinics by the end of 2020. Despite the increase in sales of
cough syrup through this new channel, revenue of this business segment still

decreased due to weak consumption sentiment.

The Pearl’s product series, which comprises MosquitOut spray, hand cream
and itch-relief products, faced with severe price competition. Despite a highly
competitive market environment, Pearl’'s MosquitOut remained as a leading
brand in this product category.

During the year, the Group placed substantial resources in revamping its
Western pharmaceutical and health food product distribution channels
in order to improve efficiency. More resources were put on branding with
an aim to strengthening the brand loyalty for both “Madame Pearl’s” and
"Pearl’s” product series. To comply with mainland China’s relevant regulations,
the Group has engaged various local industry players to rejuvenate the
penetration of its upper airway product series under the “Madame Pearl’s”
brand into mainland China.

Capitalising on state-of-the-art technology and advanced equipment of the
Group's Yuen Long factory, the Group continued to carry out research and
development of products for core medical solution targeting at institutional
clients.
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Property Investment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group owned 10 properties in Hong Kong, which
are all retail properties. The majority of those properties was self-use as retail
shops while some were leased out for generating rental income. The net
fair value loss on investment properties amounted to HK$99.2 million (2019:
fair value gain of HK$17.4 million) as a result of the deteriorated retail market
condition.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group completed the sales of five
properties in Hong Kong, which are retail shops at (1) Hip Wo Street, Kwun
Tong, (2) Sai Yeung Choi Street South, Mong Kok, (3) To Kwa Wan Road, To
Kwa Wan, (4) Shau Kei Wan Road, Sai Wan Ho, and (5) Jade Plaza, Tai Po. The
gain from these five properties disposals amounted to HK$60.9 million and
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Investment in CAP and Management and Sale of Properties in
Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets

CAP (stock code: 149), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), is principally
engaged in the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets in mainland China.

The Group subscribed and acquired the unlisted 5-year bond due 27
November 2019 with coupon rate of 10.0% per annum issued by CAP
(the 2019 CAP Bonds") in 2014 and 2016. On 26 September 2019, CAP
and Winning Rich Investments Limited (“Winning Rich”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional loan
agreement, pursuant to which Winning Rich granted a new loan to CAP in
the principal amount of HK$621.0 million for a term of three years (the “CAP
Loan”) for the purpose of refinancing the outstanding indebtedness of CAP
owed to Winning Rich under the 2019 CAP Bonds.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 26 September 2019, Goal Success Investments Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Offeror”), announced
(as supplemented by the announcement dated 28 November 2019)
that Kingston Securities Limited, on behalf of the Offeror, proposed
to put forward a proposal (subject to the satisfaction of certain
pre-conditions) to:

(@  make a pre-conditional voluntary partial cash offer to the shareholders
of CAP to acquire such number of CAP shares which resulted in the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it holding a maximum of 75%
of the CAP shares in issue at the partial share offer price of HK$0.091
per CAP share; and

(b)  extend an appropriate offer to acquire a maximum of 46.86% of the
outstanding principal amount of the 7.5% convertible note(s) due 2021
issued by CAP on 19 October 2016 (the “Convertible Notes") (subject
to adjustment in the event of a change in the issued share capital of
CAP) at the partial Convertible Notes offer price of HK$0.2275 for each
outstanding HK$1 face value of the Convertible Notes,

items (a) and (b) above (collectively the “CAP Acquisition”).

The cash consideration paid by the Offeror under the CAP Acquisition
amounted to approximately HK$483.4 million. The CAP Acquisition
completed on 12 February 2020, which led the Group to record a provisional
gain on bargain purchase of HK$230.8 million. CAP was accounted for as a
subsidiary of the Company upon the completion of the CAP Acquisition.

The CAP Group managed 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in the
PRC, across five provinces. For the period from February to March 2020,
CAP recorded a turnover of HK$44.2 million which included HK$26.5 million
generated from rental income from investment properties and HK$17.7
million generated from management services provided in agricultural
produce exchange markets.
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In order to achieve long term growth, CAP strives for diversification of income
streams via operating its wholly-owned agricultural produce exchange
markets, entering into cooperation projects with local partners, making small
amount of investment and providing management services to local partners
to operate agricultural markets under CAP’s brand name, and provision of
food and agricultural by-products merchandising services to customers.

The main agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC of CAP are
Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan
Baisazhou Market"), Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange
Market (“Yulin Market”) and Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (‘Luoyang Market").

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange
operators in the PRC. It is situated in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City,
the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000 square metres and a total
gross floor area of approximately 190,000 square metres. Rental income from
properties letting is the major income generated from Wuhan Baisazhou
Market.

Yulin Market

Yulin Market is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 415,000 square metres and a total gross floor area of
approximately 196,000 square metres. Sale of properties is the major income
generated from Yulin Market.

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Market is the flagship project of CAP in Henan Province, the PRC,
with a site area and a gross floor area of approximately 255,000 square metres
and approximately 223,000 square metres, respectively. Sale of properties is
the major income generated from Luoyang Market.

CAP has three agricultural produce exchange markets in Hubei Province,
the PRC. The operating performance of these markets was affected by
the COVID-19 pandemic. During the pandemic, the PRC government
implemented different measures to constraint the spread of the virus,
including the limitation of people and vehicle movement and strengthening
the markets’ hygiene controls. These measures lowered the market trading
activities and related commission income. However, since COVID-19 began to
be under control, the performance of these markets has gradually returned to
normal.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment in Easy One Financial Group Limited ("Easy One")

Easy One (stock code: 221), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, is principally engaged in the businesses of provision of finance and
securities brokerage services in Hong Kong and property development in the
PRC.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group held 29.06% (2019: 29.06%) of the issued
shares of Easy One. Easy One is an associate of the Group. The Group's share
of profit of Easy One during the year amounted to HK$12.0 million (2019:
share of profit of HK$49.0 million). Last year, the share of profit included a
gain on bargain purchase from the acquisition of additional equity interests
of Easy One of HK$38.0 million. Impairment on investment in Easy One of
HK$8.7 million was recorded as other expenses during the year (2019: Nil).

On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Tang
Ching Ho, the controlling shareholder of the Company, requested the board
of Easy One, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability, to put forward a proposal
of privatisation of Easy One (the “Proposed Privatisation’) to the other
shareholders of Easy One for the privatisation of Easy One by way of a scheme
of arrangement under Section 99 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the
"Companies Act’).

Pursuant to the Proposed Privatisation, all the ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each in Easy One (the “Scheme Share(s)") will be cancelled in exchange for
the consideration comprising the cash consideration of HK$0.3 per Scheme
Share and the consideration shares on the basis of eight (8) ordinary share of
Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On”, the ultimate holding company of the
Company, whose shares are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) as held by Caister Limited, for each Scheme Share. The Proposed
Privatisation, upon implementation, will constitute a major and connected
transaction for the Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), details of which were
set out in the joint announcement published by the Company, Wang On,
Easy One and Caister Limited dated 4 May 2020.

(5)
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(6)

(7)

(8)
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Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

The Group has maintained a portfolio of listed equity securities and bonds in
Hong Kong which are held for long term investment purpose with an aim to
generating stable income. During the year, the Group's investment in listed
bonds decreased by HK$43.8 million and the remaining bonds as at 31 March
2020 carried annual interest rates ranging from 6.00% to 11.75%.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income was HK$173.2 million (2019: HK$939.4 million).
During the year, the Group has recorded a net loss on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$52.0
million (2019: net loss of HKS$41.3 million).

Convertible Notes

On 19 October 2016, CAP issued Convertible Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$500 million which will mature on 18 October 2021.
The Convertible Notes can be convertible into ordinary shares of CAP at a
conversion price of HK$0.4 per ordinary share of CAP. From the completion of
the CAP Acquisition to 31 March 2020, no Convertible Notes were converted
into ordinary shares of CAP by the Convertible Notes’ holders. As at 31
March 2020, the Convertible Notes had an outstanding principal amount of
HK$264.8 million.

Unsecured Notes Due in 2024 ("Unsecured Notes")

In May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000 million medium term note
program. The Unsecured Notes issued under the program are listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only (stock
code: 5755). As at 31 March 2020, the Unsecured Notes had an outstanding
principal amount of HK$290.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Review

(1)

Liquidity, Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total assets of HK$7,730.2 million (2019:
HK$3,454.7 million) which were financed by current liabilities of HK$2,515.8
million (2019: HK$381.3 million), non-current liabilities of HK$1,863.1 million
(2019: HKS$625.2 million) and shareholders’ equity of HK$3,351.3 million (2019:
HK$2,448.1 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were HK$475.7
million (2019: HK$171.2 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts amounted
to HK$1,800.8 million (2019: HK$852.2 million), which bore interest at fixed
and floating interest rates and were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi ("RMB").

B ) s M a3 A

S5 [m]

(1)

hBHES  BELERUKER
R-ZE-_TZF=-_A=+—H K&
48 7 R7,730,20000008 T (=&
— JL4E : 3,454,7000008 7T ) - &
HR B B & & 2,515,800,000 7 7T
— JL# : 381,300,000 7T ) -
JERE) A 151,863,1000008 T (= &
— JL4F ¢ 625,200,000 7T ) K i% 5 HE
#3,351,300,0008 7T (=T — hF -
2,448,100,000/87T) °

RZZB-ZTF=A=+—H KAEER
© MREFRIER /475700,000% T
(ZZ—N4F : 171,200,000 7T) °

750_7_7¢ ﬂ +—8" $%Iu+
*Hﬁ : 852,200,000/7@%) FE.E&

FEMEABLABTRARE (AR
BEDIIE -

At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019

R-ZB-ZF=A=+—H RZZ-NE=A=+—H

Approximate Approximate

effective effective

HKS$ Million interest rate HKS Million interest rate

BEET HOERAZE BERET BRERAEX
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The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities,
was 1.2 (2019: 3.5). The gearing ratio, being the ratio of total interest-bearing
debts net of cash and cash equivalents to equity attributable to owners of
the parent, was 57.6% (2019: 27.9%). The Group always adopts a conservative
approach in its financial management.
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(2) Significant Investments Held (2) FBEARE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had financial assets at fair value through RZZ-_ZTF=ZA=1+—8  x&£EH
A RATELEM2EBREARZ
IS EE RN TAESERRARZ I
W& E 173,200,000 7T 1 56,700,000/
T BRAFEEEIIAT

other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of HK$173.2 million and HK$56.7 million respectively, details of which
were set out as follows:

24

Asat 31 March 2020 For the year ended 31 March 2020 Fair value/carrying amount
R=B-BFZA=1-A HZ-Z-E=P=t-HLEE AVE/REE
Percentage Bond Asat Asat
Amount to Group's Fair value interest Dividends 31 March 31March  Investment
held netassets gain/(loss) income received 2020 2019 costs
EREE i
EERE AFE &% ZB-hF
BEEH ARl WE/(B8) FEBA BUHRE =A=1+-A RERK
HKS'000 % HK$000 ( HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of Investments THT ) THL THL TAT ThL
Financial assets at fair value through A PESE M2 EKEE
other comprehensive income: NEZBHEE
A. Equity investments A RERE 51866 155 (35522) - 4371 51866 87388 73422
B. Debt investments B. BHRE
2019 CAP Bonds “E-NEPERERER - - 10864 4560 - - 686,877 -
Others Hh 121,354 362 (2729) 14718 - 121354 165,146 141846
Sub-total et 173220 517 (51950) 60,360 4371 173220 939411 215,268
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEREREAEZ
profit or loss: BIHEE
A. Rockpool Capital SPC A. Rockpool Capital SPC
(“Rockpool”) (TRockpool ) 48602 145 (9,898) - - 48602 - 58,500
B. Unlisted mutual funds B.ELHEEES 1780 005 (106) - - 1,780 1886 1614
C. Others CHft 6293 019 823 - - 693 - 5470
D. Listed perpetual notes D. L HXEEE - - 1278 1026 - - 19403 -
Sub-total et 56,675 169 (7.903) 1026 - 56,675 21,289 65,584
Total @it 229895 636 (59853) 61,386 4371 229895 960,700 280852
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(3)

Management Discussion and Analysis

The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

(@) Rockpool
Rockpool, an exempted company registered as a segregated portfolio
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with
limited liability.

(b) Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other listed equity
securities and listed bonds in Hong Kong, the fair value of each of
which represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as at
31 March 2020.

() Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other unlisted
funds and derivative financial instruments, the fair value of each of
which represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as at
31 March 2020.

Financial Review and Prospect of Significant Investments Held

(@) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
include listed equity securities and listed debt investments. The Group
has always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely
monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and
when necessary. The Group intended to hold these investments for
long term purpose aiming to generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the Group’s investments in listed
bonds and listed equity securities amounted to HK$121.4 million
(2019: HKS165.1 million) and HK$51.9 million (2019: HKS87.4 million),
respectively.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$52.0
million in the other comprehensive income for the year (2019: loss of
HKS$41.3 million).

(3)
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(4)

(5)

(6)
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(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2020, the Group maintained an investment portfolio
of unlisted funds and derivative financial instruments. The Group has
always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely
monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and
when necessary.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$7.9 million for the year
(2019: gain of HK$0.6 million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange
exposure in RMB. All bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB, matches the currency requirements of the Group's
operating expenses. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks
mainly arising from its operations in mainland China. The RMB
exposure of the Group is mainly derived from currency translation
risk arising from the net assets of our mainland subsidiaries. The
re-translation of these net assets denominated in RMB into HKD using the
exchange rate as of the reporting date resulted in a re-translation loss of
HKS$83.8 million (2019: loss of HK$13.3 million). The re-translation loss was
recognised in other comprehensive income/exchange reserve.

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for
business growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group
manages its financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk. The Group invests its surplus funds in listed debt investments to
maximise assets efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitment of HK$399.6 million
(2019: HKS2.5 million) in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and construction contracts, which were contracted for but not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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(7) Pledge of Assets
As at 31 March 2020, certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the
Group's property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties and
certain rental income generated therefrom, properties held for sale, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, with a total carrying
value of HK$2,498.5 million (2019: HK$1,241.0 million).

(8) Financial Guarantee
As at 31 March 2020, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HKS$63.5 million to customers in favour of certain banks for the loans provided
by the banks to the customers of the properties sold (2019: Nil).

Litigation

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product
Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural’) from independent
third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and

Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Tian Jiu") for their respective 70% and 20%
interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings in
mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in mainland China and
Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the CAP
Group:
Major allegations of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu included the following:

(@) itisalleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the
“Contended Agreements”) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition wherein
the related consideration was understated and the manner of settlement of
the consideration was inaccurately described;

(b) itis alleged that Baishazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation
for filing with the PRC Ministry of Commerce ("MOFCOM") and the Hubei
Administration For Industry and Commerce (the “Hubei AIC"), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreement involved forged signatures;
and

(0 itis alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou
Acquisition and processed the related filings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.
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In March 2020, CAP noted the judgment of the Supreme People’s Court dated 31
December 2019 (“31 December Judgment”). In the 31 December Judgment,
the Supreme People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
for retrial and for dismissal of (i) the judgment of the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court dated 31 March 2017 (“31 March Judgment”) (which dismissed
the application made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the decision issued by
MOFCOM that its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall
not be revoked and shall remain to be in force), and (i) the judgment of the Beijing
High People’s Court dated 20 December 2018 (which upheld the ruling of the
Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court in the 31 March Judgment).

In other words, in the opinion of the Directors and as advised by the PRC legal
adviser, the approval issued by MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended
Agreements shall not be revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the
PRC Laws.

This is consistent with the judgment issued by the Higher People’s Court of Hubei
Province in December 2019 which dismissed the counterclaims made by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu against CAP therein for orders that (i) the share transfer agreements in
relation to the acquisition of an aggregate 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural
from Ms. Wang as to 70% thereof and Tian Jiu as to 20% thereof (the “Contended
Interests”) were void and invalid from the beginning, (ii) costs of the legal
proceedings be paid to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and (jii) the Contended Interests be
returned to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
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In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as defendant:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First Instance (the
“Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the sales
and purchase agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”).

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the Court to effect that undertakings (the
“Undertakings’) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign,
transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment by presentation
of the Instruments until the final determination of the court action or further court
order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due for
payment by CAP on 5 December 2012. The parties are waiting for the Court to hand
down the judgement.

For details with regard to the civil proceedings which the CAP Group has been
involved in, please refer to the interim/annual reports and announcements issued
by the CAP Group.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group recognises our employees as the key element that contributes to the
Group's success. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 1,803 (2019: 685) employees, of
whom 29.5% (2019: 78.8%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest were located in
mainland China. The Group remunerated its employees based on industry practices
and individual performance and experience. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options would also be granted to selected staff by
reference to the Group'’s performance as well as the individual's performance. The
Group also provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) for our eligible employees in Hong Kong. Other benefits
such as medical and retirement benefits and structured training programs were

also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavours to provide a safe workplace to our
employees. The Board believes that the Group maintains admirable relations with
the employees.
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Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers, customers,
shareholders, investors and bankers (the “Stakeholder(s)") to achieve its long-term
business growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the competitiveness
of the brands of the Group, it endeavours to provide consistently high quality and
large range of products to its customers and to build up and maintain a trustworthy
and long-term relationship with its suppliers.

Principle Risks and Uncertainties

The Group has examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we consider that the major risks and
uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(M) industrial policy risk: (a) with the deepening of medical system reform and
the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect of medical
charge control and control of medicines and certification for TCM significant
effect may be brought to the future development of the pharmaceutical
industry; and (b) the development, construction, operations and acquisition

of agricultural produce exchange markets;

(i) low growth of customer base: due to the decrease in the number of mainland
tourists and Hong Kong economy recession this year, the potential of our
retail sales growth may face challenges;

(i) supply chain disruption: due to industrial issues, risks of supplier control and
flexibilities, to deal with competitive pricings;

(iv)  cost control: may not always be able to implement cost control measures
to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost and/or decrease in
income;
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(ix)

Management Discussion and Analysis

allowance for obsolete of inventory: allowance for obsolete of inventory due
to weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

environmental protection policies: environmental impact, efficiency and
security of key infrastructure;

inability to penetrate emerging markets: may not be able to effectively
penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into emerging
markets;

respond to customer behaviour: may not be able to respond effectively
to economy recession, consumers reduced consumption, reduction in
consumer spending and change of impulsive shopping behavior;

volatility in retail rental: continuously increases in retail shops’ rental may
reduce our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such increases
to our customers; and

foreign exchange: unfavourable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.

In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and mainland China, and
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would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust strategies
in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment. In particular,
the Group will strengthen the marketing management to cope with changes in
consumer behaviour and needs, closely control inventories, establish our own
sales policies and product development, safety management and environmental

R - ARBEESERRTE
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protection level, and push forward the construction of lean management and risk
control system. For possible risks, the Company would actively propose solutions to
lower their impacts on the business of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Prospects

The continuous social unrest in Hong Kong and outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic
across continents and the Sino-US trade war have created unprecedented risks
and challenges to both the PRC and Hong Kong's economy. The retail and trading
environment in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau will become very challenging as
full of uncertainties are expected during this critical moment. Looking forward, we
anticipate that slower or even negative economic growth, as reduced mainland
inbound tourists to Hong Kong and rigid industry policies continue to negatively
impact our retail performance, in particular in the individual visit zone of Hong
Kong. We consider that retail sales in those areas will likely remain in the doldrums
in the near term, while we do believe that the impact of these events on local
consumption to be less severe. Facing this challenging environment, we will
closely monitor the performance of our distribution channels and retail network
in order to maintain competitive advantage through restructuring and integration
of retail outlets together with developing and managing a team of experienced
and well-trained Chinese doctors to serve our customers. We wish to become the
largest Chinese doctor team in Hong Kong. Besides, we will make good use of our
recognised brand to promote more business partners to join us as franchisees so as
to maintain our strong retail presence in the market as well as lowering our overall
operational risk and costs.

In addition, the Group will accelerate the development of its TCM products in
mainland China and Macau which can diversify the risk of market uncertainty and
explore on the aged group market, in particular the silver hair group, in Hong Kong.
The national policy for Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, as a key
development area, provides a bright prospect for TCM development. With the
reputation “Wai Yuen Tong" brand established in Hong Kong and overseas over the
past centuries, and given that its production factory was granted the certificate of
GMP for Proprietary Chinese Medicine of Hong Kong and the standard certificate of
the PIC/S by the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia, in the future when
product regulation and market sale of Proprietary Chinese Medicine in the Greater
Bay Area integrate, the Group will realise its great potential.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In Macau, the Group will expand its retail market through opening more retail
outlets in the coming years. We will also enhance the distribution channel
by partnering with distributors and casino operators, etc, which will focus on
distributing our TCM products to the key accounts in Macau.

Regarding our Western pharmaceutical business, we expect a favourable growth
in the sale of cough syrup to the private clinic market in Hong Kong and to the PRC
through other distributors.

The Group will continuously expand cooperation with scientific research institutes
and, based on TCM formulas and taking quality control measures as “Made in Hong
Kong"” products, promote scientific development in terms of regulation of Chinese
Medicine. We will continue to enhance our distribution network by penetrating
into more local communities and diversify our product range to meet the needs of
customers.

During early 2020, CAP has experienced challenges posed by COVID-19. In view of
this, most of our agricultural produce exchange markets implemented health and
hygiene measures to ensure the safety of all its employees, tenants and visitors. The
epidemic has caused adverse impact to the performance of our markets, especially
in Hubei Province, the PRC. However, as COVID-19 began to be under control, the
performance of our markets has been returned to normal.

Agricultural development is the PRC central government's first priority policy for the

next consecutive five years. The PRC government promises to promote investments
in agricultural produce markets, expand agricultural produce network, build logistic
infrastructure and storage facilities of agricultural products and improve regional
cold storage infrastructure. We believe we could make use of the support from the
PRC government to sustain the long term growth with the aim to delivering long
term benefits to the shareholders of the Company.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

HEGERREHE

¢ ¢ The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance of the Group
and its primary functions cover, among other things,
the formulation of overall strategy.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 585, Jr, aged 58, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director with
effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a member
of the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the executive
committee of the Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, policy
making and business development of the Group. He has extensive experience
in corporate management. He is also the chairman of Wang On. Mr. Tang is the
committee member of the 12th and 13th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) and is also appointed as
a standing committee member and convener of the 10th to the 12th plenary
sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee. Mr. Tang
is also appointed as the first executive chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong
Kong Shenzhen Association. He is the brother of Ms. Tang Mui Fun and the father of
Ms. Tang Wai Man, both are executive Directors.

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, aged 56, was appointed as the Managing Director
in August 2001 and was re-designed as an executive Director with effect from 1
April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a member of the executive
committee of the Company. He is responsible for managing the corporate matters
of the Group. He is also the managing director of Wang On, the non-executive
chairman of Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP”) (stock code: 1243), the chairman
and managing director of Easy One, the chairman and chief executive officer of CAP,
all companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a degree in Accountancy and is
a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

R AR P

Ms. Tang Mui Fun, aged 49, joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the
executive Director in September 2007. Ms. Tang is a member of the executive
committee of the Company. She is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and development and policy making for the core business of the Group. Ms.
Tang has extensive experience in pharmaceutical industry and has been re-
appointed as a member of each of the Pharmacy and Poisons (Listed Sellers of
Poisons) Committee and the Committee on Research and Development of Chinese
Medicines on an ad personam basis, she is also elected as a member of each of
Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong, Chinese Medicines Board and Chinese
Medicines Committee. She graduated from the University of Hull (England) with a
Bachelor degree in accounting. Prior to joining the Group, she had over two years
of experience in the accounting and auditing fields and five years of experience
in general management. She is a sister of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 29, joined the Group in January 2016 and was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is also a member of the executive
committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. Ms. Tang is responsible for sales and marketing, channel sales and retail
operation in Hong Kong and Macau of the Group. She graduated from University
of Edinburgh, UK with a Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to
joining the Group, she has worked for Wang On since July 2014 as an assistant to
Wang On's chairman and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing
and business development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and
the United Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director and the substantial and controlling shareholder (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company and a niece of Ms. Tang Mui Fun, an executive
Director.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, vH, aged 70, was re-designated as an Independent Non-
executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he joined the
Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He has more than
55 years and 24 years of experiences in the watch industry and financial industry
respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th plenary session of the National
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Greater Bay Area Committee (also being
a Standing Committee Member) of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
a Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong,
the Honorary President of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in China —
Guangdong and the Chartered President of the Dongguan City Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Leung is also appointed as a candidate of
2016 Election Committee of HKSAR Chief Executive, Subsector — CPPCC.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 46, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Hong
Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a
China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas of practice include corporate finance,
capital markets, securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-executive director of each
of Brilliant Circle Holdings International Limited (stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), all
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Siu was appointed
as the independent non-executive director of Weiye Holdings Limited (stock code:
1570) with effect from March 2016 and resigned from the position in December
2018.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

R AR P

Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 79, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was formerly a director and deputy general
manager of Hua Chiao Commercial Bank Limited and a deputy general manager
of The China State Bank Limited. He was a committee member of the 8th Political
Consultative Conference Guangxi and is also a committee member of the 4th
plenary session of the Guangxi Yulin Committee of the CPPCC, Life Chairman of
Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin Friendship Association, the Life chairman and the advisor
of Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin City CPPCC Association and Life Chairman of Gee Tuck
General Association Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 65, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit committee of
the Company. Mr. Li is currently the senior advisor of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
U.K, Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the
audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited (stock
code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the audit committee, member of the nomination committee and member of the
remuneration committee of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1123), Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120)
and Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive
director, member of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee
and the chairman of the remuneration committee of China Merchants Port Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 144), an independent non-executive director,
member of the audit committee and member of the remuneration committee of
AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited (stock code: 232), and an independent non-
executive director, chairman of the remuneration committee of CR Construction
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1582), all of such companies are being listed in
Hong Kong.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. Chan Kin Man is currently an Associate Director, Traditional Chinese Medicine
Strategic Development of WYT Medicine Group. He is responsible for overall
strategic planning on product marketing field and new product development.
Prior to the joining the Group in 2004, he has more than 8 years of experience in 4A
advertising agency Leo Burnett and DY&R. Mr. Chan graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Chinese Medicine (BChinMed), and obtained
a MBA at the University of Wales, Aberystwyth (UK). He is a Registered Chinese
Medicine Practitioner under the Chinese Medicine Practitioners Board of the
Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Shiu Cheong, Sammy joined the Group in April 2018, as the Sales &
Marketing Director for Western Medicine of the Group. Sammy is responsible for
overall strategy for Western Medicine including marketing, sales and new product
planning. He is also one of the key persons to define the long term strategy and
direction for Western Medicine business of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he
has over 20 years of experience in multinational companies. Most of his experience
was with Eli Lilly Asia, Inc. with various positions including sales, marketing
management, business development and also as senior management for more
than 15 years. He also has extensive pharmaceutical marketing & sales experience
in both Hong Kong and China with proven track records. Mr. Tang holds Bachelor
degree of Science and BBA in Management from universities in Hong Kong.

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the WYT Medicine Group and the Luxembourg
Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for technical
operations of the Group including quality assurance, quality control, production,
research and development, engineering and logistic issues. Dr. Tsang received
his BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University and the PhD degree at the
University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a registered Authorized
Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong. He has more than 20
years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Academically, Dr. Tsang is
currently the Honorary Associate Professor of the Department of Pharmacology and
Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, the University of Hong Kong and the
Adjunct Associate Professor, College of Life Sciences and Technology, the School of
Professional and Continuing Education, the University of Hong Kong. He is also the
Managing Editor of the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.
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Environmental, Social and
Governance Report
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¢ & We are committed to gradually integrating principles of
sustainable development into our daily operations,
shouldering our corporate social responsibility
while improving the Group’s operational efficiency and competitiveness.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

About the Report

The fourth “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “Report’) issued
by the Company aims to fulfil the Group’s commitments and allow stakeholders to
better understand the Group's development direction by continuing to report on
the Group's latest policies, measures and performance in environment, social and
governance aspects. The Report has been prepared in both Chinese and English
versions and will be uploaded to the website of HKEX news (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s website (www.wyth.net).

Reporting Year and Scope

As CAP (stock code: 0149) is listed separately and will issue an ESG Report, the
Report focuses on the main measures and performance of Group's two core
businesses, operating income of which accounted for 91.4% of the Group's total
revenue, on environmental, social, and governance aspects during the financial year
from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (the "Year”). The Report currently covers the
Group's headquarters office and the Yuen Long Factory in Hong Kong, as well as
the office in Shenzhen (collectively referred to as “Operating Sites”), and does not
include the Wai Yuen Tong retail shops. As the factories and dormitory buildings
now located in mainland China are managed by production contractors, they are
not included in the scope of the Report.

Production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and

health food products
EERFHETERRBRMEMES

B A E KB REHR

IR A e

RARERNENDIRR g REGRE]
([X$gE])  SEEEEBERFTEENIR
BodekERFTEORFTBR « EiE&K
o AEBRANEENEET RS NET T H#
REEMERTW o AREUR - BUFES -
W E _E#EHFE 5 AU (www.hkexnews.hk) &
AR RIS (www.wyth.net) B [ 128 & B & |
— 1 °

BEFEREGE

AR B R E R (R RSE - 0149) B £
W BTEMRE  HERERRE) K
BEREAREARN - NFOA—HE-Z
—REZA=+—RZBBRFEE(FRDOT
FIMAROEBERS e RERTHEHNT
SREMEY  AREERE G A LB A S
914% - AIE A AIEEAEBUNEBNR
BROEFTHAME  ARMARY BB AE
(BB BEER])  TTREELTETER
o BRI B A B S Kk e S KR
MAENMIEER - MIMARREHE -

Production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and
health food products
LERHEAERRBRMEMRES

Operated by WYT Medicine Company Limited
M TEERABRAREE

Holds the widely-known century-old Chinese
medicine brand “Wai Yuen Tong”
FAEREPEMITE |2 BFPEmE

The Group's revenue from Property Investments and the investments in Easy One
(stock code: 221)" and CAP (stock Code: 149)! accounted for less than 10% of the
Group's total revenue, and therefore are not included in the scope of the Report.
The Group will review the scope of the Report on a regular basis in accordance with
the reporting principle of materiality to ensure that investors and other stakeholders
are provided with more comprehensive information.

! Easy One is an associate of the Group and principally engaged in the businesses of property
development in mainland China and provision of finance and securities brokerage services in Hong
Kong. CAP is a subsidiary of the Group and principally engaged in the businesses of management
and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China. Such
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and will independently publish the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Operated by Luxembourg Medicine Group
HEREAEEEEEE

Holds the renowned Western medicine health brands
“Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”
FAZERNIIERA IRIIK I EERE DS

AEENMERERNSZHE(BHRF
221)' R Bl R Em (B RS - 149) MR E
Was b A S BRI E TR 10% @ BURARR
SHE - AREEEHUEENLRRAIBRR
SEHE WRAREEREMBNEREER
EEME

! 2HERFTEBMNBERNT  TERTER
W EDEBREG RN EBREBE RE
FEERS - PRRERAAEENNEA
A XBERFEABKERERRSTEY
EXEERMHE - ZERRRBIAEIRED
Wi EI HHCRE - HERERRE) ©
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Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with the “comply or explain” provisions in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) under NER
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. The four reporting principles set forth therein
underpin the preparation of the Report. In addition to compliance with the “comply
or explain” requirements, the Report also discloses selected social KPIs under the
"recommended disclosures” in the Guide. A complete content index is inserted in

the last chapter of the Report for readers’ reference to the Guide.

Reporting principles

BE 3R R A

Definitions

Bx

%R
REEm EmRAMSE -+ ECGRE g
AIEESD([#85] )R BRI TEsT e
B SR TE - I LA H S 51 PO TR EE #R R A
TERBBIMENER - EUTHB TETH
R IRE 2 £ RS TERIBHGES DT
[EHE W EERERIER - ARERIK
—EBMATERS| - LEEERGESDHEE
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=

8]
N
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Application of the Group
AEBHIER

Materiality

B2

Quantitative

g1t

42

The report should disclose the significant
impacts of the organization on the environment
and society, or aspects substantively influence
the stakeholders' assessments of the organisation
and their decision-making.

BEREREBERELHENERZE  RB
AL EROEFERERMELRRNER -

The report should disclose KPIs in quantitative
terms. Comparable data should be provided
where appropriate.

WERAR FRIEO T ARBERRERER - I
FEEE BT REL SRR -

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

Taking into account the nature of the Group'’s
business and the way it operates, the Board has
determined six material issues and made primary
disclosure thereon in the Report. For details about
the evaluation process, please refer to the section
headed “STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT".
ZERIAEENEBMEREERN  BEFET
NEBZREE  WHRRERETERESR - 8T
HRRFE2HFHHEEBIEE -

Wherever possible, the Group would record,
calculate and disclose quantitative information.
In addition, the Group has commissioned an
external consulting company to conduct carbon
assessment in accordance with domestic and
international standards such as Guidelines for
Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas
Emissions — Food, Tobacco, Alcohol, Beverage
and Purified Tea Manufacturing Enterprises in
China (Trial), Guidelines to Account for and Report
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for
Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional
Purposes) in Hong Kong, and ISO14064-1. For
details, please refer to the section headed
"SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS".

EATERAT » REBELE  AERERREELE
oo dbAN - AR EZFEINBEER A RIETTHRET S -
AR ER G - BE BRI RAR
RERBHZE R ZRBERE(FET))  (BF
EEY(EE - AEXREAR)NBRERETE A
BREVZEMBEHES]) - BAKRISO14064-1%5 B 1 B
BARAEETT - SIS A2 M RENUEREE 158 -
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Reporting principles Definitions

BE #R R R Bx

BREL - A KRR

Application of the Group
AEERER

Balance The organisation should prepare the report
in an unbiased manner, to ensure it gives a
clear picture of positive and negative impacts,
enabling stakeholders to reasonably evaluate the
overall performance of the organisation.

R S FE LA MR NME R REE R RS - IRBMT R
MEFTERBETZE  EFHDE RSB AHE
TEREERSER -

Consistency Consistent methodologies should be adopted

for disclosure in the Report to help stakeholders
analyse and evaluate the historical and
current performance of the organisation. The
organisation should explain changes in any
methods.

— it RERERRA —BOWBERT A - ABFEHD
EOM R AREBERBROER - #ERER
FEARI 75 00 S T A A o

Confirmation and Approval

Information contained herein is sourced from the official documents and statistical
data of the Group. The Report had been confirmed and approved by the Board on
30 June 2020.

Opinion and Feedback

Stakeholders’ opinions help the Group develop a more detailed and comprehensive
sustainability strategy in the future. Comments or recommendations of stakeholders
in respect of the Group'’s environmental, social and governance performance are
greatly valued by the Group. If you have any questions or suggestions regarding the
contents or reporting format of the Report, please contact the Company by email
(pr@waiyuentong.com).

The Group not only describes the measures
and performance in environmental, social and
governance aspects in the Report, but also states
the challenges it faces and the solutions thereto.

REFBMERARERMERE - HERERTE
BB ANAE AR - TR S BBk R R T &

Unless otherwise stated, the Group adopts the
same methods as the previous year for data
collection. For details, please refer to the section
headed "SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS".

BRRFRIGEARSN - AKERBE FFE -BTER
SHEUR - HEE2H BRERERAE 12

BRRAE
REESIBHMAERIRE R EBNEAX
HRBFEE - AREER T -_TF XA
=T RAREESWRLALE

BERRE
BHOENERBMASBERARET E AN
HEMAFERREER - AERBDSEHE
HAEENIRE - 8 REEFTENKRRIEH
FRERSKEH -0 EATHARSHAD
HERFA A EMRERER BB BER
(pr@waiyuentong.com) B A A FIHEAE

RS EEBRERA
iiiem 43



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R - AL E XA IRERT

SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW CIES 3R 973 0 G
Environmental :-%: 1
Emissions BB
Total carbon emissions TpEmaa S
3,830.9 tonnes CO,e 3,830 9 —E LR E E
Total waste generation EEEYREE
653.8 tonnes 653.8AM8
Resources iR
Total energy consumption BEREFEEE
8,134.1 MWh 8,134 1K i
Total water consumption FKkEE
37,577 m? 37,5773 5 K
Total packaging material consumption BEMEEREES
396.9 tonnes 396,92

Electric vehicles have been introduced into the company fleet NEIEKS|IABBE B ERTEEERERRIRBEN
to reduce exhaust gas and carbon emissions generated by
traditional vehicles

The Yuen Long Factory is equipped with grey water treatment TURARRES SRR/ B IR RR MR R AR R OK - S IKEIRF A%
facilities to recycle wastewater and enhance utilisation of water

resource
Social e
Employee BT
Number of employees REEH
507 (Hong Kong) 507(&#)
125 (Mainland China) 125(R B RHh)
Female to male ratio 2z B
1:0.56 1:0.56
Customer B
The Yuen Long Factory holds a number of quality certifications:  JTEABEIEE ZHMERE ¢
GMP (issued by Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong) GMP(HEBHEHEEEZSSHE)
PIC/S (issued by the Therapeutic Goods Administration of PIC/S(HBRM B2 E 12 B R E)
Australia)
ISO 22000 Food Safety Management System ISO 22000 R B2 BILHER
HACCP Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points HACCPfE = 2 47 A RA G 122 Il B
Community HE
Donation B®
HK$ 1,798,000 1,798,000/ 7T
Donations B
During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations A » &2 252 Kk H 1854 £491,800,0008 (= E—
totaling approximately HK$ 1.8 million (2019: approximately F ¢ #9500,000/7T) °
HK$0.5 million).
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance practices can effectively lead the Group in establishing
and realising long-term strategies and objectives. The Board is committed to
upholding high standards of corporate governance by maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems in daily operations
and gradually establishing a sustainability governance system to constantly
enhance sustainable development performance and seize and respond to related
opportunities and risks.

Management Approach

During the Year, the Group reviewed the existing policies and measures and
formulated the Environmental, Social and Governance Policy. The policy sets
out the Group's management policies in the areas of environmental protection,
employment management, operational responsibility and community investment
to provide a unified framework for business departments when formulating and
refining work guidelines and specific measures applicable to actual operations, so as
to jointly integrate sustainable development into daily management.

5~ abd AR

A A R A

RFMEEEAEREANEEAZE R
BERRERBMAR - EFGRARFIKRF
MEEER  ERAEEET RIS EMARN
RRBREIE R NAREE F AT - WE SR A FSE
BREARER  ARASERRRE LR
FMRELTHRRAM B LR o
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Area Management policy
Lol B

Environmental protection ~ The Group complies with all applicable laws and regulations and industry norms, adheres to the
philosophy of “green development and operation”, and strives to improve the environmental
performance of the Group through measures such as increasing the efficiency of resource use, in order
to ensure the harmonious development of corporate operations and the ecological environment.

RIRRE REEEBEFREEBNERERMTERS  BRIGEERLRESEINED  BUIBBIEINEREAREX
ZiiE  ReAEENRERE - BROXEERFRBRENEER

Employment management  The Group attaches great importance to the comprehensive development of employees and strives to
create a happy, secure, diverse and safe working environment that enables employees to fully realize
their self-worth. In addition, the Group pays attention to the development and cultivation of talents,
providing comprehensive training and development plans and building a competitive employment
and training system that protects the rights and interests of employees. Meanwhile, the Group strictly
prohibits employment of child labour or forced labour in corporate operations or by its business
partners.

BEER FEBBEETIN2EEE  BWHITEFE 20 FER2NIERE  REIAHDEREHE
B bt REBBIASWRBEEES  EHESEIMERAE - BBARFHNEREETRENM
FNEIRR - AN - AEEBRECREEIEFERNY  EREISRAST -

Operational responsibility ~ The Group ensures that suppliers comply with the Group’s requirements on quality, environment and
safety by working closely with them. To provide customers with high-quality and safe products and
services, the Group has formulated and continuously reviewed the quality management system and
guidelines. The Group also strives to protect the privacy of customer data and maintain communication
with external stakeholders using accurate information. To prevent corruption and violations of
professional ethics, the Group requires employees to abide by relevant laws and regulations and
establishes channels for reporting corruption cases, practicing responsible business operations.

HERME REEBRBEFERHERSE  BREAGTAEENESE BENL2ETEMNER - SREFRAEE
ZEEMIRY - AEEGIELFERTEEETIRERRES - XAEETRNREEZERILE - WA
EREAMMINF D ERFER - HEPEETMERBEEENTA  FNEEERETETEMERE
o WRBYESERBHREE  BTARENRESER -

Community investment The Group strives to understand the needs of the communities where it operates, support work
relating to civil infrastructure, health and public welfare poverty alleviation, and bring positive impact
to the community through its own expertise and cooperation with other organizations.

HRgE REEBNEAE SFENFMEELMREAE - TREEMDIOOLES R - TRREEE - @FEAA
R BERAIIE - RtEHREATE

To improve sustainability governance, the Group will set up an environmental, RIBFAFREERE KT  AEEBEXT
social and governance working group that reports to the Board and is responsible —EREESERNIRE L REBIEN
for formulating long-term sustainable development strategies, policies and B BEFIREAFEERERE - BORMNE
measures and reviewing the progress and performance of related work. B+ VAR AR AR IR VRV E[E RIAE AN -
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the current risk management and
internal control system of the Group is appropriate and effective, evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and formulating procedures to address significant risks.
The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that are
significant to the Group on an on-going basis; and the management of the Group
is responsible for designing, maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control system to ensure adequate measures are in place
to protect the interests of the Group and stakeholders. In addition, the Group also
engages an external consulting company to review the effectiveness and efficiency
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems. During the Year,
the external consultants did not identify any significant defects and shortcomings
in the internal control system. Relevant conclusions and recommendations have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board. For details of the risk
management and internal control systems, please refer to page 92 of this annual
report.

The Group has taken the following four steps to further reduce the impacts of
various risks on the Group's operations.

Risk assessment
BB AL

Risk identification

. Bk EREE

Risk management

B - Al ARG

EREERABEEE
B9 A RRRAKERITHRRERE AL
EERSABEABN  TAHHREEERAS
B B EREE AN RRIEE REE - U
RHERFREEARAR BREEFHER
B AREEE AR R EHE kAP
MAKEERER G BRE  #5  FBERE
RREREERNIEERS - WREELRE
BEAMERE AR SR B S a5 0 B MR o UbHh - AR
EREREISERARAREEAEERRERER
WERELIE RN K « 1A HMEPEER
BT 38 Bl ) P D B A 6 2 A7 A (R B KR B
KREs - AR RERERERZEERE
=ZEEH - FHAREERABEERGNF
& BRHAFHRF2A -

AEECTBBATOESR  E—ZRDTE
REREAEEEBNTE -

Regular review

EHER

The management would
identify the risks associate
with the businesses of the
Group by considering both
internal and external factors
and events which include
political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff.
BEEFBERBS  LF B
BBIE HegkBIZENER
HME [ 22 M =14 28k Bl B A £ ]
S EREE R o

All risks identified will be
assessed and prioritised based
on the extent of the impact
and occurrence opportunity.

BB ERBIRRELZE
%if&%éi‘f“'lﬁ}ﬁﬂaﬂﬁ&
B -

G

Based on risk assessment
results, the Group has
established various risk
management strategies
such as risk retention and
reduction, risk avoidance, risk
sharing and diversification,
and risk transfer.
REBEDREBERB T HER
EYTERRERRE - R
RIRE KRR - EfpEe - &
WA YE R D BRI E R o

7T

The Board regularly reviews
risk management and
internal control systems and
procedures (covering all
important controls including
finance, operations and
compliance) each year.

ExeEFrHRMRRER
&W*Bﬁb&% MR R E

B EERAREMBER
B o
BEREEERBRR
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During the Year, the environmental, social and governance risks identified by the FR - AEEBAILORE  HgREBRR
Group and related management strategies are as follows. MEMERERAOT -

Main risks Risk description Management strategy

TERR g P EEER

Industry policy risk With the deepening of medical system reform  To ensure that the product quality meets the
and the issuance of a number of industrial ~ requirements of various parties, the Yuen Long
policies and laws in respect of medical  Factory of the Group has obtained a number of
charge control, control of medicines and  relevant certifications, including Hong Kong's
certification for Traditional Chinese Medicine, ~ Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practice
significant effect may be brought to the future ~ ("GMP") for Proprietary Chinese Medicine, 1SO
development of the pharmaceutical industry 22000:2005 Food Safety Management System

certification, and “Pharmaceutical Inspection
Co-operation Scheme”("PIC/S") standard of
Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia.
In addition, the Group has established internal
quality and production management rules
in accordance with various pharmaceutical
standards.

TEBER AR BEBRAGUERRZESLEREERAE RAEREMEENAZHENR  AEETHE B
H - BERGSILREGTPERBSZITAITERE  AICESZHEERRE  BEREB(TRELES
KERzEA  ARSUBETEARSEREE EETEMAH)GMPI)RE « 1SO 2200020058 &
NERE 2B IR RRE A SRIM B B 12 B[ BRR 58 %

mIEEHAEL I (TPIC/S )R o EHh - KEER
BARRERERT TAMBmE L EEERRE

Environmental protection Environmental impact, efficiency and security ~ In order to further standardize the Group's
policy of key infrastructure environmental management strategy, the
Group has formulated the Environmental, Social
and Governance Policy during the Year to
specify the Group's policies in different areas of
environmental protection in a bid to minimize

the impact of its operations on the environment.
IRIRILER FTEEMRMIIRFEE WEREKR RE—THREREBRIRBERRR  AEEER
FRFIFTORR - G RERBR)  ARAEER

RIERETREEMNTH - RS 2EHIREN

B2 988
&

With the development of society and the advancement of science and technology, BEASERMBEES  SEHEREIGE
risks related to the environment and society are constantly changing. Going BRI R IR T L - REARK - AEEG
forward, the Group will gradually incorporate more sustainability elements into the ZHENEBRERZFTIRARTZUHELER
risk management system to promptly update the Group's risks in this regard and = ERE I ASEEEZ A ERNRE EHIET
formulate mitigating plans. JEH T ER °
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Compliance Performance

The Group understands the importance of complying with the relevant laws and
regulations in the place of operation for the operation of the Group. Violation of
the laws and regulations may expose the Group to regulatory and litigation risks
and affect the Group's reputation, finance and business operations. As such, the
Group has formulated and continuously reviewed existing management policies,
standards and practices to ensure that the Group's operations comply with legal
and regulatory requirements.

The businesses of the Group are subject to various regulations, including but not
limited to the following main applicable laws and regulations. During the Year, the
Group did not find any cases of violation of the following laws and regulations,
nor did it find any cases of corruption related to the Group and its employees. The
Group will continue to review the impact of various laws and regulations on the
Group, and formulate or update corresponding management policies.

Main applicable laws and regulations

B - Al ARG

BRRR
AEBRAQETEEMEBERERERER
AEBBENEENL  BERER®ESR - AT
EEMEREE MR R AKERE - B
REBLEERTE - Rt - AEED SRR
FERNRAEERE - ERME - BEL
SEZ2ENAERREREL -

FEBEBIITENEE - @FETRRT
FIZBMERERER - FA - AEEWHH N
TIPEEEAR AR ERERESR - TFEHR
EMEASERE THENESHRLES - A
SEBHEFTEIRERRDERAAEENF
B WHFTHE AR E IR -

ERMRBEEER

Emissions

e

Air Pollution Control Ordinance
CZERFRE HHEHE)

Water Pollution Control Ordinance
KB RE HIHEB)

Waste Disposal Ordinance
CREEMER B 5HI)

Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China

(REARKAMBRFREE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution

(hEE ARKMBIRFSRAED

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution

(rrEE AR B K52077805)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution

(hEARKMBERBEYSRVIGE)

CREEERRARAT)
T Zgszarg 49
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Main applicable laws and regulations

FERBEEER
Employment and labour Employment Ordinance
standards (IR
{EfE K 8 T AR Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(R BHEEIRE)

Sex Discrimination Ordinance

MBI AR 16191 )

Disability Discrimination Ordinance

AR BAR 611D

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance

R BE R RLIBEAR B

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
CEAE R (FLER) 151

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKMBELEE)

Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FREARATBSEERE)

Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FREE AR AFBIM SREE)

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARLAMBELEE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of Minors
(PEARKMBARKEAREE)

Health and safety Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance
REEZE (IR TREEEDD

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

CBEZE RERED)D

Dangerous Goods Ordinance

(el R

Fire Safety Ordinance

CEBZ 2 1651)

Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARAMBE R 2EEER)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
(hZE AR FMBE R AE)

Regulation on Work Related Injury Insurances of the People’s Republic of China
HEE A R MBI TSR B IEB1)
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Main applicable laws and regulations

EEMRBEEER

Product responsibility Chinese Medicine Ordinance
EmEE (B EEDD
Registration regulations of proprietary Chinese medicines
AR EAR
Food Adulteration (Metallic Contamination) Regulations, Pesticide Residues in Food Regulation, and
Food Safety Ordinance of the Centre for Food Safety
BVZ2FIKRYERE(SBRES2)A0)  CRYARMREBEESRE DD KB Z 2EH)
Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(P BRI
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
CEABEFHRLER) 51
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hEARAMBEESE)
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
(rzE AR HMBEREITE)

Anti-corruption Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

R&ES By - BB R 151 )
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
GTERBRRM Y FTESEEEN)
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
Rz ARSRBEIINE)
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PE ARLMBEROEEER)
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARAMBERPEEFHFIL)
Tendering and Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China
(EE AR HMBEBIZRIEE)

T BT AR A 51
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT it % i
The Group maintains constant communication with stakeholders to understand REFBFNERFEDER - LT RRMMIY
their expectations of the Group on environmental, social and governance issues. REERIRE g REREBELNEE - K

The stakeholders of the Group include groups and individuals who have significant SENBNEREERESEEATE  Sg
impact on or will be affected by the Group’s business, including employees and REBEBTENFHRBNEA - BEEIRE
employee organisations, shareholders and investors, suppliers and business T/ RERKRES - HERREBBHE
partners, customers, regulators, and the community. During the Year, the Group R EEREREES - FA - NEEER
maintained open communication with stakeholders through various channels to SRERERFOERFFAREE - LT 8EHD
understand their opinions and suggestions, thereby helping the Group formulate ENERERES  WUMEDAEESIEFTERT
more comprehensive management policies and measures. EMEE PR R o

Means of communication with key stakeholders during the Year

FRAEEFHENBRLR

Employees Understand the opinions and suggestions of employees on the Group through establishing employee
complaint mechanisms.

8T BEVETHFHEE - THRNEESTE R EEER -

Customers Ensure that customer opinions are promptly handled through establishing a customer complaint
mechanism.

BE BRBETRRES  BRBTERAIAGE LRI o

Suppliers and business Communicate with suppliers and business partners on a regular basis to evaluate their cooperation

partners performance.

HIEmE REBBH TEHAERML PE R M ISR A TE R - AT RS IERTR

Communities Care for the society and promote common development of the enterprise and the community
through various community and volunteer activities.

Pl FRTAMREEELES  BEdE  RECFETENLREER -

i

e

*I. =I
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Materiality Assessment

In response to the Stock Exchange’s emphasis on the application of reporting
principles such as materiality and the accountability of the board of directors in
the proposed amendments to the Guide, the Group commissioned an external
consultant during the Year to conduct a Board questionnaire survey to assess the
materiality of the 12 aspects set out in the Guide. Based on the analysis results and
the confirmation of the Board, the Group has determined the following six issues to
be material issues for the Group and made primary disclosure thereon in the Report.

5~ abd AR

BB
BEER G RRE T SR EE
HEEREAGEAAREESOMNE - K
BN NIRRT EF RSN
GRS R A DB A BB -
REANERRESERA - REBBEUT
NEATEBNEERE - YRARRE (SR
B -

Material topic Corresponding section
EERE HEZH

Use of resources Environmental protection
EIREA RIERE

Employment

(= People-orientation
Health and safety AR

BENZE

Supply chain management

HrEEER

Product responsibility Operational responsibility
EmEfE EEEME
Anti-corruption

REA

Compared with the previous year, use of resources, employment, supply chain
management and anti-corruption are newly added material topics for the Year. In
the future, the Group will consider adopting different methods to communicate
with stakeholders to better understand the expectations of internal and external
stakeholders.

1 EEEAL - BREA - ER fEEER
RRESREFEHMEHEEZRE - A2k K
SEBEBRABTIRARETHOEBR - A
ERATBRABMMINIFNENRLE -
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PEOPLE-ORIENTATION

The Group believes that a sound employment environment is one of the important
elements for the long-term development of the Group. The Group is committed to
creating a safe working environment for employees, protecting the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, and establishing a sound career development system
so that all employees are respected and motivated.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees have always been the concern of the Group.
The Group endeavours to reduce the occupational safety hazards encountered by
employees at work by establishing a safety management structure, formulating
safety policies and guidelines, and conducting risk assessment and management.

Safety Management Structure

The Group has established a safety committee chaired by the senior factory
manager with the manager of the production department as the vice chairman.
Other members include the relevant persons in charge of the human resources
department, administration department, engineering department, production
department, quality control department, quality assurance department, logistics
and warehouse department and processing department. The committee is
responsible for overseeing occupational health and safety systems and measures
and must hold at least one meeting every three months to review relevant matters.

Safety Policies and Guidelines

The Group sets out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Policy and the
Staff Handbook the management system and measures relating to the health and
safety of general employees, such as providing employees with adequate protective
supplies and equipment and safety training, and formulating contingency plans
for safety accidents as well as accident notification and handling mechanism to
reduce the occurrence and impact of accidents. For production and operation, the
Group has also formulated the Safety Management Procedures, which set out the
production safety system and operating procedures to provide employees with
various operating guidelines:

Main procedure

ETERF 55| R i

Noise management

Guidelines and measures
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Implement noise control in the working environment

Provide employees with hearing protection gears, and appropriate rotation
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based on the actual condition
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Main procedure

Guidelines and measures

B - Al ARG

Operators must keep the equipment in good working condition. Any faults

EERBAEMSEERR LR

Wearing safety gloves is required when removing, cleaning and installing

BREZEFE

Auxiliary tools (such as telehandlers, lifts or elevators) must be used for aerial
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Mechanical operation

AR IRIE found must be promptly reported
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sharp parts
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Aerial works

mETIE works
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At least two employees must be present to assist whenever aerial works are

performed
LT

Handling of chemicals
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Risk Assessment and Management

In order to identify workplace safety hazards at an early stage, the Group conducts
risk assessments on a regular basis and proposes prevention and improvement
measures for related risks. During the production process, employees may face the
risk of exposure to hazardous chemicals. To mitigate related risks, the Group has
taken various measures, such as avoiding the use of dangerous goods and reducing
the production of dangerous goods. When purchasing materials, the Group
also requires suppliers to provide Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) and other
information for safety representatives of the Group to analyse the health hazards of
the materials.

Safety Education

Safety education for employees is one of the important means to enrich employees’
safety knowledge at their disposal. The Group regularly offers induction and regular
safety training aligned with the characteristics of the employees’ positions, such
as safety policy training, safe operational procedure training, first aid training,
forklift courses, boiler safety, training on occupational safety and health supervisor
certification courses, as well as health ambassador training. In addition, the Group
regularly issues information on occupational health and safety related matters
and disseminates knowledge to employees through various channels, such as
announcements, posters, safety seminars and safety meetings.

BZETER - BARKEZELMEE THESHE)

When chemical materials are handled, their chemical characteristics must be
identified, and gloves, protective clothing or other equipment must be worn
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Apart from ensuring employees’ physical health, the Group also attaches
importance to their mental health. During the Year, the Group arranged employees
to participate in psychological counselling courses to help relieve their emotion and
stress.

Health Ambassador Training - Emotion and Stress Management

To help employees alleviate and properly handle pressure from work, the Group
invited lecturers to offer psychological counselling courses to employees,
comprising four parts: “The definition of health”, "Understanding emotion and
stress”, “The impact of stress on us” and “Effective stress alleviation”. For the part on
"Effective stress alleviation”, the lecturer introduced to employees various methods
of adapting to stress, such as changing beliefs, altering diets and setting reasonable
goals.

Health Management

To ensure the health and safety of employees, the Group has clearly stipulated
safety protection measures for new recruits and serving employees in its Health
Management for Personnel and Health Surveillance for Employees Before and
During Employment.
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New Recruits
FABET

The Quality Assurance Department and the Human Resources
Department collaborate to make physical examination
appointments for new recruits and arrange regular physical
examinations, the results of which must be properly kept.
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Incident Investigation and Follow-up

If an employee has an accident, the injured person should be bandaged or sent

Serving Employees
ERET

In addition to arranging regular physical examinations, the
Production Department, Quality Control Department and
Engineering Department understand the health status of various
employees in real time and arrange suitable positions for them.
Special physical examinations will be arranged for employees in
high-risk positions on a regular basis to ensure that their physical
conditions meet the requirements of their positions.
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to the hospital for treatment in accordance with the procedures in the Accident
and Incident Investigation. Subsequently, the department incurring the incident
should fill in the Employee Injury Investigation Report and carry out corresponding
investigations and improvements. During the Year, the Group had two work-
related injuries and no fatalities. Work-related injuries mainly included sprains
due to handling operations and strains due to falling. The Group has carried
out investigations and follow-ups to improve the relevant work processes and
strengthen the communication of safety knowledge to prevent similar accidents
from recurring.
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R R

The Group is well aware of the significance of improving employees’ work skills REERBRA S T TERae R E AR RS
for their future career development, and strives to provide all employees with ERONEZN  BWAORMEEIRERSH
adequate training courses and sufficient training time. The Group has developed BIIERIE R FE R B AR o AREBBERCOR
clear measures for the management of staff training in its ESG Policy, Employee 5 g RER/BR) (BIFMRKKANE
Handbook and Human Resources Management Manual. TRERFMIAEE TN ENEIE -

Training programmes and
resources

HEHIE B R AR

Training activities
EHEE)

Performance appraisal
BRURAR

The Group provides knowledge and skills training for employees to equip them with necessary
knowledge to perform their duties. The human resources department is responsible for planning and
evaluating various training activities, such as conducting surveys and analysis of training needs, setting
training goals and designing training programmes.
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The Group encourages employees to take continuing education courses and apply for professional
qualifications related to their work. Employees may apply for reimbursement of the expenses of
continuing education and training courses accredited by the Education Bureau, examination leave and
further study leave, as well as subsidies for membership of professional associations.
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During the Year, the Group organised a series of training activities, such as induction training, product
training, customer service training, anti-corruption lectures and outdoor experience training.
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Each year, employees are required to receive a performance appraisal where their immediate
supervisors will evaluate their work performance, ability, character, attendance record, etc. The
appraisal results will be reviewed and approved by the human resources department.
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Employment System

The Group believes that a well-established employment system is not only a key
factor to attract talents, but also an important way to protect employees’ rights and
interests. The ESG Policy, Employee Handbook and Human Resources Management
Manual of the Group set forth various employment measures and management
policies, covering compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours and holidays, equal opportunity and anti-discrimination, diversity, other

benefits, complaint procedure and labour standards.

Compensation and dismissal
BN R

The Group provides employees with
fair and competitive compensation.
Employees’ salaries and year-end bonuses
are determined and reviewed based
on factors including their respective
qualifications, work performance,
performance appraisal results, market
trends, etc.

The procedures for terminating
employment contracts and the conditions
for dismissal are set out in the Employee
Handbook.
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Recruitment and promotion
REEEEA

The Group recruits and appoints
employees in the principles of
“careful organisation, comprehensive
investigation, merit-based selection, and
insistence on strict requirements” and
based on such factors as each candidate’s
work ability and understanding of the
job and the job requirements. The
Group regularly conducts performance
appraisal as the basis for promotion and
salary adjustment. Whenever there are
job vacancies, the Group upholds the
principle of “discovering able people and
put them at suitable posts” and gives
priority to promoting internal personnel,
in order to reward outstanding
employees and strengthen their sense of
belongings.
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Working hours and holidays
TERBR RS

The Group has specified the working days
and work schedule for employees, and
provides employees with different types
of paid leaves such as maternity leave,
compassionate leave and examination
leave.
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Equal opportunity and anti-
discrimination

FERERREKR

Based on the principle of equal
opportunity, the Group has no tolerance
for any form of discrimination against and
harassment of employees on the basis of
gender, marital status, pregnancy, family
status or disability. Employees can file
complaints with the human resources
department about any discrimination or
harassment.
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Complaint procedure

HRREF

The Group understands the importance
of employees’ opinions and suggestions
to its future development. The Employee
Handbook clearly states that employees
may file complaints with their supervisors
or the human resources department
about any violation or malpractice, and
the Group undertakes that all cases will be
investigated and handled in a confidential
manner.
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Diversity

e 4

The Group is committed to establishing a
diversified work team and respecting the
differences of employees, which serves
as a driving force for its development.
The Group also recruits people with
disabilities to promote a culture of
integration of physically handicapped
and able-bodied people. The Group
is considering implementing more
measures on diversity and inclusion in
the future, such as providing training on
equal opportunity, anti-discrimination
and human rights.
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Prevention of child labour
FFERAET

During the recruitment process, the
human resources department will
verify the identity documents and age
of applicants to ensure that they have
reached the local minimum age for
employment. Once a child labourer is
found to be hired by mistake, he/she will
be required to immediately stop his/her
work and be sent to his/her guardian’s
place.
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Other benefits

HitFBEH

The Group provides eligible employees
with in-patient medical insurance,
outpatient medical benefits, internal
shopping discounts, as well as discounts
on TCM out-patient clinic services, dental
care and medical programmes applicable
to employees and their immediate family
members.
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Prohibition of forced labour
FIEREIZT

The Group specifies overtime
compensation provisions in the
Employee Handbook. In addition, the
Group undertakes to respect the rights
of employees to work voluntarily and
quit freely, and strictly prohibits forcing
employees to work by withholding their
identity documents.
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OPERATIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a manufacturer of pharmaceutical and health food products, the Group always
put great emphasis on providing customers with high-quality products and services
through supply chain management and product quality improvement in the
production process. Moreover, the Group practices the anti-corruption principle
and maintains business ethics to safeguard its brand image. To this end, the Group
has formulated the ESG Policy and a series of related policies and guidelines to
standardise relevant operations and management.

Product Responsibility

The Group has won the support of many customers for its good product quality
over the years. As such, it fully understands the importance of product and service
quality for its business development and values standardised management in
the production process. The Yuen Long Factory of the Group holds the certificate
of GMP for Proprietary Chinese Medicines of Hong Kong and meets the PIC/S
standards as accredited by the Therapeutic Goods Administration. Moreover, the
Yuen Long Factory has obtained a number of other quality certifications, such as
ISO 9001 quality management system certification, I1SO 22000:2005 food safety
management system certification and HACCP hazard analysis and key control
points certification.

Product Quality Control

The Group has developed internal quality and production management standards
based on different pharmaceutical standards, and standardised the production
processes of different products in the “Standard Operating Procedures” (S.O.P).

Inspection Production and storage
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The Group has established internal quality
inspection standards and set up laboratories
dedicated to testing raw materials and
products to prevent human errors and
cross-contamination, so as to ensure that
their specifications and quality meet internal
standards.
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The quality of production environment also plays an important role in guaranteeing
the quality of finished products. The Group adopts fully automated production
equipment to reduce the risk of man-made pollution. In addition, the Group requires
relevant employees to wear sanitary overalls, shoe covers and protective caps
according to their job requirements, and to clean production equipment regularly.
The Group sets appropriate lighting, ventilation, temperature and humidity according
to the production and storage environment. After production, all finished products
of the Group must be stored in accordance with the storage guidelines. The quality
control department shall ensure the accuracy of product labels and monitor the
stability of product ingredients.
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In addition to standardised operations, the Group regularly provides appropriate
trainings for employees in different positions to help them better perform their
duties and ensure that production steps comply with relevant regulations.
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Advertising and Label Management

The Group undertakes that all advertisements and product labels are true and legal,
and it will never carry out any false or exaggerated publicity. All product labels
and instructions of our proprietary Chinese medicines sold and exported are in
compliance with the Chinese Medicines Regulations of Hong Kong, the “Guidelines
on labels of proprietary Chinese medicines” and the Guidelines on package inserts
of proprietary Chinese medicines”. The Group regularly evaluates the updates of
applicable laws and regulations, and continuously reviews and improves product
advertising and label management. The packaging labels and instructions of our
proprietary Chinese medicines contain sufficient information, including main active
ingredients, dosage, methods of use, functional or pharmacological effects, storage
instructions, contraindications or side effects and expiration date, with a view
to protecting customer health and safety by helping customers select the right
products and use them properly. In addition, the Group regularly provides trainings
for employees to ensure that all sales personnel understand the product features
and precautions, so that they can recommend relevant products according to
customer needs.

Handling of Customer Complaints

Sound after-sales management is an important part of maintaining customer trust.
The Group has established a customer complaint mechanism to help customers
get in touch with the Group regarding product quality issues at any time. Where
a product must be recalled after verification by the quality control department,
the Group will promptly recall the product in accordance with its product recall
mechanism and notify all parties concerned, including the Chinese Medicine
Council of Hong Kong, customers, suppliers and retail stores. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews its product recall mechanism and provides relevant trainings
for employees to ensure that customer complaints are handled in a timely and
proper manner. During trainings, the Group reminds retail stores that they should
immediately assist customers in handling exchange and refund issues, so as to
reduce the inconvenience of customers calling the customer service department
for enquiries. In order to further improve service performance, the Group arranges
all regional managers to receive relevant trainings, and explores and formulates
service improvement plans and targets through data analysis.

During the Year, the Group had no products subject to recalls for health and
safety reasons, but received 67 complaints, mainly about advertisements, sales
descriptions and product quality. The Group has followed up and responded
to all complaints and made appropriate improvements, such as strengthening
colleagues’ knowledge on products and enhancing employees’ service quality
through daily communication and regular training, as well as reviewing quality
management continuously and providing employees with relevant trainings on a
regular basis.

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group regards customer privacy as important confidential information. The
Employee Handbook clearly states that without the authorisation of the Board,
no employee shall disclose any confidential information related to the operations
of the Group, including customers’ personal data, purchase records and medical
records.
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Intellectual Property Protection

The Group understands the significance of intellectual property rights to its
corporate development. The ESG Policy stipulates that in the course of cooperation
with an external organisation, the terms of contract shall be clearly set to ensure
that any products or services provided by the partner are free from infringement
of any intellectual property right. In addition, the Group avoids infringing the
intellectual property rights of other companies and individuals, and conducts
regular research and tracking of patent information of its peers.

Anti-corruption

The Group understands that healthy corporate development should be free of any
form of corruption. As such, the Group has included a section headed “Prevention
of Bribery” in the Employee Handbook to clearly stipulate the daily code of conduct
of employees, covering conflicts of interest, acceptance of benefits, entertainment,
etc. Where any employee of the Group accepts gifts from people who do business
with the Group, they must fill out the Application Form for Receiving Gifts and
submit it to the director of human resources for further verification and processing.
The Group also regularly reviews and updates its anti-corruption policy. In addition,
employees can report any misconduct or reasonably suspected corruption to
relevant departments of the Group through the internal whistleblowing system. All
reported cases will be handled confidentially to protect the privacy and other legal
rights of the whistleblowers.

During the Year, the Group invited the Independent Commission Against
Corruption of Hong Kong to give two anti-corruption lectures to retail store
managers and office employees, so as to raise their anti-corruption awareness.

Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches great importance to the environmental and social risk
management of the supply chain, and sets out the principles of supplier
management and criteria for selection of suppliers in the ESG Policy to provide
a unified framework for business departments. The Group requires suppliers to
observe business ethics and honour their corporate social responsibilities, and
endeavours to ensure that suppliers meet the quality, environmental and safety
standards of the Group. In the future, the Group will review the existing supplier
management processes to further improve such processes, in an effort to identify,
evaluate and manage potential environmental and social impacts of the supply
chain.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to reducing the negative impacts on the environment
during its daily operation and production and adheres to the green development
philosophy. To this end, the Group has formulated the environmental, social and
governance Policy and implemented a number of measures to reduce emissions,
save resources, and protect the environment and natural resources.

Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions

To monitor greenhouse gas emissions from operations on an ongoing basis, the
Group has commissioned an external consulting company to conduct carbon
assessment in accordance with national, regional and international standards such
as Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions — Food,
Tobacco, Alcohol, Beverage and Purified Tea Manufacturing Enterprises in China
(Trial), Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong
Kong, and ISO 14064-1.
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During the Year, the Group's total greenhouse gas emissions were approximately
3,830.9 tonnes of CO,, and greenhouse gas intensity was 0.014 tonne
CO_e/ft? of gross floor area. Greenhouse gas emissions mainly come from purchased
electricity emissions of Scope 2, which represented approximately 92.3% of the total
emissions.

Air emissions

The Group's air pollutants generated during the operating process are mainly
nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and respirable suspended particulates generated
from use of vehicles. To strengthen management of air emissions, electric vehicles
have been introduced into the Group's company fleet to reduce the air and
carbon emissions generated from the use of gasoline or diesel by traditional
vehicles. Meanwhile, the Group adopts hydro vent and scrubber to remove oil and
odour from fumes before emissions. Where abnormal emission is found, relevant
departments must immediately investigate and take appropriate actions.

Air pollutants

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) =Rl a)
Sulphur oxides (SO) =kl a7
Respirable suspended particulates LN 2 es

Waste

Given the nature of its business, the Group will generate a certain amount of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste during the production process, such as waste
halogenated solvents, expired pharmaceuticals, other pharmaceutical raw materials,
and domestic waste. As such, the Yuen Long Factory has developed procedures for
managing hazardous waste. For non-hazardous waste, the Yuen Long Factory has
performed sorting and recycling thereof; meanwhile, the Hong Kong headquarters
office and the Shenzhen office also set up recycling bins, and regularly arrange for
recyclers to collect recyclable waste.

During the Year, the Group generated 0.3 tonne of hazardous waste and hazardous
waste intensity was 0.005 tonne/product value in HKD million. The amount of
generation and intensity of non-hazardous waste were 653.5 tonnes and 2.6
tonnes/thousand square feet of gross floor area, respectively.
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Wastewater

Wastewater generated by the Group mainly includes domestic wastewater and
industrial wastewater, such as the cleaning of Chinese herbal medicines. The Group
has obtained a license granted by the Environmental Protection Department
of Hong Kong ("EPD") pursuant to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance, and
discharges wastewater in accordance with relevant requirements of the EPD. In
order to reduce the generation of wastewater, the Group reuses water in production
operations, for example, the reverse osmosis (also referred to as RO) treated water is
supplied to the steam boiler.

Use of Resources

Energy

During the Year, the Group's total energy consumption was 8,134.2 MWh-e, and
energy consumption intensity was 0.031 MWh-e/ft? of gross floor area. Main energy
consumed includes electricity use, accounting for approximately 87% of total
energy consumption. Other energy uses include natural gas and petrol.
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Use of energy BERAE

Natural gas (MWh) RAROKER)
Towngas (MWh) BERJEFLE)
Petrol (MWh) Yl (JEFLER)
Purchased electricity (MWh) SNEE N K RLEF)

Total energy consumption (MWh) felRMERER LRI

Energy intensity (by gross floor area, i.e. MWh/ft?)

The energy consumption of the Group’s operating locations mainly comes from
daily electricity use. In order to reduce electricity consumption, Yuen Long Factory
has introduced equipment with high energy efficiency (such as energy-saving
lighting system and energy-saving air conditioning), adjusted the number of
lighting fixtures in production workshops, and reduced the fresh air and exhaust
air in rooms without pressure difference requirements; changed the glass of offices
to brown glass to reduce heat absorption of the rooms, installed insulation for
production equipment to reduce heat loss, and set up lighting control by area to
reduce power consumption in unmanned areas. In the future, Yuen Long Factory
will introduce the latest production technology to reduce energy consumption in
the production process.

In the Hong Kong headquarters office and Shenzhen office, the Group posts
energy-saving signs to remind employees, and purchases energy-efficient lamps
and installs sensors to improve energy efficiency. Looking ahead, the Group plans
to appoint dedicated personnel to carry out energy-related supervision and review
the implementation results of energy-saving measures.
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Water Resources

During the Year, the Group's total water consumption was 37,577 cubic metres,
representing a water consumption intensity of 0.14 cubic meter per square foot
of gross floor area. All the operating locations of the Group have no problem in
obtaining water sources, all of which are from municipal pipe networks. To save
water resources, the Group has installed environmental-friendly water tanks and
automatic faucets in toilets. In addition, Yuen Long Factory has set up rainwater
collection, brown water treatment and recycling facilities, and plans to employ
water-saving faucets and sensors in the future. The Hong Kong headquarters office
and Shenzhen office also plan to use low-flow faucets in the future.

Packaging Materials

During the Year, the Group's total consumption of packaging materials was 396.9
tonnes, representing a consumption density of packaging materials of 6.3 tonnes
per HKS1 million. In order to reduce the consumption of packaging materials,
the Group continuously reviews and improves packaging designs, and adopts
sustainable procurement and uses recyclable packaging materials as much as
possible. The Group is exploring options to improve the utilisation efficiency of
packaging materials, such as considering the use of biodegradable packaging
materials that contain renewable ingredients.

Environment and Natural Resources

It is an important responsibility of the Group to protect the surrounding
environment and natural resources, and reduce the environmental impact of day-
to-day operations by implementing environmental measures. The ESG Policy
also states that it is necessary to consider the negative impact of pharmaceutical
raw materials on biodiversity in the planting process, improve the environmental
monitoring and early warning system, and establish an emergency response
mechanism for environmental emergencies.

Community Development

Business growth and community development are closely related. The Group takes
its social responsibility very seriously. It regulates community investment activities
through the ESG Policy, and explicitly proposes to support public welfare, public
health and poverty alleviation through volunteer services, sponsorship or donations.
During the Year, the Group invested HK$1,798,000 in different community
investment areas.
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Major activities

Caring for public health
BENRIEE

Caring for the elderly in the
community
HAEtREE

Supporting youth
development
SREFER

EEEF

The unexpected COVID-19 outbreak has caused a major impact on the health of
people, especially the elderly with low immunity. In view of this, in April 2020, the
Group distributed 2,000 health kits containing masks and alcohol hand spray to
eligible elders aged 65 or above at designated retail stores free of charge to help
them better guard against the virus.

RINEKOFHAERRSELHAMNEREETEAPE - LERRENBRENK
&Rl AEBER T -TFNAMESERNSHIA LHRENECTEERE
IKE2,0000 5 DS MBRHETFEZRNREN ERnE - EMtLMRs 22l #EKT -

In addition, since the beginning of March 2020, the Group has been offering free
consultation and a 50% discount on the first dose of Chinese medicine in most of
the stores with registered Chinese medicine practitioners to provide outpatient
services, in an effort to stand together with Hong Kong people in the fight against
the epidemic.

o REETFR_Z_TF = AL - ERF D &AM B2 RENFIE -
RHELTRARPEEELENERE  BEETR RREMAE  BoRE -

The Group worked with Wang On Properties Limited to organise volunteer
services. On the eve of the Mid-Autumn Festival, the Group arranged employees to
visit Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Henry G. Leong Community Support Centre for
the Elderly in Kwun Tong to present mooncakes and blessings to the elderly.
REEBRRIMEGRAT —RABSE TR - T8 8 TR REAT S BIRE= E
FERBEANRE BRRBHOETRY - MIREE EASFIGRE o

The Group always concerns about the health of community residents. During
the Year, the Group participated in the 2019 Community Service Day for the
Elderly” organised by The Yuen Yuen Institute MFBM Nei Ming Chan Lui Chung
Tak Memorial College by sending Chinese medicine practitioners to provide free
consultation for 100 elderly people in Tin Shui Wai District and give them autumn
and winter nourishing soup bags.

REE-HEIMEERNER - £ AEB2EHEZ2RYEFARKR D EE
LR BABNI2019FREMERSE VES - REPEMARKERAI00MZRE
HITRZ  WKRHMRZLHSaREERA -

The Group continues to participate in the “Project WeCan” programme. The
programme is designed to offer various opportunities to secondary school
students with poor learning conditions through diversified activities and inspire
them to plan their lives and prepare for future studies and employment. During
the Year, the Group organised a pre-employment workshop for 31 students from
Caritas Yuen Long Chan Chun Ha Secondary School to share interview skills and
frequently asked questions and answers in interviews. In addition, the Group
conducted mock interviews with students in the workshop to help familiarise
themselves with the interview process and understand their strengths and areas
that need improvements.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Environmental Performance
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Environmental Key Performance FY2020 FY2019
Indicators BEERENEE “ECEBHREE —TNAVERFE
Air emissions BERHBERR
Nitrogen oxides (NO ) REW kg T3 20.1 133
Sulphur oxides (SO) ety kg T3 04 0.2
Respirable suspended particulates AR ASRERL T kg 7 0.5 0.1
Greenhouse gas emissions REREH
Total greenhouse gas emissions REREYNAE tonne CO.e 3,8309 3,756.3
ABE A tIRESE
Scope 12 #E12 tonne CO.e 2112 1775
AW A tiREE
Scope 2? FE2? tonne CO.e 3,576.5 3,5194
A _AbiRE S
Scope 3* #E3* tonne CO.e 432 594
PSR E S
Greenhouse gas intensity BERETE(UEERRETE tonne CO,e/ft? 0014 0.02
(by gross floor area) YN k= 73
22/ FHR
Waste BEZEY
Total hazardous waste generation® FEEREREENESS tonne AMA 03 1.7
Hazardous waste intensity (by product BEEEWMZE (LEMEHE tonne/HKD million 0.005 0.004
value) FTE) AW/ BEAT
Total non-hazardous waste generation® FiTE 4 R E )42 8° tonne ANE 653.5 786.8
Non-hazardous waste intensity BEERWEE (CAREmE tonne/thousand ft? 26 34
(by gross floor area) HHE N FEHFR
Use of energy RERERA
Total energy consumption REREFEE MWh JK B B 8,134.1 77173
Direct energy consumption BEELRRE MWh JK FL B 1,089.0 900.3
Towngas HR MWh JK E B 948.2 879.0
Natural gas KAR MWh JK FL B 252 0.0
Petrol YUH MWh JEFL B 115.6 213
Indirect energy consumption EEZRREE MWh JKE B 7,045.1 6,817.0
Purchased electricity SNEE T MWh JK FLBF 7,045.1 6,817.0
Energy consumption intensity REREERE(UEEmELE) MWh/ft? 0.031 0.031
(by gross floor area) JKFLREEHR
Use of water resource KEIREE R
Total water consumption iEkEs m> 37 J5 K 37,577 38,0984
Water consumption intensity FAREERE(UBREEELE) m¥/ft? 0.14 0.15
(by gross floor area) SHEKSFERR
Use of packaging materials BEMEHE A
Total packaging materials used FROBEMEEE tonne AR 396.9 464.2
Intensity of packaging materials used A BE Y2 E (AE R tonne/HKD million 6.3 12
(by product value) EEFE) nHEBEET
2 Scope 1 includes greenhouse gas emissions from fossil fuels of combustion of stationary source and 2 #E IR E BERRBERICAREREE
mobile source. KR ERBSHER o
3 Scope 2 includes greenhouse gas emissions from purchased electricity and purchased towngas. 3 HELEIEREREINEE ) RINEERE R
EREEHEAN o
4 Scope 3 includes greenhouse gas emissions from employee business travel and greenhouse gas ‘ HEBEREEE HINABEREREINR
emissions from wastepaper disposal, fresh water and sewage treatment in Hong Kong. MEBMRWERES « RKRITKEER
BT o
s Only includes data from the Yuen Long Factory. s RBETHABEEIR
6 Only includes data from the Shenzhen office and the Yuen Long Factory. o RBFERNPFAE RITHARE SR
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Social Performance HERE
Social Key
Performance
Indicators Unit FY2020 FY2019
L ERERENIEE B —E-ZTHBREE —T-AMEFE
Employees Total headcount £ A & 632 685
= By geographical distribution [ 545
Hong Kong &7 507 540
Mainland China & Bl A, 125 145
By age FEe
30 or below 305%=k A T 73 91
31-50 312=508% 361 390
Above 50 505%0A - 198 204
By gender #5545
Male 1% 228 241
Female 2% 404 444
By professional profile BtaE
Management staff 12 8 T 189 77
General staff E3B8 T 443 608
By employment type @185 7
Full-time 28 619 663
Part-time &5 13 22
Male-to-female ratio of the workforce
B BT AZULLHI 0.56:1 0541
Employee new hire rate’ 8 T #i2Z’ % 184 27.2
By geographical distribution & 545
Hong Kong &7 % 19.5 256
Mainland China /B At % 13.6 33.1
By age FHEe i
30 or below 305%=k A T % 30.1 527
31-50 312=508% % 16.6 282
Above 50 505%bA - % 17.2 13.7
By gender #5545
Male 1% % 250 320
Female % % 146 245
Employee turnover rate® § T i %k &° % 396 479
By geographical distribution #[& 55
Hong Kong &7 % 438 459
Mainland China A Bl A % 224 55.2
By age TR
30 or below 30558k A T % 80.8 90.1
31-50 31E=505% % 296 451
Above 50 5054 % 424 343
By gender #5545
Male St % 456 427
Female Z % % 36.1 50.7
7 Employee new hire rate (%) = Number of new hires in the category/total number of employees in 7 BIHIER %) = ZMERIFEE AR %8
the category x 100. Rl E T AZx100 °
¢ Employee turnover rate (%) = Number of departing employees in the category/total number of 8 BTRAR (%) = ZMBABIMKRE T AS 258
employees in the category x 100%. Rll48E T ABx 100% °

T2 BT ER A A
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Social Key
Performance
Indicators FY2020 FY2019
HERBENIER “ECEBHBREE —TNAVERFE
Health and safety \Work-related fatalities T {501 Cases ® 0 0
RERZE Work-related injuries 15 Cases = 2 6
Incidence of work-related injury (per 100 staff)?
ITER(EAZKET) % 032 0.88
Lost days due to work-related injury
ETEIBRTHERE Days H 202 85
Percentage of lost days due to work-related injury®
EAIBEARTIIER SR % 0.1 0.1
Number of days absent (for all employees)
REAB(RAEET) Days H 5,587.5 5,016.95
Percentage of days absent'® &) B Bty 510 % 14 28
Employee training Percentage of trained employees''
& & 553 ZHETHAL" % 555" 40.6
By gender 4315 #5
Male S % 67.5 369
Female &% % 488 376
By professional profile Btag o
Management staff E32 8 T % 238 66.2
General staff Fi@E T % 69.1 337
Total training hours #23% I BF 2 Hours 7|\ 2,236.0 2,156.5
Average training hours per employee”
Fi9{E BRI RFEY Hours 7\ 3.5 3.1
By gender 4515 #5
Male S Hours/employee 2.5 12
MBI
Female Z 1t Hours/employee 41 4.2
BT
By professional profile Btgg D
Management staff E3# 8 T Hours/employee 23 36
BT
General staff @B T Hours/employee 4. 3.1
BT

Percentage of employees who receive
regular performance and career

development review
EYEHENRBERRRENEIBSL % 74.5 89.6
Community Donation B HKD %7t 1,798,000 506,763
investment Volunteer headcount &L AR
HEIRE Headcount AJX 94 -
Hours of volunteer work & T £ Hours /)N 285 -
o Incidence of work-related injury (per 100 staff) = Number of employees with work-related injury/ o ITHER(FAREI)=RAIZEETAHKS
Total number of employees x 100. BET AHx100 e
10 The number of working days for the whole year used for calculating lost days due to work-related 10 AEFERIERATIERERREBE Y
injury and number of days absent is 260. 2FTEREAR2608 ©
n Percentage of trained employees = Number of trained employees in the category/total number of n SIETESL = ZERZINET AR 48
employees x 100%. BT AZx100% °
2 Male to female ratio of trained employees: male (44%) and female (56%); ratio of trained employees ” ZHNEITHRMB LB B @a%) R
in each rank group: senior management (13%) and general employees (87%). (56%) : B TR FBRARNLH - 12
BB T(13%) % —A&B T (87%) °
13 Average training hours of trained employees = Training hours in the category/total number of & SHEITFHRE = ZARI8 TR
employees in the category. ZIERIBETAH -
70 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Subject Areas Content Page Index
FEEE AR BEB#EL|
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources RiE & XA &R
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environmentand 45, 63, 66
—ARREE natural resources.

BIREITABRERRREREXNERZEOBR -
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 66

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
AR R RENARBERNEAZERDRNEERHETENTE
B1 Employment {E{&

General Disclosure Information on: 45,50, 58
— R (@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare
AT EAEE  BEREA  ITERHS - BH - FEEE - Zak - RER
LA R Bt 15538 e AR ) #Y
(@) BEX:R
(b) BETFHBETABEATENEERLRONER -
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 69
region.
ZIER - EEEA - FERERI St EEI D IEEBE -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 69
R~ FRER KR E S HIES MK E -
B2 Health and Safety 2% 2

General Disclosure Information on: 45,50, 54
—MRIREE (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards
FARHMZE2TIEREMREREHCBEEEEN
(@ BE: R
(b) BETFHBETABEATENEBEEE RO ER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. 70
EITERERMIL T ABUR LR -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 70
ETEERTERS -
B23 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they  54-56
are implemented and monitored.
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TEHE PAES HER5|
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General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties 45, 57
—ARRER at work. Description of training activities.
BRRAE S BT TIERE M AMB R HIBUER - fduFIES -
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ZtEpIREERAEIDNZIIEEE DL
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B4 Labour Standards % T %8|

General Disclosure Information on: 45, 50, 58
—RIRE (@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour.
BREA IEE T esahl T

(@) B &
(b) BETFHETABEATZENEAEELIROINER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 59

forced labour.
R R E DI AR R E T RaRHS T -
B5 Supply Chain Management {fESEE R

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
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B6 Product Responsibility =& = F

General Disclosure Information on: 45,51, 60-62
— R (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress

BRFMRHERMRGHNREFEELZS - BEE  REMLBEEANEHRITED

@ BE: R
(b) BEFHETABEAZENEEEERLRONER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 61

health reasons.
EEdEEXEMEH TR REFIEAMALIKN T L -

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they 61
are dealt with.
ZERANE R MRS FE R AR EE 7% -

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 62
property rights.
Tt B A R N RS N EE R A R B A0

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 60
i E S RTERIE REMEYIRF o

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 61
implemented and monitored.
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(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
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(b) EFHBETABEAFENEEERLROER
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as an
effective risk management for the growth of the Company that will promote and
enhance the benefit of its shareholders. The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance with a strong emphasis on transparency,
accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board has reviewed
periodically the compliance of the CG Code and is in the view that throughout the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board, also
assumed the role of managing Director. Currently, the Company does not propose
to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code for the time being but will
continue to review such deviation to enhance the best interest of the Group as a
whole. Details of such deviation are set out below in the section headed "Roles of
Chairman and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code") contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all of
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code throughout the year under review.

In accordance with code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Company also adopted
a code of conduct regarding securities transactions on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group who are considered likely
to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its securities. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all
relevant employees have complied with the required standard of such code.
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Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended to
be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any particular
period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, the Board
may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of dividend(s) to
its shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year depending on,
among other things, the Company’s operation and financial performance, liquidity
condition, capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing, processing and retailing
of TCM,; (ii) the processing and sale of Western pharmaceutical, health food and
personal care products; (iii) property investment; and (iv) the management and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets. The Group continues its
proactive expansion strategy for generating and preserving shareholder value over
the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical integration. In
order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the effort on new products
research, development and registration, especially focus on those Chinese and
Western medicinal products which possess their own uniqueness and curative
effect. The Group also extends its retail and medical service network aggressively
to gain market share. Furthermore, the Group seeks to expand the Chinese herbal
plantation base in mainland China to assure quality source of raw materials.

With respect to the property investment business, apart from the CAP Acquisition
successfully completed in mid February 2020, the Group continues to look for and
acquire sizeable and potential retail premises for mitigating the effect of rising
rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for merger
and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing business, as well
as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening and broadening its
income base. The Group also takes active and prompt measures from time to time,
reviewing and adjusting its business strategy and adopting various controls over
costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the Group’s profitability. Besides, the Group
strives to maintain a healthy financing structure and devotes effort to securing
banking facilities which is regarded as an important element for supporting
continuous business development of the Group.
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The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, $8s,
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Ms. Tang Mui Fun
Ms. Tang Wai Man

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

Ms. Tang Mui Fun is a sister of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man is the
daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical details of the Directors are set out
on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The opinions
raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has four INEDs,
representing more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has
the appropriate professional qualification and/or accounting and audit experience
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A
balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors also generates
a strong independent element on the Board, which allows for an independent
and objective decision making process for the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has reviewed the composition of the Board and
discussed from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group’s
businesses and to enhance the shareholders’ value. All Directors are aware of the
required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the
Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their role and function are available on the websites of the
Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The nomination
committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee”) and the Board will
review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet
the needs of the Group’s business and to enhance the shareholders’ value.
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Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

AIl INEDs are appointed with specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs are appointed for
a term of not more than three years. Pursuant to code provisions A4.2 of the CG
Code and the Bye-law 87, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) are required to retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by the Board to fill
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are subject to re-election at
the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their appointment and
on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
31 March 2020. The INEDs would not participate in the Group's daily operation
and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in which he had any
interest and, therefore, the Company continues to consider the four INEDs to be
independent for the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is accountable to Stakeholders for the activities and performance of the
Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the formulation of
overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies and the oversight of
the management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from these, the Board
reserved for its consideration and decision on major acquisitions and disposals,
review of interim and annual financial results, appointments and removals of
directors and auditors, the evaluation on the performance and compensation
of senior management, any material capital transactions and other significant
operational and financial affairs. With a view to maintaining an appropriate balance
between authority and responsibility, such functions are either carried out directly
by the Board or indirectly through various committees established by the Board,
with respective functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in the day-
to-day management of the Group. The general management and day-today
management are delegated to the management, including but not limited to the
preparation of regular financial information, execution of designated assignments,
and implementation of sustainability practices.
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The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting at
such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall attend at such
meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their
responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to
the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public organisation and
other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were held
four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and interim
results and to review the business operations, corporate governance practices and
the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems of the Group.
Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when
necessary, to consider major transactions of the Group. At least 14-day notice for
each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings
and pursuant to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman of the Board
also met with the INEDs without the presence of any executive Director during the
year.

Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industry of the Group
and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy making of the
Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope with the recent
fierce competitive and downturn retailing market and the communication between
the Board and the management, so as to ensure the effective execution of the
Board's strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers that Mr. Tang is an executive
of high caliber with a wide range of skills and diversified business expertise and
there are various committees and experienced individuals dealing with specific
assignments and business unit(s) and managing the daily business operations.
Moreover, the Board comprises four executive Directors and four INEDs with
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Group’s further development.
The Company had no intention to make any change to comply with code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual) but will continue to
review and propose, as and when appropriate, by taking into consideration of such
deviation and any other relevant factors, to ensure the maximisation of the benefit
of the Stakeholders.
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Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to code provision D.3.2 of the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place to
continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance practices
within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
stipulating the composition of the Board, reviewing the policies and measures
on the Group's corporate governance, reviewing a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuing professional development of Directors and
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this
annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of
its corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced
development. In June 2013, the Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy
which sets out the approach to diversify the Board and was reviewed annually. The
Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition on behalf of
the Board and will recommend the appointment of new Director, when necessary,
pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination policy.

In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors based on
the Company’s business model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

During the year under review, the Board comprises eight Directors, including four
executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control
of the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the Board’s
composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out
in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
s0 as to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The company secretary
of the Company regularly circulates training materials or reading materials to all
Directors in respect of the updates on, among other things, the Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
"SFO") or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and financial or accounting
standards which may be of the interest to the Directors and benefit for them to
discharge their duties.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and circulates to
the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the Group's business,
financial position and business environment, in which the Group operates. During
the year, all Directors have complied with the code provisions in relation to
continuous professional development. Apart from reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business, the updated rules and regulation and other director’s duties
and responsibilities by all Directors, the Directors also enhanced their professional
development by way of attending seminars and/or forums.

The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the latest
developments regarding the Group's business and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

During the year, all Directors have provided to the Company with their training
records on a regular basis, and such records have been maintained by the company
secretary of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate
activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed with consultant advice
on an annual basis.
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Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including the executive committee
(the "Executive Committee’), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee’), the
remuneration committee (the “‘Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of reference that will be
reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all meetings and resolutions
of the committee meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
and open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific written
terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board. Its primary
function is to undertake general management and supervise the day-to-day
management, performance and operations in accordance with the business
strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review
strategy and business development initiatives of the Group and monitors their
implementation. Currently, the Executive Committee comprises four members,
namely, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Ms. Tang Mui Fun and Ms.
Tang Wai Man. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of reference
stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit Committee comprises
four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the Board to
review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including interim and
annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control and risk management
systems, to monitor the internal and external audit functions, the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the auditor and to make relevant recommendations
to the Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable reporting. The
functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and
amended from time to time, as and when appropriate, in order to be in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so as to
ensure that the management has discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control and risk management systems including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff to implement the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function.
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties

and may access to independent professional advice according to the Company'’s
policy, if considered necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee held two
regular meetings with the Group’s senior management and the external auditor.

During the year under review and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit

Committee met to discuss and review, among other things, the following matters:

(@)

the annual results for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 and the
interim results for the six-month ended 30 September 2019 to ensure the
full, complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements
pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal requirement for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst & Young as external
auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and to perform agreed upon
procedures on the interim results for the six months ended 30 September
2019;

the term and remuneration for the appointment of external auditors to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review the
overall significant control system;

the independence of the external auditors especially for those non-audit
services;

the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems;
and

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness of

the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor and

has recommended the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the
Company's external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September 2005
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating
its authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the Remuneration Committee
consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou,
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom
are INEDs during the year and up to the date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon is elected as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company’s policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing a
remuneration policy on the basis of basic salary and allowances, discretionary
bonus and share options;

(b)  to review and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

(0 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, including but not
limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee of the INEDs
with reference to the range of remuneration of other non-executive directors
in the similar industry and allow any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
connection with the performance of their duties;

(e)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;
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() to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive; and

(g) toreview and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, in
which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference with the market
research and, in particular, the current COVID-19, communicated with the chairman
and managing Director, recommended amendments to the existing remuneration
policies and performance-based bonus and approved the remuneration package
and performance-based bonus paid to the other Directors and senior management
of the Company. No Director took part in any discussion about his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge its
major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service agreements
of the Directors and the senior management, make recommendations with respect
to the remuneration and policies of the Directors and senior management of the
Company and to review the remuneration package and recommend salaries,
bonuses, including the incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG
Code, the annual remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management by bands
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists of five
members, including Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Leung Wai Ho,
Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during
the year and up to the date of this annual report pursuant to code provision A.5.1
of the CG Code. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is elected as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the key
selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably qualified
candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and procedures
specified in the nomination policy include:

1. Selection Criteria

- in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee will consider the factors (as reference), including
reputation, integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in
relation to the principal businesses of the Company from time to time,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest, diversity
in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or
above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. These factors are
for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The
Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as
it considers appropriate;

- retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing for re-election,
the Nomination Committee will consider the independence of such
Director for nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reason in the circular to the Shareholders for the
re-election;

- candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal information
in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as Director(s); and

- the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s) from
Board members if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period for the
shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the shareholders;

the shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary within
the lodgement period of its intention to propose a resolution to elect a
certain person as Director, without the Board's recommendation or the

Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than those candidate(s)
set out in the circular to be sent to the shareholders. The particulars
of the candidate(s) so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular;
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- a candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time before
the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the company
secretary;

- the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any general
meeting; and

- as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available, and
the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be
elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) by
the shareholders shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions
proposed for the candidate(s) recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the benefits of
diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors implementation of this policy
as part of the process of selecting and nominating candidates for appointment to
the Board. Candidates are considered against a broad and diverse range of aspects
specified in the nomination policy, which among other aspects also include gender,
ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@) toreview and evaluate the structure, size and composition (including
diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships;

(0 toassess the independence of INEDs;
(d)  tomonitor the continuous professional development of the Directors;
(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or

reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;
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(  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED at H FBEELERARREASLREZAZRE
the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to shareholders and/ ERATRBIIIFNITESE » HER
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general B AR R K i 25 FIT A P /0 BUIR SR 38 £
meeting: Ko/ SRR iR F1RR
- the process used for identifying the individual why the board believes - RIAMEZEALTHRIE EF

the individual should be elected and the reasons why it considers the ERREEETZAALOIERIN
individual to be independent; MBEERRZEALTBELAL
RA
- if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be holding - MEREREBLIERITES K HE
their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why the Board FER(FKUALE) ETTATNE
believes the individual would still be able to devote sufficient time to F EEERRZBALDAR
the Board; ARHFEERITEFRINREA
- the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can bring to - ZERATA REEGTEIRNER
the Board; and HAT - REERER &
- how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board. - ZAHBANTIREEEERES
Tk .

(@) the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall (9 REZEGERFIHMKEAHBEAR
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to respond AIRFBEF ARG - W EFHUBE S
to questions raised by shareholders on the Committee’s activities and RERENBEAEZE R RS NBED
responsibilities. 8 o

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to REZEGRIERADERABITERE I
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice according ARBESE S TR R A EMBESEE
to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of reference, if considered BREBEATSRBEUEEER -

necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one meeting, in REBEFERN  REZESRTREHE &
which it determined the criteria and procedures for retirement by rotation and FEOREREREIZEESEET  LARME
recommended to the Board for re-appointment of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang FERENEERRBEFAE LENEAEE
Mui Fun and Mr. Leung Wai Ho at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The AR BIS LT RREERE - IREEE
Nomination Committee also reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and evaluated the ENTRAEFEE BRI THESFE R
Board performance and succession planning. RREEEE -
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Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and shareholder meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2020 are
as follows:

Audit Remuneration

Committee Committee

Name of Directors ENZER FMzEE
Tang Ching Ho g 4/4 N/ATEF 11
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas ~ BRIREE 4/4 N/ATEF N/ATER
Tang Mui Fun i 4/4 N/AREA N/ATE A
Tang Wai Man HEH 4/4 N/ATER I
Leung Wai Ho 2 3/4 11 1N
Siu Man Ho, Simon EVES 4/4 7l 1N
Cho Wing Mou ExE 4/4 7l 11
Li Ka Fai, David 5B 4/4 N N/ATE A

HEHR SR R
HE-T-FF=A=+—RILFE (ERE

ENEEEEH  ZESEFMBRARGZH
JERHEHN TR

Special Annual
Nomination general general
Committee meeting meeting
REZRE BRREEAE BRREFAE
11 0/1 /1
N/ATHEA Il 7
N/ATER 0/1 Al
1/1 01 /1
/1 0/1 /1
/1 0/1 /1
/1 0/1 /1
N/ATSE A 11 11

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives,
and ensuring that the Group established and maintained appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems covering financial, operational,
compliance and risk management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that are
significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee would consider
the adequacy of resource, qualifications and experience and training of staff and
external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
system to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets and
Stakeholder's interest. The management may report from time to time any finding,
recommendation and remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and handle all
the significant risks associate with the businesses of the Group. The Board would
perform an annual or periodical review on any significant change of the business
environment and establish procedures to response the risks result from the
significant change of business environment.
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The management would identify the risks associate with the businesses of the
Group by considering both internal and external factors and events which include
political, economic, technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has
been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each type
of risks according to the assessment results, each type of risk management strategy
has been listed as follows:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake actions
by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate to
different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the risks
associated with the business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal control system are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory firm to
undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group. All findings and
recommendations on internal control deficiencies were communicated with the
Audit Committee and the Board.

The management confirmed that there is no significant deficiency and weakness
on the internal control system has been identified by the external advisory firm
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The Board conducted an annual review on
the risk management and internal control system and procedures of the Group,
covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance and
it was considered that the internal controls and risk management functions were
reasonably effective and adequate for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young,
for the year ended 31 March 2020 which has been reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

I I % R = 55 T
HE-_S-_TFE-A=t+—BIEEDHN &
AR R BSNEAZ B AT & K & =T BT A5 AT 2 S B
DEEZZESEMMILE ST ¢

Fees paid/payable to

Ernst & Young

Bt

RAKETHRIEE T

ZEH

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group ) 2 £ [ Fr 12 1 AR A% T

Audit services: BZR

—annual financial statements —FEVBHRE 4,700
Non-audit services: RS -

- agreed-upon procedures —ZEREF 560

— taxation and professional services — B R B ERTE 666

- other professional services — B A HE RS 3,070

Total Het 8,996

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication of
the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in accordance
with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. In preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020, the Directors have adopted suitable
accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group's operations and relevant to
the financial statements and have presented an understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to the
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The Directors continue to explore any opportunities
with potential investors to enhance its financial position and business development
of the Group by way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on pages
116 to 125 of this annual report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules
and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as
the Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the Group has complied in
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on environmental
protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The Group proactively implement
environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its portfolio, conduct energy-
saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction and pollution prevention and
so forth. The Group not only improved the quality management system but
also strengthened the quality of the audit to ensure the quality and safety of
Chinese and western pharmaceutical project control. The environmental policies
and performance of the Group are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 40 to 75 of this annual report.

Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications with
shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure that the
Group's information is disseminated to Stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance. A shareholders
communication policy has been adopted by the Company and the same is available
on the website of the Company. Other major means of communications includes:

Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars and
other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/or
published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.wyth.net). Other inside information is released by way of formal public
announcements as required by the Listing Rules and Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various general
meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly with the
shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various committees are
encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let shareholders to make an informed decision at the general meetings,
sufficient notices with not less than 10 clear business days for every general
meeting and 20 clear business days for every annual general meeting were given
to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to code provision E.1.3 of the CG
Code, the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll vote during the proceedings of meetings
and answered all questions raised by shareholders. All resolutions put to vote at
general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results are posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange immediately following the holding of the
general meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps investors
and shareholders abreast the Group'’s latest development and discloses relevant
information to the public in a timely manner. During the year, we held various
meetings with investors and participated in investor and press conferences.

Shareholders’ Rights Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, the
Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and shareholder(s) holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company to require a special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM;
and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
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Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s branch share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary
of the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all shareholders of the Company. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act, but any SGM
so convened shall not be held after expiration of three months from the said date of
deposit of the requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by
the Board.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, or
not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
that meeting. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong with a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than
six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution
or not less than one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a general
meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section headed under
"Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at www.wyth.net.

R

HESFEHARR 2RO BPIRZE &
ERZELEEAETERFR  ARFZAH
WERBBRARNDRMERRELTDBEZ
AR BAEEERRBCRERAS - AR
% ZBIRER ST ETIEF - B2 SRS
HZAER - RS BRREH RGBT SEEKR

A -

HEFSWARNERZFRKAPRA2IAARLE
AAFRBRRERIARE - AEZASHEHER
i/\Ziﬁi%@ﬁ@}XmﬁéZEﬂTEi/\ AR
REVEFE743) 2R EBITARBRRERK
g ML 2 R BIR & N AR %
2EAHRA=EARERERT - B2ARE
AN ERE AR ARG ZBRIAE
FRECRISBIRE ©

RREASELREZER
RIBRBNEE7IRE0ME - FAHEETLRA
REFREA (MERARBRERE L2 &
ER) TR 2 ZBRRITIR—BRBRER
A ETE R AR R (a)[7) G YR T B CRIB 4R
ERENRRELENEZSR LIRS

RHEABIRHMERRERNES  R(b)
# R 1,000 F 8 A B E S LIRHAE
RRRS LN EBRRBAES LRIEHERH
RE  BRAFEERERBRASBEMK
REH - AMAEERALTEZNHEREREXR
FARRABBEELEI BB NENEER
KBIREERESIEINNEXARAEE
%1’73%5}5&%%%3 DREEWERBERA

I REE 2R ARBR1835RE M 54
’E IERELRERBH - BIZFRERAE
GHETHALRAERER - B EREAM
B ABEEEZRTAAPR—EMNER
WAX N RIAG IR AR BB 25K
I8 o

REBEBBIALRES

PEREAEG HRRFRAZERRES VIZFN
AR B (www.wyth.net) BT A BN | —
2SR T -

T E B AR R
_7_7¢¢*E 97



Corporate Governance Report
SRR

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing by
email to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board/Company Secretary/Corporate Affairs & Investor Relations Manager
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower,

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Hong Kong

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving of
high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures are
formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a high level,
information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety
within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of fraud or misconduct
was reported from employees that have material effect on the Group’s financial
statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Ms. Mak Yuen Ming, Anita, who was appointed as a full-time employee company
secretary of the Group, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia,
providing updated and timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Ms. Mak has complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our Stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate social
responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our business
has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its role as a socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community wellbeing
from time to time, supports the communities and encourages its employees to
participate in any charitable events and caring services. Given the support from
the management, the Group built up a team of staff volunteers to get involved in
volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no change in the constitutional
document. The memorandum of association and the amended and restated bye-
laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company at
(www.hkex.com.hk) and (www.wyth.net), respectively.

Conclusion

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate governance
practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance the Company's
competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable
development and to generate greater returns for the Stakeholders.
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Report of the Directors

R

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale of traditional Chinese
and western pharmaceutical products, health food, personal care products,
property investment, management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets. Details of which are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
During the year, there were no significant changes in the nature of the Group'’s
principal activities, except for the acquisition of agricultural produce exchange
business completed in February 2020.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the Group's financial
position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
126 to 130.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a revenue and profit
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately HK$620.7 million
(2019: HK$751.4 million) and approximately HK$95.8 million (2019: HK$74.6 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). No interim dividend was made for the six months
ended 30 September 2019 (for the six month ended 30 September 2018: Nil).

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the businesses
of the Group, including, among other things, the information set out below, are
disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to 33 of this
annual report:

(@)  afairreview of the Group's business;

(b)  principal risk factors;

(©)  ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d)  future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance of the

Group are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on
pages 40 to 75 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the Company
during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in
notes 34 to 35 to the financial statements, respectively.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements, is set out on page 288 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of the
Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of
their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company had arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
other officers of the Group for the year.

Distributable Reserves

At 31 March 2020, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution to equity
holders of the parent, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HK$198.9 million (2019:
approximately HK$173.1 million).
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S

Directors

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, $8s, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas

Ms. Tang Mui Fun

Ms. Tang Wai Man

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang
Mui Fun and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all INEDs,
namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and Mr. Li
Ka Fai, David, and as at the date of this annual report still considers them to be
independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 35 to 39 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 8 and 44 to the financial statements, no Directors or a
connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, the holding Company of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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Report of the Directors

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a business,
apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules during the year.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares or Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO or the Model Code under Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporation, Wang On:

(a) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of Director

R

ER YIS TR S Fd

RIE EMRAIESI0E  FREERESEHY
BB A i A R AN 52 (B EE RSB AR S T RE B AR
HEXBERE CES(REEEBRINES
W

SR A A ) B LM BB T 1
o ~ R B e A o et v 2
i RIRA

R-B-THE=B=1+—0 EERAL
BIRABR HEE EZEH%%AiW
ARTSAETIEE (TR RESREE
BEBIZXVED) 211D - B K iR
EARAAD ARIBES R E PIE35215
BB BN - SRBES R GPIEXY
B L RAZ BAFAE RTAGARTR
WSS 2 R BOAR T -

REABRAEBEBRZEBRZHA

(a) RERAZBRZHRE

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s total

Number of shares issued share capital

AR BB RITRE

(b)

BEEgA RBEE BERPEDLE
%
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1) 715,322,940 58.08 (Note 2)
BB S () (B15t2)
Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On, an associated (b) RARAMEBEIBEERZNEERZH
corporation of the Company: B

Approximate

percentage of

Wang On'’s total

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares issued share capital

HEREBITRA

EEpE AEERE R EE BESNE DL

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1) Wang On 9,984,356,772 57.39 (Note 3)

BB S () NS (B15£3)
ITEHEZERERA

_—\,_vﬁiiﬁ
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S

(c)

Notes:

m

Wit :

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho is taken to be interested in the interests of the (1)

RIERE S RIE GG - EREEAE

Company as he is taken to be interested in an aggregate of 9,984,356,772 shares in Wang
On, representing approximately 57.39% of all the issued Wang On'’s shares, by virtue of
his own beneficial shareholding, the shareholding interests of his spouse in Wang On,
the shareholding interests of a company wholly and beneficially owned by him, and his
deemed interests by virtue of being the founder of Tang's Family Trust. Wang On is taken
to be interested in the interests in shares held by Rich Time Strategy Limited ("Rich Time").
Rich Time, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, which was the beneficial
owner of 715,322,940 shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Tang Ching Ho was deemed to
be interested in 715,322,940 shares of the Company held by Wang On for the sole purpose
of Part XV of the SFO.

(2) The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at 31 March 2020 was 1,231,642,888 shares.

(3) The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares
of Wang On as at 31 March 2020 was 17,397,520,047 shares.

Long positions in underlying shares of share options of Easy One, an
associated corporation of the Company:

(c)

EEBEAGESRERE - KB
RERzBE  —BH2EEEHE
Z RRIRERBERBRRIEETL
BN AR VEHE A 2 i MR A
R R L6 $£9,984,356,772 i A% 15 70 1
B E2MOBTELTROLD
57.39% « MBI EER AR R RES
W o REHE YERRich Time Strategy
Limited ([ Rich Time |) &8 2 % {7 &
BEER - Rch Tme AELZ 2 B2
BEH AR - WAAKART15322,940
BRHzE=EEA - Bt - E5E
BERPEEPIEXNVEME - BF
TEEWRERRLRIEAZART
715,322, 940B BRAD R B i 2k ©

2 ZEOLERNEEIERRARE
—EF=ZRA=F+—AZEBBITRGE
£1,231,642,8880 XD 2 B L °

€) ZEDHERGHEEIERLER_E=

TF=ZA=1+—RAZBEHTRHEH
17,397,520,047& 80 2 B LE ©

REQRREBLEZ ZEBRENER
B 2EFRE -

Approximate
percentage of
Easy One's
Number of Number of total issued
Exercise price  share options  Exercisable underlying share capital
Name of Director Date of grant per Share outstanding period shares (Note 4)
HE5E
ERITRAEE
i RATHE BABESH
BRTEE BREZE HERGHA
HKS
BT
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas ~ 23.2.2018 048 4,600,000  23.02.2018- 4,600,000 083
22.02.2025
BRIRER 5 —TN\F —TN\F
—A=+=H —A=+=H
FIECRE
—A=+=H
Note: Bist
(4 The percentage represented the number of shares over the total issued share capital of () ZAEDLEROCBELIEIER-Z

ZEF=ZA=+—HBRITRALH
556,432,500l /% 19 2 B Dt ©

Easy On as at 31 March 2020 was 556,432,500 shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had registered
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option scheme
previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 18 September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) and the adoption
of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of
providing incentive and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Upon termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share
options was granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior
to the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013
Scheme became effective on 22 August 2013 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period of 10
years from that date.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director
or proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee, any
holder of securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group or any
substantial shareholder or company controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any
company controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes
of participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants to
subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot
of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the offer
date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

ST
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Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any shares
issued on the exercise of share options. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any
other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as
at the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each Participant
(except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their respective associates)
under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the number
of shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by shareholders with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting. Share options granted to a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of their
respective associates) must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who
is the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) will result in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options
already granted and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each date
of grant, in excess of HKS5 million, such further grant of share options is required
to be approved by shareholders in a general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be
approved by shareholders. The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the
official closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a business day; (i)
the average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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Report of the Directors

Details of the movements of the share options under the 2003 Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2020 were as follows:

R

F=
=

R

E-TCEE=A=+—BLFEE =%
i%ﬁ'%HIETZﬁﬁHﬂE BT

Number of share options
o w0
Name or Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding Exercisable
category of asat during during during asat Exercise price  period
Participant 1 April 2019 the year the year theyear 31March2020  Date of grant pershare  (Note)
RZB-7F RZB=%%
mA—-H EfS = s
SRENZAER HATTE ERERHE fI FREBAN HATE  REAH BREE  (WH)
HKS
BT
Other employees 17,238 - - (701) 16537 1252010 74197 1252011
11.5.2020
HtEE —T-%F —2—F
nAt+=H nAtzRZ
kSl -4
fif+-A
Total 17,238 - - (701) 16,537
3t
Note: et -

The share options granted under the 2003 Scheme were vested as follows:

On the Tst anniversary of the date of grant: 30% vested
On the 2nd anniversary of the date of grant: Further 30% vested
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 40% vested

During the year under review, no share option was granted and outstanding under
the 2013 Scheme. Apart from 701 share options lapsed under the 2003 Scheme, no
share options under the 2003 Scheme were exercised during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 16,537 share options
outstanding under the 2003 Scheme. The exercise in full of these share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
16,537 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
approximately HK$165.37 and share premium of HK$122,534.21 (before expenses).

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.3% of
the Company’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2003 Scheme and the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 35
to the financial statements.

RFE-ZLE=FF R A ZBEERN T HHEBE
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The Share Option Scheme(s) of CAP

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the "CAP 2012
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible
persons (the “CAP Participants”’) to take up options for their contribution to the
Group. Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP may grant
share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for the shares of CAP (the "CAP
Share(s)") for a consideration of HKS1 for each lot of share options granted. The
exercise price is to be determined by its board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the official closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day;
(i) the average of the official closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a CAP Share.

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any CAP
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the CAP Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial shareholders of CAP
or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the shareholders of CAP. The CAP
2012 Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in force for a period
of 10 years. There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but its board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular
option. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by
the board of CAP at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for
a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the board of
CAP may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP Shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2012
Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.

Since the adoption of the CAP 2012 Scheme and up to 31 March 2020, no option
had been granted. As at the date of this annual report, the total number of CAP
Shares available for issue under the CAP 2012 Scheme is 995,306,782, representing
10% of the existing issued share capital of CAP.

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.
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Report of the Directors

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the share
option scheme disclosures in note 35 to the financial statements, at no time during
the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, or
underlying shares in, or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the register of
substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO showed that the following shareholders (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had notified the Company and the Stock Exchange of
relevant interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders

Rich Time (Note 1)

Rich Time(#7:#1)

Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE") (Note 1)
Wang On Enterprises (BV) Limited([WOEJ) (#7z#1)
Wang On (Note 1)

BR (1)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2)

HEB R (HE2)

Number of shares

R

S P o e it 2 A

BEXEZERERTRARRARALEMR
BoxBE Rl - AR SERERE 2 K%
BRI EAER 8] B AT EEE M T R
FE3SPTHEEE Z B AR RIS - N R ERIE
Ml REFRRERAIBEBRARFFLAL
B SITE AR A R A B i) SR RE AR (D
o EREE MR 2 R - AR R E A RIB
J&E 72 B IV AT SLAEAR] 22 BT {52 & =5 A OB (T4
HityE ANEEZ GRIER) -

32 BB SR B oy B R R Ty v
ZHELR R
R-ZT-TF=A=+—H BEFHEA
RATRES LA EPIEDBREEXE
BEBEMET - FHBRE(AANEFLT
B HBIN) BB AR T R R AR
TR 15 RABRIRRID 2 AERBAERS Bk

RAEQXTRBOERE -

Approximate
percentage of

the Company'’s total
issued share capital

(Note 3)

LA TS BT
RABEHRAOET S
(H1#3)

%

715,322,940 58.08
715,322,940 58.08
715,322,940 58.08
715,322,940 58.08

T BT AR A
ZETFFR
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Notes:

1. Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On,
beneficially owned 715,322,940 shares of the Company. WOE and Wang On are taken to be
interested in 715,322,940 shares of the Company held by Rich Time.

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, was
interested as stated above in the sub-paragraph headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations”.

3 The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares of the
Company as at 31 March 2020 of 1,231,642,888 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there were no other persons who
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, the following transactions continued to be continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

(@ On 19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the following office sub-licensing agreements
for a term commencing from 18 September 2016 and expiring on 17 July
2019 which were renewed for further three years commencing from 18 July
2019 and expiring on 17 July 2022:

(i) Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management
Services Limited ("WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F., Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a
monthly fee of HK$188,940 (up to 17 July 2019) which was increased
to HK$193,375 (from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end of the
tenancy agreement), together with other monthly expenses (including
management fee and air-conditioning charge, rates and Government
rent, subject to annual increment); and
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Report of the Directors

(ii) WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties Services
Limited ("WOPS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP, to sub-
lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of HK$414,672 (up
to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$425,745 (from 18 July 2019
onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement), together with other
monthly expenses (including management fee and air-conditioning
charge, rates and Government rent, subject to annual increment).

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate office sub-licensing fee
received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to HK$9,929,759,
which were within the prescribed caps, as disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 19 September 2016 and 17 July 2019, respectively; and

on 30 November 2018, WYT Medicine, an indirect subsidiary of the Company,
as the supplier, and Wang On Management Limited ("WOM”"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, as the purchaser, entered into a new
master sales agreement for supplying Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
products, health food and personal care products by the Group to WOM (for
itself and on behalf of other members of Wang On) for the three financial
years ending 31 March 2021 at annual caps of HK$9.8 million, HK$9.9 million
and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During the year, total sales proceeds
received by the Group from WOM was HK$8,817,692 which were within the
prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9 million.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that the

abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the

ordinary and usual course of the Group's business; (ii) in accordance with the terms
of the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole; (jii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and (iv) have not
exceeded the respective caps.
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group'’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business during the year under review, which fell under
Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Connected Transaction

On 2 May 2019, the Company, through its subsidiary, namely Wai Yuen Tong
(Retail) Limited (as the tenant), entered into a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy
Agreement’) with Vincent Investments Limited (as the landlord), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of WOP for a shop located at a retail shop, Ground Floor of Ladder
Dundas, Nos. 575 and 575A Nathan Road, Kowloon for a term of three years from 1
May 2019 to 30 April 2022 (both days inclusive) at a monthly rental of HK$380,000
(exclusive of rates and management charge). The tenancy agreement constituted
a connected transaction for the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020
which is exempt from annual review and shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules,
during the year are set out in note 44 to the financial statements. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which
need to be disclosed as continuing connected transaction in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Emolument Policy

The Group'’s emolument policy for its employees is set up and approved by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration Committee
and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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Report of the Directors

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual general
meeting held on 22 August 2013, as an incentives to Directors and eligible
employees, details of the 2013 Scheme are set out in Note 35 to the financial
statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2020, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than approximately 22.3% (2019: approximately 17.6%) of the
Group's total sales and the sales to the Group's largest customer included therein
accounted to approximately 6.9% (2019: approximately 8.2%).

During the year, the largest supplier accounted for approximately 14.5% (2019:
approximately 10.7%) of the Group's purchases and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 36.7% (2019: approximately 28.6%) of the
Group's purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director or any of their associates or a shareholder
of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5%
of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’'s five
largest customers or the largest suppliers.

Disclosures Pursuant to Rules 13.12 and 13.20 of the
Listing Rules

The Group through Winning Rich, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, advanced an aggregate outstanding principal amount of HK$920.0
million to CAP by way of (i) subscription of up to an aggregate principal amount of
HK$720.0 million of the 2019 CAP Bonds pursuant to the subscription agreement
dated 4 October 2014 (as supplemented on 28 November 2014) entered into,
among others, CAP, Winning Rich and Double Leads Investments Limited (‘Double
Leads’), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On; and (ii) acquisition
of HK$200.0 million of the 2019 CAP Bonds from Double Leads, pursuant to the
agreement dated 5 July 2016 (as supplemented on 8 July 2016) entered into
between Winning Rich, Double Leads and Wang On.

As at 1 April 2019, CAP was indebted an aggregate principal sum of HK$700.0
million to Winning Rich. During the year under review, CAP repaid a principal sum of
HK$175.0 million. As at 27 November 2019, Winning Rich granted a new loan to CAP
in the principal amount of HK$525.0 million for a term of three years at an intrest
rate of 10% per annum under the loan agreement dated 26 September 2019 for
the purpose of refinancing the outstanding indebtedness of CAP owed to Winning
Rich under the 2019 CAP Bonds, details of which were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2019 and 27 November 2019 respectively.
Immediately upon completion of the CAP Acquisition, CAP became a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations totaling
approximately HK$1.8 million (2019: approximately HK$0.5 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
financial year under review, except for the deviation of the code provision A.5.1
of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 76 to 99 of this
annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year under
review and up to the date of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr.
Cho Wing Mou, all of them are the INEDs, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met twice with the management and the
external auditor to review and consider, among other things, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, the financial report matters
(including the review of audited consolidated financial statement for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and the consolidated interim results for the six-month
ended 30 September 2019), the statutory compliance, internal controls and risk
management, continuing connected transactions and the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function as well as their training programmes and budget. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020 with the independent auditor and the management of the
Company.
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Report of the Directors

Events After the Reporting Period

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
note 49 to the financial statements.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 have been audited
by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
M) S A% B R
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To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 126 to 286, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMOEF MR ERRETEE

BREtER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZ1GE

The Group holds various investment properties in Hong  Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
Kong and mainland China for rental earning purposes. Such  properties included the following:
investment properties are measured at fair value at the end  HfiFHEREMEAEZ BT REFEREATEE

of each reporting period and the aggregate carrying amount
of these investment properties was HK$3,190,791,000 as at 31
March 2020, which represented approximately 41% of the total
assets of the Group.

EEBENEERTEAMISE ZEREYEURNIES - AR
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This is identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the fair values of the
investment properties, which reflect market conditions at the
end of the reporting period. Management of the Company
engaged external valuers to perform the valuation of these
investment properties as at 31 March 2020 and in the absence
of current prices in an active market for similar properties,
the external valuers considered information from a variety of
sources such as current prices of properties of similar locations
and conditions.
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREYELE 2 ST BRI BEESRNEGE B mERM 24
3Kk14 -

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuers engaged by the Group;
BEELRENH BREEEZINMEERMIREZ HER

=

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience
and expertise and considering their competence,
objectivity and independence; and

FHEINB BRI B1% - KEBREEMBIZEELES
BEEIERBEME 0 R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

B B
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BANEANIEERRENSEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
Y - B RREZ R ETE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) before current year
impairment of HK$975,105,000, which relate to the cash-
generating units (“CGUs") of Chinese pharmaceutical and health
food products and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products. Given that the operating results of both CGUs were
loss-making for the current year, management of the Company
performed an impairment assessment of the related property,
plant and equipment to determine their recoverable amounts
based on either their value in use or fair values less costs of
disposal.

RZZEZZEF=RA=1+—H EBEEERFEPELRBRREME
mMAERERRMERZReELBM([ReEESEM])HEH
B - BE R FE (B EER#EEE)I75,105,0007% T (HIBRZA
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During the year, an impairment of HK$81,813,000 was
recognised against these property, plant and equipment.
RER - ERZEWE - BB RREHERRES813,00048 7T °
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For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations,
our audit procedures included the following:
MATEERBEETREN AN S - RMINEAEFBEAUAT
BIE

enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections, such
as the revenue growth rates and gross margins, and
comparing them to historical information and our
understanding of the latest market information and
conditions;

MEBES AR SRIEARER 2 BARRZ (AL RE
KT ) W% BT ER A 0 B 958 R R B IR 52 i e Tk P9 T =l
A5 {5 B AR H BR AR AT L8R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the methodologies and the discount
rates used to determine the recoverable amounts; and
BEBEMORNIBEEER BRI EEE e e FEP
FRZAERTRE &

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of the Group’s
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
in the consolidated financial statements.

HEYE BEEEGEMBWMERTYE  BERREIRE
A RERD TR °



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R

R S 2 = 0H ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREt SR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (continued)

Y - B RR B RE ()

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key audit
matter due to the materiality of the carrying values of the
property, plant and equipment, and the significant judgements
and estimations involved in the assessment of their recoverable
amounts.

M - BE RBEREE 2 EZ MR EE AT E SR &
BAHE R AhE - FURER A5 A TR E1E -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
impairment of property, plant and equipment are included in
notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
AW - BERJRERESZ STBUR RBEBH NGRS P EHRE
MizE24 ~ 3%13 -

BEMOEFNMEERRETEE

For impairment assessments using the fair value less costs of
disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment, our
audit procedures included the following:
HARTFEREEREYE - BE KR EHKAE TR ER
= BMEAREFRBEATEIE

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
BiEhENG S5EEZREZIMNIEEMARR HER

.
=

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence, objectivity
and independence; and

FHEINEDEER 2 B1R - KB R EENBIL B
FEM B Rk

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
BHEBMOANBEEERBBEMTEEERER 2 GE
T A SRR 2 RASR BRa% R Akt ©

LB BT RR AR A A
T _TFFIR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A B e

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

R S 2 = 0H ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B B

Impairment assessment of investment in an associate
P—[EB & 2 BIRE R E AT I

As at 31 March 2020, the Group held a 29.06% interest in a
listed associate, Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One”),
before current year impairment, with a carrying amount of
HK$316,550,000. As the market value of Easy One’s shares
held by the Group as at 31 March 2020 was significantly lower
than the then carrying amount of the Group's investment in
Easy One, there was an impairment indicator on the Group's
investment in Easy One.

RZZZZTF=A=+—H  BEERLTHERARZIZH=S
MEEERAR( S 5T 1) FE29.06% s (HRAFEHRE
A1) - BREI{E /31655000087 - BRZZE=_TF=A=+—
H BSfEFENZSIERGOzTERER BEEERRSS
TREZEEE X ESERSHSIREFRETR -

Accordingly, management of the Company has performed
an impairment assessment on its investment in Easy One
using a value in use calculation to determine its recoverable
amount. This is identified as a key audit matter because the
value in use calculation was based on the discounted cash flow
method which was complex and required management to use
significant judgements and make assumptions which were
affected by future market or economic conditions.

Bt - EAREREHERNSSHE 2 REETHER G - ZER
BEREATEEABEISRE - (tIHE R —BERETFEHIRA®
REAEDRITRRSRAEATE - kA EZBAEMIT AR EEE
YEH 2 RIS AR BRI 7 22 B0 B K B S R % ©

During the year, an impairment of HK$8,737,000 was recognised
against the investment in Easy One.
RER - ERR S HE 2 IREERIMIES,737,000/8 7T ©

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
investment in the associate are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17
to the consolidated financial statements.

AR E N BIRE 2 G BR REEH NG E W RERM T
24~3K17 -
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BMOEFNAEERRETEE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment assessment of
the investment in Easy One included the following:
BIRHER 2 S =R E 2 BB A 2 B R FBHEA T RIA

enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projection, such
as the revenue growth rate and gross margin, and
comparing them to historical information and our
understanding of the latest market information and
conditions; and

MERES ARSI ER 2 BARRZ (AL RE
KBTI ) I AT ER A ) B 958 R R B 5 B e R P Aol
i s B AR A IR AREATLLE « &

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the methodology and the discount
rate used to determine the recoverable amount.
BHERMORNBEEER BB M EEE K EeFES
R Z BERSTIRE -



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

B B

Independent Auditor’s Report
R R

R S 2 = 0H ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BANEANIEERRENSEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

RIRF YR RIFIEL EYRZ AJEH)F(E

The Group's properties under development and properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. As
at 31 March 2020, the aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
properties under development and properties held for sale was
HK$1,942,311,000, which represented approximately 25% of the
total assets of the Group.

BEEE 2 BRERYERFHED S YRR AN E ] T EREF
REREIER - RZZ-TF=A=1+—H ' BSEERTVER
BEHEMEZ BRMEEA1,942311,00087T ' h ESEBE
EE#I25% ©

Significant estimation is required to determine the net realisable
value of the properties under development and properties
held for sale, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period. Management of the Company engaged an
external valuer to perform the valuations of these properties
under development and properties held for sale as at 31 March
2020.
EERRTYERFIELEME 2 AT E R FEREHEAME
HuRMBFERRzTGHRR o ERREEER-_T-_TF=
A=+—BZBIINMEEMEZSERTYELFIELE YRS
fIfhME -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
properties under development and properties held for sale are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BAZRTYERFELENE 2 @t RR MBS RS 5
wEMIFE24 - 3 19K%20 °

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties held for sale
included the following:

HPFH R YE R ELENE A Z T FE 2 B IRFEE
ATHIE :

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
BiEhENG S5EEZREZIMNIEEMARR HER

=y

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence, objectivity
and independence; and

FHEINDAEER 2 1R - KB R EEMBILZEEELT -
FEM B Rk

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
BHEBMOANBEEERBBEMTEEERER 2 GE
T A SRR 2 RASR BRa% R Akt ©

LB BT RR AR A A
T _TFFIR
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A B e

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
s0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

8 7 A% i o

A B Bl R 7 WA 0 S R R I
AR AT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A B e

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

30 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao o 4H 2 S LAt 2 v WA A AR

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE T -_ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B TR FHT
REVENUE & 5 620,741 751,443
Cost of sales SHERKA (339,165) (449,915)
Gross profit EAH| 281,576 301,528
Other income and gains, net HAbW A RS - 58 5 498,048 115,671
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (233,238) (281,769)
Administrative expenses TBAX (178,229) (166,170)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) 81754 E (B &5 B B~
on financial assets, net ORERE) « 55 6 (16,013) 82,767
Other expenses HibF (93,487) (6,205)
Finance costs BB R 7 (56,697) (28,553)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets and BRAFELES AR MBEE
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, net ez A FEKE
(&E18) - F58 (7,323) 593
Fair value gains/(losses) on owned investment BRREMEZ ATFERS
properties, net (E18) - 55 14 (99,198) 17,445
Share of profits and losses of associates AaEEE R Rl A R EE 15,177 46,387
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AR 6 110,616 81,694
Income tax expense FTS Rt 2 10 (17,199) (7,448)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE R F 93,417 74,246
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao o 1R A S At i g

Year ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020
—E-BF

Notes HK$’000
BiaE FET

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit 2 EEE

Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to  ATEE R E B E 3T 7 452

2019
—Z-NF
HKS$'000
Tt

profit or loss in subsequent periods: B E M EEER -
Debt investments at fair value through other RN EEEMPERRARZ
comprehensive income: ERFIRE
Changes in fair value NTHEES) (16,428) (2,019)
Reclassification adjustments for gains/losses FTABZEZ N EiErE
included in profit or loss: O
— Impairment losses/(reversal of —REEECREREIE
impairment losses) @) 6 10,165 (80,353)
- Gain on disposal/redemption, net — & EE 2z s
FE 5 (100,078) (1,179)
(106,341) (83,551)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates LBt A F 2 B2 EESE (13,093) (26917)
Translation reserve: I‘:Rﬁﬁﬁ
Translation of foreign operations BMEBINETS (83,845) (13,326)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be AIRERE R ENR SRR
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Bz B2 EEEFE
periods (203,279) (123,794)
Other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified #72RE E BIRE# 7482
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: a2 B2 EEE
Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate & —fEEE & A Bz Hi 2 E
i) (6,331) (4,240)
Equity investments at fair value through other RATAEGEM R AR
comprehensive income: IR A
Changes in fair value NTEES) (35,522) (39,296)
Deferred tax IRIERITE 33 1,832 3,521
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be HTERERBEERHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Bmz At 2 EEERE
periods (40,021) (40,015)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEERBAHMEZEESR
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (243,300) (163,809)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEZHEBIBEE
FOR THE YEAR (149,883) (89,563)
T EEXIERERA
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao o 1R i e At 2 g

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE T -_ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHIT
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AN AT RIS, (B18) -
Owners of the parent ISUNCIEZZS PN 95,823 74,627
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR (2,406) (381)
93,417 74,246
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: ITNATEEEEEEERE
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZZS PN (137,829) (88,025)
Non-controlling interests eIk (12,054) (1,538)
(149,883) (89,563)
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEEREEAEMN
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BRER
OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted ER NS HK7.78 cents HK5.98 cents
7.78784 5.98711l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fo o BB IR L A

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —N&F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FERT FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B REE 13 974,940 957,323
Investment properties "EYIZF 14 3,190,791 558,000
Net investments in subleases DIEIRE TR 15 9,619 =
Investments in associates REERNRZTRE 17 314,033 329,584
Financial assets at fair value through BRA T ELH 2 W ARR
other comprehensive income TSR E 18 125,100 228,623
Deposits e 24 19,905 21,702
Deferred tax assets IRIETTE & B 33 48 10,122
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 4,634,436 2,105,354
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Properties under development ERAPYE 19 297,146 —
Properties held for sale FEHEWE 20 1,645,165 =
Inventories T8 21 154,890 161,508
Trade receivables B S reIE 22 67,302 92,210
Loans and interest receivables U E & FE 23 68,250 24,031
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFIE - Bzﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬂg%?ﬁﬁ 24 249,376 46,298
Net investments in subleases HIEREFRE 15 10,526 =
Financial assets at fair value through RN ELE 2R AR
other comprehensive income LG RE 18 48,120 710,788
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss R AFELIEZSAE 2 S5 EE 25 56,675 21,289
Tax recoverable AT eI 14,438 1,157
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIERITAERR 26 8,157
Cash and cash equivalents HRekIReERER 26 475,702 171,209
3,095,747 1,228,490
Assets classified as held for sale SERFELENEE 27 - 120,826
Total current assets BRENEE 3,095,747 1,349,316
CURRENT LIABILITIES HREBEE
Trade payables B H N IR 28 66,709 35,959
Other payables and accruals H e RIE R ETER 29 1,188,483 100,741
Contract liabilities EHEaE 29 548,829 7,098
Financial liabilities at fair value through BRATELER AR ZHMBEE
profit or loss 25 621
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHRIRITREMEER 31 653,127 232,290
Tax payable JERI B IR 58,006 4,896
2,515,775 380,984
Liabilities directly associated with the assets HEARARHELENEERRE
classified as held for sale izl E0R=Ni 27 - 361
Total current liabilities FEVEIR=RI 2,515,775 381,345
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEESE 579,972 967,971
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERABEE 5,214,408 3,073,325

G T



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A AT A BIR DAk

31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

2020 2019
et St 222 —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAxT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBAE 5,214,408 3,073,325
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Other payables H AR RIB 29 81,586 1,883
Unsecured bonds and notes EEAESRER 30 181,220 =
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHEIRITREMBEER 31 716,598 619,937
Convertible notes AR IR 32 249,814 =
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBE & 33 633,916 3,416
Total non-current liabilities RIERBEE 1,863,134 625,236
Net assets BEFE 3,351,274 2,448,089
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 F#EHE AEEER
Issued capital BEITIRA 34 12,316 12316
Reserves (e 36 2,287,745 2,431,802
2,300,061 2444118
Non-controlling interests FEFEA R 1,051,213 3,971
Total equity AR 3,351,274 2,448,089
Tang Ching Ho Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
B PR 4% R
Director Director
s 3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - -ZTF=F=+—HItFE

Share Contrib p on s Other

premium

At1 April 2018 R=F-\FNA-A 12651 2116420 (277150) 275693 332 3200 359 1501 179080 49049 28014 (97,050) 2542099 5509 2547608
Proft{loss) for the year REREH/(BB) - - - - - - - = - = - 74627 4607 (381) 74246

Other comprehensive REEEBRENES/
income/loss)fortheyear.  (§5f8) :

Financil asses atfi BATEEANEE

value through other WENE2EHE

comprehenive ncome: E:
Changes in airvlue, NTEED
net oftax HRHE _ - = = 2 - - - 209 35775) = = (37,794 = (37,794)
Reclssficaton ARz K/
adjustment for gains/ ((basiv
(losses) included in i
profitorloss
~Reversal of -HEBRED
impairment
[osses = = = = = = = = (80393) = = = (80393) = (80393)
- Gain on disposal/ -l /BEZ
redemption, et Wi BE = - - - - - - - (1179 - - - 1179) = (1179
Share ofother AEHERTLER
compehensieincome/ 2T/ (B8
(loss) of associates = - = - - (27435) - 518 - (4240) - - (31,157) = (31157)
Trenslaton resenve: ExfE
Bchangedffeenceson  AEBIFHHE
translaton of foreign EZEREE
el _ B : - - ) - - - - - - ) G 50
Total comprefensive RER2EkS/
incomeffoss)fortheyear  (RStE)4E - - - - - (39604) - 518 6351 o) - T4 (68025) (1539) (89563)
Shares repuichased and BERTERR
cancelled U (339 (9621) - - - - - - - - - - 6256) - e,
Fofetwreandexpiationol ~ BRERKRER
share options = - - - (46) B - - - - - 146 - - -
At31 March 2019 RIZ-NE
=A=t-R 12316 2106799 (271507 275,693 86* (36404 359+ 2019 95,529 9034 8014 @i 2444118 391 2448089

AR AR
T azwerg 131



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE T -_ZF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAARAARE
Fair value Retained
Share Fair value reserve Asset profits/ Non-
Issued Share Special ~ Contributed option  Translation Reserve Other reserve (non-  revaluation (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve funds reserve  (recycling)  recycling) reserve losses) interests equity
AVERE ATERRE & REEA
BRRA  RMEE  KARE  REERR BRERE  EXRE  REEE  HeRE (TR (FTME)  ERER  (RHER) FRRER i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiEr FEn T T Tér FEn Tin T FEn T TiEr T Tin
Notes (note 34) (note34)  (note36(i)) (note 36(ii)) (note 36(iv))  (note 36(iii))
Wi (WEse)  (Kise)  (Kise)  (Kiakseli) (Rriteiv))  (e&Ealii)
At31 March 2019 RIF-NE
=f=t-H 12,316 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 86 (36,404) 359 2,019 95,529 9,034 28,014 (22177) 2444118 397 2,448,089
Fffect o adoption of RABEHHRE
HKFRS 16 BEZEHYE 0 - - - - - - - - - - - (6,228) (6,228) (13) (6,243)
AT Apr 2019 (estated)  H=F-NE
A-R(&EZ3) 12,316 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 86 (36,404) 359 2,019 95,529 9,034 28,014 (28,405) 2,437,890 3,956 2,441,846
Proftloss fortheyear AR/ (B1B) - - - - - - - - - - - 95,823 95,823 (2,406) 93417
Other comprehensive FEREMZE
ncome/{oss) for & /(E8):
the year.
Financial asetsatfar RATESER
value through other RENEARL
comprehensive BiaE :
Income:
Changes n fair value, ATEED
net of tax kA - - - - - - - - (16,428) (33,690) - - (50,118) - (50,118)
Reclasification HABRZ
adjustrment for Wi/ (i)
gains/(osses) JENAE
included in profitor a:
loss
- Impairment osses -REER - - - - - - - - 10,165 - - - 10165 - 10,165
- G on disposal/ ~ibe/REZ
tedemption, Wi B8
net - - - - - - - - (100,078) - - - (100,078) - (100,078)
Share of other AEWRRTLZ
compehensivelossof  EHZEEE
associates - - - - - (13,093) - - - (6,331) - - (19,424) - (19,424)
Transltion resenve: B :
Eichange diferences BEENER
on tenslaton of FELZER
foreign operation 28 - - - - - () - - - - - - () (9648)  (83845)
Total comprehensive RER2EkE/
income/(loss) for (EE)E
the year - - - - - (87,290) - - (106,341) (40,021) - 95,823 (137,829) (12,054) (149,883)
Acquisiion of subsidiaries  EAHIBAR 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1059311 105931
Forfeture of share options TR - - - - 8 - - - - - - 3 - - -
At31 March 2020 S 3
=A=t-H 12,316 2,106,799* (27,1500 275,693 83* (123,694)* 359* 2,019* (10,812)* (30,987)* 28,014 67,421 2,300,061 1,051,213 3,351,274
e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,287,745,000 (2019: 2 ZEREREORGEAMBMRREERFHN

HK$2,431,802,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A BleinER

Year ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z-—ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
it 23 —T-NEF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTER FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEEMBRELRE
Profit before tax KA m A 110,616 81,694
Adjustments for: ERBATEE
Finance costs N 7 56,697 28,553
Interest income on loans receivables FEME R 2 M EHA 5 (9,922) (4,203)
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BRATELEBEE \NRZMBEE
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair RRAFESEM 2N
value through other comprehensive income AR B EZFIERA 5 (61,386) (90,528)
Interest income on bank deposits RITERLZFEHA 5 (5,541) (1,208)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value through RERAFELE M2 EE
other comprehensive income N2 B E RS 5 (4,371) (3,145)
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets and BATEKLER AR ZMBEE
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, net RBEZATEEE/
(Meas) - %8 7,323 (593)
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt investmentsat ~ H& /BEERAFELEL 2 H
fair value through other comprehensive income W \BR 2 EISRE 2 Wz 5 (100,078) (1,179)
Gain on disposal of an investment property HE—THREME 2 W 5 (7,464) -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZER 6 2,937 =
Provisional gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries ~ HEEENBA T2 EE S 5 (230,844) =
Fair value losses/(gains) on owned investment BRREMEZ ATEER/
properties, net (Meas) + F5 14 99,198 (17,445)
Fair value losses on sub-leased investment DRREME 2 R TEEE
properties 14 662 -
Accrued rent-free rental income st REESKA 14 10 357
Finance income on net investments in subleases DIRBEFE 2 AR 15 (1,059) =
Depreciation of owned assets FEEENE 13 50,768 51,323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 13 61,906 =
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) W% - BB KREE B RIEE
on items of property, plant and equipment B/ CREsERm) 13 81,813 (1,495)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant HEME - BFEREEEE 2
and equipment &8,/ (z) 6 (56,306) 4
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) HBAEREER(RESE
on financial assets, net #E) - FE 6 16,013 (82,767)
Allowance for obsolete inventories BREFESEE 6 9,567 0,454
Impairment of goodwill RERE 16 - 7,700
Impairment of investment in an associate K-S AR 2 RERE 17 8,737 -
Share of profits and losses of associates DS A AR R EE (15,177) (46,387)
14,099 (69,865)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD,(5m) (2,860) 12,213
Increase in properties under development ERAMELM (12,261) =
Increase in properties held for sale FrEH E ML M (1,723) =
Decrease in trade receivables B Z NG IER S 19,880 17482
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BAFIE « Ze REMEKFIE
deposits and other receivables wD,/(38hn) (11,681) 40,289
Decrease in trade payables B S ENTIER S (17,182) (24,694)
Increase in contract liabilities EHBEEM 24,917 =
Decrease in other payables and accruals H eI R ERT B AR (47,876) (2419)
Cash used in operations REmARE (34,687) (26,994)
Proceeds from subleases SIS RIE 15(ii) 11,606 =
Interest received on bank deposits RITERZEWFE 5,541 1,208
Tax paid [RENEIZEE] (13,241) (847)
Net cash used in operating activities REXBA R %HE (30,781) (26,633)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A BlaiiaR

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE T -_ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-8& —T-NEF
HK$’000 HKS'000
T FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHMEESHE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment  EE#¥% - BE&&EEE (4,551) (15,400)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property, WEEMZ - BE REEER

plant and equipment ZEfRe (2,254) (1,570)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEKREBEE F

plant and equipment HE 142,950 =
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property HE—THREMEMEHE 18,464 -
Additions to investment properties N=Esd-LIES 14 (3,705) =
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEMB R RIFEHRE 40 148,723 =
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERATELERAR

profit or loss ZHTEEE (82,062) (18,786)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value ~ HER AT ELIBREALK

through profit or loss 2SR EmMS A 44,243 =
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERATECEMEEKEAR

other comprehensive income LR E (396,600) (163,146)
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt HE EEEAFEL

investments at fair value through other Hih 2 HEKE AR BBRE

comprehensive income FriS50E 588,584 220,000
Decrease in loan receivables RRERRA - 100,000
Decrease in restricted bank balances IR IR AR 754 =
Investments in associates REEE REZRE - (17,540)
Return of capital from an associate D= Rl /N e = P NE B 2,364 =
Dividends received from associates BUEE R RIRE 203 1,054
Interest received from loan receivables and RERKERRERIRE 2 2

debt investments A& 82,253 101,018
Dividends received from financial assets at fairvalue ~ REZRATFELE b2 E WS ALR

through other comprehensive income ZATEE 2 EWARE 4,37 3,145
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wb E A R 38 (118,500) =
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are not a business, net  WBEIEEFKIEE 2 B AT - F58 39 - (311,662)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities REERDHE/(FTR)RENE

HER 425,237 (102,887)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZDFERLTE
Shares repurchased graAEl 34 - (9.956)
New bank borrowings FEIRITREE 590,780 190,000
Repayments of bank borrowings ERBITEE (535,996) (264,790)
Redemption of unsecured bonds BREEEFES (26,000) =
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZ KRS (67,025) =
Interest paid BERHE (45,126) (28,553)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEHMAREREFE (83,367) (113,299)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND BeRALZERBEEM (RD)

CASH EQUIVALENTS HE 311,089 (242,819)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FozRekReERER 171,209 420,849
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEE) 2 T8 (6,596) (6,821)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF YEAR F#>B4RESZHER 475,702 171,209
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND BeRBLERER 2 EHRIT

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances R e KB 455,023 149,209

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of ~ REBERRIHAELIR=EAZ

less than three months when acquired EARIE BF R 20,679 22,000

475,702 171,209
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its head office
and principal place of business are both located at Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets (newly acquired in the current year)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On"), which
is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 25 A

31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AnREEERE)
Information about subsidiaries Mg AR 2 &R
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARAREEMBRARZFFENAT ¢

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
Place of Issued ordinary/ ARREERER DL
incorporation registered share Direct Indirect
and business capital H# 3 Principal
LB S R BRTLE/ 2020 2019 2020 2019 activities
ik AR ZBIEF T NF ZBIBF _T-NF FEER
Asia Brighter Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
Limited EE ERRIET MERE
HEREFRAR
Billion Good Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 99.79% Property holding
Limited Bk T2 T UESSE]
BERERRAR
China Agri-Products Bermuda Ordinary - - 53.37% - Investment holding
Exchange BRE HK$99,530,678 REER
Limited*/e/A (‘CAP") E3#0%99,530,67878 7T
HERERI HERAR
*en(HhERER])
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Provision of financial
EE ERERIABT service
RECRRS
Full Gainer Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Limited BE ERRIBT ESSEE
SRREERAR
Grand Quality Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Development B T@kET MERE
Limited
EHERBRAT
Good Excellent Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
BREARAR EE ERRIET ESSEE]
Info World Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
Limited BE EERIAT MERE
WA REERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A7 RHEEE R )
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M AR ZER ()
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) RRAREZMBAR ZFEMOT : (B)

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
Place of Issued ordinary/ ARAEERER AL
incorporation registered share Direct Indirect
and business capital Hf i Principal
SR R BRTLZE/ 2020 2019 2020 2019 activities
BB AR TBIBE TN BB T NF TEER
Luxembourg Medicine  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$933,313 - - 99.79% 99.79% Production and
Company Limited &8 EiBiR9333138 T sale of Westem
EREXEBRBRAR pharmaceutical and
health food products
HEREERERRE
RmER
Oriental Sino Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Investments Limited &7 ERRBTT NERE
(‘Oriental Sino”)
REREFRARA
(TRZ))
Precious Investments  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Limited (‘Precious &/ ERRBTT NERE

Investments”)

Sky Success Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100% Property investment and
HEBRAR BE TR BT holding
NERELSIA

Sino Fame Investments  Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100% Property investment
Limited EE ERRIBTT NERE

EAREERAR

Star Sense Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100% Property holding

AAEBRRA BE ERRIET WERE

Sunbo Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100% 100% Property investment
Limited EE EERIET MERE

RERABRAF

Topmate Investment ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Limited Bk ERERIABT UESSE]

EEREERAR

AR AR
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31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A7 RHEEE R )
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M AR ZER ()
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) RRAREZMBAR ZFEMOT : (B)

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
Place of Issued ordinary/ ARFEERER AL
incorporation registered share Direct Indirect
and business capital Ef# i Principal
SR R CRTLE/ 2020 2019 2020 activities
EEME AR “E-Ef —T-NF ZEBEZEF —T-NF FEEE
Total Smart Investments  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USD1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited EBRIES ERRIET REER
Wai Yuen Tong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100% 100% Property holding
Company Limited &% ERRBT NERSE
T ZBR AR
Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Macau Ordinary Macau Pataca - - 99.79% 99.79% Retail sale of Chinese
Limited R 25,000 pharmaceutical and
i E (R BRAR 8% 25,00089 7T health food products

TEFERRBRAER

Wai Yuen Tong (Retail)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - - 99.79% 99.79% Retail sale of Chinese
Limited B LR pharmaceutical and
UrE(TE)ERAR health food products

TERERRBRAER

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary HK$13417,374 - - 99.79% 99.79% Production and
Company Limited & Non-voting sale of Chinese
("WYT Medicine deferred shares™ pharmaceutical and
Company’) HK$17,373,750 health food products

T2 EHERAR LiBIR13417 374587 SEERHETERIRR
(M 2m]) BRRIERT RMEmM

{7**17,373,7507% 78
FMTEEERE People’s Republicof  Registered capital - = 99.79% 99.79% Retail sale and
BB AR China (the “PRC")/ Renminbi ("RMB") wholesale of Chinese
Mainland China 102,000,000 pharmaceutical and
FEAREME TMRAEARE health food products
(TE]),/=Emy (AR TERMBEPERRR
102,000,0007T RmER

BE(RINEEERER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 100% 100% Property holding
NI Mainland China HK$100,000,000 MERE

FE/ Bl A & 28100,000,000
BT
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AnREEERE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZE R (1E)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

rMRFEEER The PRC/ Registered capital - = 27.22%" - Agricultural produce
BRAReH Mainland China RMB61,220,000 exchange market
il FERARE operation
61,220,0007T BERERRH TS
READMRBIERKR  The PRC/ Registered capital - - 53.37% - Agricultural produce
BB AR Mainland China RMB88,500,000 exchange market
FE/ Bl A AR ARE operation
88,500,0007T KERERRH TS
FHEEREER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 34.69%" ~ Agricultural produce
#EMEERAR  Mainland China RMB76,230,000 exchange market
B/ R E At HEAARE operation and
76,230,0007T property sales
BEREMRHTHR
MEHE
IMEEDRER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 53.37% - Agricultural produce
BR AR Mainland China RMB320,000,000 exchange market
L/l At AR ARE operation and
320,000,0007c property sales
BEREMRSHTHR
ES S
FMBERBIERSLE  The PRC/ Registered capital - = 53.37% - Agricultural produce
s ERRRe Mainland China RMB450,000,000 exchange market
B/l AR ARE operation and
450,000,0007T property sales
BEREMRFHTHR
(UES
RaRERRIER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 53.37% ~ Agricultural produce
#EMSEMRAFS  Mainland China USD23,230,000 exchange market
/R At FHEA operation and
23,230,000% 7T property sales
BEREMRHTHR
MEHE

Place of

incorporation
and business
MR K
BEME

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital
BRTEE/
AR

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
AREEERER DL
Direct

Indirect

Hi E}:3

2020
ki

2020 2019
—g-%F —TNG

2019

“T-NE

ARREEZMBRRZFEWAT - (&)

Principal
activities
TEEK

LB BT RR AR A A
T TFFR
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31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AnREEERE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZE R (1E)

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) RRAREZMBAR ZFEMOT : (B)

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company
Place of Issued ordinary/ ARREERER AL
incorporation registered share Direct Indirect
and business capital EHf# i Principal
ALK BRTEE/ 2020 2019 2020 2019 activities
RS R ZECBE —TNF ZBIER TEEH
REEEREER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 53.37% - Agricultural produce
#EMEERAR  Mainland China RMB443,000,000 exchange market
B/l AR ARE operation and
443,000,0007T property sales
BEREMRSHTHR
MEHE
S EEREER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 40.03%* - Agricultural produce
PEMBEMRAR  Mainland China RMB140,000,000 exchange market
FREL/ R At AERARKE operation and
140,000,0007C property sales
BEREMRHTHR
ES:
BRAEREIER The PRC/ Registered capital - = 53.37% - Agricultural produce
HEMSERAR  Mainland China RMB200,000,000 exchange market
/Bl At A ERARE operation and
200,000,0007T property sales
BEREMRSHTHR
S
EREEREER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 53.37% - Agricultural produce
MRER AR Mainland China USD35,000,000 exchange market
B/l AR operation and
35,000,000% 7T property sales
BEREMRSTHRY)
FHE
BERREREIER The PRC/ Registered capital - - 42.70%" - Agricultural produce
HEMBERAR  Mainland China RMB2,000,000 exchange market
FREL/ B Aty AERARE operation
2,000,0007% BERERR ST
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
* CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company and the principal activities of
its subsidiaries are management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets. The acquisition of CAP was completed on 12 February 2020, further details of

which are disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements.

*%

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On the wind-
up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred shares have a right to
repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all ordinary and deferred shares after
the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has been distributed among the holders of the
ordinary shares.

" A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
# A Sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC law.
@ Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young

global network.

A Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

+ A subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly accounted
for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control over it.

Details of the subsidiaries acquired and disposed of during the year are
summarised in notes 38 and 40 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation

142

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income which have been measured at fair value. Assets
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2020. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e, existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2020 —Z-ZF=FA=+—H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

144

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendment to HKFRS 16*

*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint

Ventures
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23

COVID-19-Related Rent Concession

Early adopted by the Group in the current year's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 19, and Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are not relevant to the
preparation of the Group's financial statements, the nature and the impact of
the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model to recognise and measure right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, except for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17.

For a sublease arrangement, the classification of the sublease is made
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
instead of by reference to the underlying asset. The Group reassessed
the sublease arrangements at 1 April 2019 that were previously
classified as an operating lease applying HKAS 17 based on the
remaining contractual terms and conditions of the head lease and
sublease at 1 April 2019, and determined that these arrangements are
finance leases applying HKFRS 16. Accordingly, the Group recognised
net investments in subleases amounting to HK$27,588,000 and
derecognised the corresponding right-of-use asset of the head lease
amounting to HK$27,333,000, resulting in a gain of HK$255,000
recognised in the opening balance of accumulated losses at 1 April
2019.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method with the date of initial application of 1 April 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of accumulated losses at 1 April 2019, and the
comparative information for 2019 was not restated and continued to

be reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2020 —E—=ZF=H=+—H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

146

(@)

(continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the use
of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition practical
expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts that were not identified
as leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied
only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.

As alessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties and
office equipment. As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as
either finance leases or operating leases based on the assessment of
whether the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies
a single approach to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective exemptions for
leases of low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) (elected
by class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term
commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group recognises depreciation
(and impairment, if any) of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued
on the outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

(@)

(continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 and included in other
payables and accruals. The right-of-use assets were measured at the
amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before 1 April 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on HKAS 36
on that date. The Group elected to present the right-of-use assets
as part of the elements of property, plant and equipment in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the leasehold land and buildings (that were held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation) previously included in
investment properties and measured at fair value, the Group has
continued to include them as investment properties at 1 April 2019.
They continue to be measured at fair value applying HKAS 40.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedients when
applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application

Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the

contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease

Using a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @5t B 5 2 5 8) & 9% #5 & F

(continued) (4)
@  (continued) @ (&
As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases ERFABA -SRI BEREEH
(continued) ENHEE(HE)
Impact on transition (continued) BEE(E)
Financial impact at 1 April 2019 REZEB—NFOA—HZH 5
&
The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 was as RZZB-NFMOA—-BERAETHE
follows: MR ELREICREENTE
s
HK$'000
FHT
Assets BE
Increase in property, plant and equipment W - B N RGN 90,395
Increase in net investments in subleases DIRREFFEE M 27,588
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TERRIE - #2e KEMEUKIE
other receivables VER (822)
Increase in total assets HBE N 117,161
Liabilities =N
Increase in lease liabilities included in A Bt R R K fEET B R
other payables and accruals HESEEM 122,890
Increase in other payables and accruals F e~ FRIE K fE ST R N 514
Increase in total liabilities 4B & 123,404
Equity Em
Increase in accumulated losses REHERE N (6,228)
Decrease in non-controlling interests FEFERR I R (15)
Decrease in total equity BRETOR (6,243)
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the operating lease R-ZZE—NAFUA—HBHHNEEE
commitments as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: BER-ZT-NF=A=+—H
RS LS RENHIRAT ¢

HK$'000
THEIT

Operating lease commitments as at R-B-NE=A=+—BNELAERE
31 March 2019 132,740

Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and & : BREEPHEERG THER T -_ZTF

those leases with a remaining lease term ended =RA=+—H EJZZHIJ%?SM:E’JEZ%%EEL

on or before 31 March 2020 AHE (10,510)
Add: Payments for optional extension periods not m:R=ZF-NF=A=1T—HAKRERYN

recognised as at 31 March 2019 ABE R AT K 12,764
134,994

Weighted average incremental borrowing rate asat ~ R=ZT— M A — B NETEEEE
1 April 2019 A= 3.76%
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R-ZB-NFENE—HHEEEE 122,890
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9
only includes interests in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests
that in substance form part of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture, to which the equity method has not been applied.
Therefore, an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which
includes the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group's accounting
policy for the long-term interests in associates is consistent with the
requirements of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope
of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. Upon adoption of
the interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain
tax positions arising from the transfer pricing on its intergroup sales.
Based on the Group's tax compliance and transfer pricing study, the
Group determined that it is probable that its transfer pricing policy
will be accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly, the interpretation
did not have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

150

d

The Group has early adopted the amendment to HKFRS 16 which
provides relief to lessees from having to consider individual lease
contracts to determine whether rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and
allows lessees to account for such rent concessions as if they were
not lease modifications. The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the
change in lease payments results in revised considered for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease. The Group elects to adopt the practical expedient to
account for the COVID-19 pandemic related rent concession as
negative variable lease payments. Accordingly, the Group credited
HK$ 1,742,000 to profit or loss for the rent concessions received by the
Group during the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material'

and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

: No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

152

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the
definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an integrated set
of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs.
Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by
these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA
in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material.
The new definition states that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement
of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in
a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as
part of the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

154

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

156

Fair value measurement (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 2 -

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets, properties
under development, properties held for sale, investment properties, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets or a disposal group classified as held for
sale), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the partyis a person or a close member of that person’s family and that
person

0]

(if)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or
of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(

)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (@);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to
the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-
use assets classified as property, plant and equipment and other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment
is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as
held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets
and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

160

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Owned assets

Buildings 2 - 3'/3% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

20 —33'/3% or over the terms of the

relevant leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10 — 20%
Furniture and equipment 20 -33"/5%
Motor vehicles 10 — 20%
Computer system 20-33"/3%

Right-of-use assets
Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant
leases ranging from 32 to 68 years,
whichever is shorter
Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at

each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
(that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Where applicable,
the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and machinery under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset (2019: leasehold property
under an operating lease) which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding right-of use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value.

Property under construction or development for future use as an investment
property is classified as investment property under construction. If the
fair value cannot be reliably determined, the investment property under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair value can be
determined or construction is completed.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or
inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its
fair value at the date of change in use.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

162

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties
and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products not exceeding five to seven years, commencing from
the date when the products are put into commercial production.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. The right-of-use assets
which meet the definition of investment property are initially measured at
cost and subsequently measured at fair value in accordance with the Group's
policy for “Investment properties”. Other right-of-use assets are included in
property, plant and equipment, the accounting policy of which are included
in the policy for “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

(a)  Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables and accruals.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there
is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit or loss. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are accounted for as finance
leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the lease payments and related payments (including
the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an amount equal
to the net investment in the lease. The finance income of such leases are
recognised to profit or [oss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge
over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a finance
lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.
At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid
land lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge
over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets
remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties
are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers in
respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to completion
of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for
properties under development.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and building
costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is estimated by
the directors based on the prevailing market prices on an individual property
basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for properties
held for sale.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-
financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together
with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

170

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each reporting date,
the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to have
low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and net investment in sub-leases which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

Stage 1 -

equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

172

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings and payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, derivative financial liabilities, unsecured bonds and
notes, and convertible notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except for the
gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented
in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to profit
or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and payables)

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Unsecured bonds and notes, and convertible notes

If the conversion option of convertible notes and the early redemption
option of unsecured notes and convertible notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
and convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the liability
component. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components of the unsecured notes and convertible notes based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components
when the instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction
costs relating to the liability component is recognised initially as a reduction
of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company
of the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i)
the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general policy
for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy
for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item,
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

178

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Saleofgoods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products provide customers with rights of return. The
rights of return give rise to variable consideration:

(i) Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return
the goods within a specified period, the expected value method
is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because
this method best predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in
HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied in order to determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a
refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for
the right to recover products from a customer.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)  Saleof goods (continued)

(i) Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during the
period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are
offset against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the
variable consideration for the expected future rebates, the most
likely amount method is used for contracts with a single-volume
threshold and the expected value method for contracts with
more than one volume threshold. The selected method that
best predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily
driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the expected
future rebates is recognised.

(i) Loyalty points programme

The Group has a loyalty points programme, which allows
customers to accumulate points that can be redeemed for free
products. The loyalty points give rise to a separate performance
obligation as they provide a material right to the customer. A
portion of the transaction price is allocated to the loyalty points
awarded to customers based on relative stand-alone selling
price and recognised as a contract liability until the points are
redeemed. Revenue is recognised upon redemption of products
by the customer. When estimating the stand-alone selling price
of the loyalty points, the Group considers the likelihood that the
customer will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates
of the points that will be redeemed on a quarterly basis and any
adjustments to the contract liability balance are charged against
revenue.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in time
when the purchasers obtained the physical possession and/or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

(c)  Provision of management, promotion and property ancillary services

Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and property
ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

(d)  Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets
Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets are
recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement signed.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (i.e, transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not have incurred if
the contract had not been obtained e.g., sales commission to sales agents.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the former
carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected costs to
recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to
the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the
returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of
which are given in note 35 to the financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

182

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

B 285 A M

31 March 2020 —ZE-ZF=F=+—H

2.4 EEEFFHEORMEE @)

BARR 7 3 B0 2 A3 5% (4]

fE A s A B 2 BN 3 - R AR
RERTHALBEE - MHAMA R
BIER 2 EMRX  HRIZER - 5
BIEIERE T R AR B Sk E 8 FE
1B = R IR Z 220 - AT - HRT
R E I RE) - YRNREA
HIEERERER  MEEH I REBL
R SE REE L EE - R
JTRIRAT P -

AEESRANE - RTEEREZEE
FERRSEINRNEE

Hitig S B 7

BAREEE
AREERBCRHIERBE RS ENRDD A
SEBRSEATEHFEGEATESIRA
wAEE(eEestE DR &S —
HRESETE - RIEFBVESFHIHRA
ARERBEAF NI EE D LLEL
AR MR GEFREK 2 AN B FE 1R 2 I 3
B - e S EINEERAKREEED
R BB EEESRE - AREPE
BERFRABRESASNELS2HEE
BT ER -

NG A R B P ot 2 B B 1 RO A
SR 77 MU & 0 A R IR
St - ZEWBRARRIRETERA
BE T B D LR AR RS B H5R -
RBEHRRARSFTERA - FRAEZR
X R ERN R R

S EEBRARAR
R el skeg 183



Notes to Financial Statements

B85 e Fi

31 March 2020 —E—=ZF=H=+—H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

184

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial units in Hong Kong and
agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China are revalued at
the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use basis by
independent professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered and
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used.

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of all
non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end
of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than goodwill)

(continued)

(i) Investment in an associate
As at 31 March 2020, the Group held a 29.06% interest in a listed
associate, Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One”), before
current year impairment, with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$316,550,000. As the market value of Easy One's shares held by
the Group is significantly lower than the then carrying amount of the
Group's investment in Easy One, there was an impairment indicator on
the Group's investment in Easy One.

Accordingly, the Group has performed an impairment assessment on
its investment in Easy One using a value in use calculation to determine
its recoverable amount. The value in use calculation was based on
the discounted cash flow method which was complex and required
management to use significant judgements and make assumptions
which were affected by expected future market or economic
conditions.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as
disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Given that both the
Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products cash generating
unit (the “Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU") and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products cash-generating unit (the “Western
Pharmaceutical CGU") (together, the “CGUs") were loss-making during
the year, the directors of the Company performed an impairment
assessment of the property, plant and equipment relating to these
CGUs to determine their recoverable amounts. The recoverable
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is calculated as
the higher of its fair value less costs to disposal and value in use, the
calculations of which involve the use of estimates.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties
held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is determined
using the weighted average method. The estimated net realisable value is
assessed at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use
basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered
and assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period are used.

Business combination

On 26 September 2019, the Group proposed a general offer to acquire a
maximum of 54.83% equity interest in CAP and a maximum of 46.86% of the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes issued by CAP (the
"CAP Acquisition”). On 12 February 2020, the CAP Acquisition was completed
and 5,312,395,685 shares of CAP (representing 53.37% of the issued shares of
CAP) were acquired at HK$0.091 each and CAP and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “CAP Group”) became the subsidiaries of the Group.

The assessment of the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed and allocation of the purchase price required significant
management estimation.

The Group recognised a provisional gain on bargain purchase of
HKS$230,844,000, details of which is set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@)  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacture, processing and sale of traditional Chinese
medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products sold under the
brand name of “Wai Yuen Tong" and a range of products manufactured
using selected medicinal materials with traditional prescriptions, mainly
in mainland China and Hong Kong;

(b)  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products — processing and sale of Western pharmaceutical products
and personal care products under the brand names of “Madame
Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”, respectively;

(©)  property investment — investment in commercial premises for rental
income; and

(d)  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets (commenced during the year upon completion of the CAP
Acquisition).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's profit before tax except that other income and gains, net,
finance costs, fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, net, head office and corporate income and
expenses and share of profits and losses of associates are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market
prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEBER )
Segment revenue and results DEW R R EE
Year ended 31 March BE=A=t—-HLEFE
Production and Production and Management and
sale of Chinese sale of Western sale of properties in
pharmaceuticaland  pharmaceutical and agricultural produce
health food products health food products Property exchange markets
EERHERER  HERBERER investment EERHERER Eliminations Total
RERRER RERRER NERE RETEZMF H st
2020 019 2020 9 2020 2020 019 2020 9 2020
i SR0RE CTNEF CRCRE - i WE ZR-%RE “TNF CB-RF
HK$'000 00 HK$'000 0 HK$'000 l HK$'000 0 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000
TER TER BT TAR I FH j TER BT TER TAT
Segment revenue: AENE
Sales to external customers HETHREP 467,020 624744 100,306 115953 9,249 10,746 44,166 - - - 620,741 751,443
Intersegment sales HREHE 362 87 - - 13,012 13,883 - - (13,374)  (13970) - -
Total ey 467,382 624831 100,306 115953 22,261 24,629 44,166 - (13,374)  (13970) 620,741 751443
Segment results PEEE (180,127)  (64.924)  (34,603)  (75419)  (84,341) 35429 5,071 = - - (294,000) (104914
Other income and gains, net HA R - 58 498,048 115671
Unallocated income and expense, net - KARKARFX * F8 (44,589) 52510
Finance costs REKA (56,697)  (28553)

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial ~ EATEFESAR 2 HH
assets and liabilities at fair value AERBRZATE

through profit or loss, net Wi/ (BR) - F8 (7,323) 593
Share of profits and losses of associates A B &R AlEH REE 15177 46,387
Profit before tax BRBATER 110,616 81,694
Income tax expense FEHEY (17,199) (7,448)
Profit for the year FRER 93,417 74246
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEBER )
Other segment information HittpEER
Year ended 31 March BE=A=t—-HLEFE

Production and Production and Management and
sale of Chinese sale of Western sale of properties in
pharmaceuticaland  pharmaceutical and agricultural produce
health food products health food products Property exchange markets
EERHERER  HERBERER investment EERHERER Unallocated Total

RERRER RERRER WERE RETHE2ME ROE FoH
2020 019 2020 9 2020 2020 9 2020 9 2020

=t St 22 ZB-%F —“T-NF ZBCBF b St 23 J ZB-%F “T-NF ZBC%F

HK$'000 00  HK$'000 0  HK$'000 1 HK$'000 0 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000
FAT FAT AT FAT o FAT ; FAT BT FAT TAT

Other segment information: HitpEEH

Interestincome FISHA - - - - - - - - (76,849)  (95939) (76,849) (95939
Capital expenditure (note) B (HE) 7,061 13688 989 1,642 - 350,000 3,705 - - 70 11,755 365400
Provisional gain on bargain purchase  ZBBE 2 Bl - - - - - - - - (230,844) - (230,844) -
Depreciation nE 85,711 32925 11,473 11410 7,565 5474 2,500 = 5,425 1514 112,674 51323
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial ~ RAFESBENEZ BB
assets and liabilities at fair value BERAEZATES
through profit or loss, net B/ (k%) 38 - - - - - - (1,403) - 8,726 (593) 7,323 (593)
Fair value losses/(gains) on owned BRRENE s ATFES
investment properties, net B/ () 58 - - - - 95490 (17445 3,708 - - - 99,198 (17449
Fair value losses on sub-leased ARRENEZ ATEBE
investment properties - - - - - - 662 - - - 662 -
Gain on disposal/redemption of debt & /B EHRATES
investments at fair value through 2ERBAE BERE
other comprehensive income Pl - - - - - - - - (100,078) (1179  (100,078) (1,179)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HENE  BERRZEEE
property, plant and equipment, net  Z/i8 /() - ¥ 101 - - - (56,407) - - - - 4 (56,306) 4
Gain on disposal of an investment HE—EREME 2 ek
property - - - - (7,464) - - - - - (7,464) -
Impairment losses/(reversal of A AERERE/ (AE
Impairment losses) on financial BERRE)  FE
assets, net 9,200 1,706 (201) (980) - - 215 - 6,799 (83493) 16,013 (82,767)
Impairment of goodwill ERRE - 7,700 - - - - - - - - - 7,700
Impairment losses/(reversal of nE  BERSEEERE
impairment losses) on items of B/ (RESERE)
property, plant and equipment 75,615 1,205 6,198 - - (2,700) - - - - 81,813 (1495)
Impairment of investment in an R—EBREARZRERE
associate - - - - - - - - 8,737 - 8,737 -
Investments in associates ABENRZ B - = - = - - - - 314,033 329584 314,033 329,584
Share of profits and losses of associates, S EBLAREHRER -
net B - - - - - - - - (15177) (46387)  (15,177) (46,387)
Allowance for obsolete inventories REGFEEE 5,602 6,170 3,965 3,284 - - - - - - 9,567 9454
Note: Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and property, plant Mzt : EARZBENEZREMERY
and equipment (excluding the addition of right-of-use assets and assets from business ¥ BERRE(TEENY 2 E AR
combination). BEREBESHAGEE) °
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEBER )
Geographical information hEE R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REMREFZWE
2020 2019
—E-BF :%_hi
HK$’000 HKS'000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong e 438,484 557,749
Mainland China AR A 149,810 156,925
Macau SERPY 29,951 32,005
Others ) 2,496 4,764
620,741 751,443
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the i EER YRR PRt EE D o
customers.
(b) Non-current assets (b) FRBEE
2020 2019
— 7 —= ﬂ-: :’E‘Eihi
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong BE 1,467,357 1,746,008
Mainland China HE A 2,997,925 98,504
Macau b 14,482 395
4,479,764 1,844,907
The non-current assets information above is based on the locations of L IERBEEE R TVIREER
the assets and excluded financial instruments and deferred tax assets. EEsEls BT EEemIT A
ROBEETIIHE EE ©
Information about major customers BHEEEFZER
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no revenue from HE_Z-_ZFR_FT—-—NLF=A
transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the =T—HIEFE  WERKEHESE IR
total revenue of the Group. BEPRGZWEAAEERZBEN
10%38k A _E o
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Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. Wotd R H KA Rt o B
W
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REBZ WA
2020 2019
“ECEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS'000
TET FHT
Revenue from contracts with REAFFEHNZWE
customers 585,040 740,697
Revenue from other sources IR B H Ath R 2 Wi
Gross rental income from investment BEYELEHE S MALBEE
properties operating leases 35,701 10,746

620,741 751,443
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5.

194

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

(i)

5. Wik ROHABA KW o B

()
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHNZNE
Disaggregated revenue information (i) DFKREEHR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-ZF=A=+—HL
FE
Segments S
Management
and sale of
Productionand Productionand  properties in
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products  food products markets Total
LERMETE LERMERE EERMEEER
RRERRER RARRRER RBINH2UE b
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET THET THET THET
Types of goods or services B ER
- Sale of goods —HEEY 465,166 100,306 3,484 568,956
- Managementand promotion  —EEBREERE
services 1,854 - - 1,854
— Commission income from —BERRSMEZASHA
agricultural produce exchange
markets - - 5,618 5,618
- Agricultural produce exchange  —RERR S5 2 BRERE
markets ancillary services - - 8,612 8,612
Total revenue from contracts with  RERF A4z W28
customers 467,020 100,306 17,714* 585,040
Geographical markets wEmE
Hong Kong B 379,421 49,814 - 429,235
Mainland China FEAH 62,827 42,817 17,714 123,358
Macau p i 23,495 6,456 - 29,951
Others Hit 1,277 1,219 - 2,496
Total revenue from contracts with  RERFA#IZ MaBE
customers 467,020 100,306 17,714*% 585,040
Timing of revenue recognition WM
Goods or services transfered ata  RE—HEZEBZ K1)
point in time 465,166 100,306 9,102 574,574
Services transferred over time RERRERER RS 1,854 - 8,612 10,466
Total revenue from contracts with  RERF A 2 WS EE
customers 467,020 100,306 17,714% 585,040
@ Gross rental income from investment properties operating leases of HK$26,452,000 BEYESEREZHSKA

(2019: Nil) was included in management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets segment.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020

#8EE 26,452,000 L (= F— N,
F o E)GTAEERFEERE
BRGNS ZYMENLE °



5.

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019

(i)

Segments

Notes to Financial Statements
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B ()

W gk B S A WE A B Wi i >

REFEFEHNZ WS ()
(i) 2FBEEHGE
BE-Z-NAF=ZA=+—HL

FE

R

Production and Production and

sale of Chinese sale of Western

pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health food and health food

products products Total
FEREERE AENHEHE
RRERmER RMRAEREMESD #Et
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FET
Types of goods or services BV RIS ER
Sale of goods HEEY 623,448 115,953 739,401
Management and B RS ERES
promotion services 1,296 = 1,296
Total revenue from contracts REBEPEH 2 WamiazE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
Geographical markets & T 5
Hong Kong BB 502,639 44,364 547,003
Mainland China R B A, 95,716 61,209 156,925
Macau b 23,891 8114 32,005
Others Hit 2,498 2,266 4,764
Total revenue from contracts REBEPEH 2 W=iEsE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
Timing of revenue recognition U526
Goods transferred at a pointin AR —ERHZEZ Y
time 623,448 115,953 739,401
Services transferred over time & FRF PR A SR B A% AR T 1,296 - 1,296
Total revenue from contracts REBEFEH 2 WamiasE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
T2 TR AR A A
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

(i)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with
customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Segments

5. Wegk R AW A KW iE 0 B
(a0

REFEFEHNZ WS ()

(i)

iR ER (8
TXHRHIIKEEP A K2 Was il
DEERPIRE SR

BE-_ZE_EF=A=+-AL
FE

oy

Management

and sale of

Productionand Productionand  propertiesin
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products  food products markets Total
LERHEERE 4LERHERE EERHEERER
RRBRRER RREBRRER XZnH2NE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER THET
Revenue from contracts with ~ REAZRFAL 2K
customers
External customers SIREP 467,020 100,306 17,714 585,040
Intersegment sales PEREE 362 - - 362
Segment revenue 28l 467,382 100,306 17,714 585,402
Intersegment adjustmentsand  ARERIAZ R
eliminations (362) - - (362)
Total revenue from contracts with  RERF ANz eS8
customers 467,020 100,306 17,714% 585,040
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5. W2 K& H AR A R » &5

(40
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEH W (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DFREERGE)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_Z—-NF=A=+—-HL
FE
Segments DI

Production and Production and
sale of Chinese sale of Western

pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health food and health food

products products Total

HEREERE AENIHEE
ERERmER RMRAEREMESD #Et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FET

Revenue from contracts with REZFEESH2E

customers
External customers INARF 624,744 115,953 740,697
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 87 = 87
Segment revenue 2 W= 624,831 115,953 740,784
Intersegment adjustments por R EL IS EE

and eliminations (87) = (87)
Total revenue from contracts REBEPEH 2 WamiasE

with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the TRERNA SRS A= ER
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities Z &R ERRERVEAELN
at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from B ULkHBBERBETKZE
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods: HEFER

2020 2019
—g-%F —TnF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET

Revenue recognised that was included R #R&EBIFET A A B &2 W R
in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:
Sale of goods HEEM 7,098 7434
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5.

198

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
The following information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and
payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. Some
contracts provide customers with a right of return which gives rise to
variable consideration subject to constraint.

Management, promotion and property ancillary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange markets
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion of the
related sales transactions.

Sales of properties
The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical possession
and/or the legal title of the property is obtained by the purchaser.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)y 5. W2 K& H ALK A R » &5
()

2020 2019
t g 223 —E-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Other income Hglr A
Interest income on loan receivables R EF 2 FEMA 9,922 4,203

Interest income on financial assets at fair ~ E A ELIBR AR PEEEMZATE
value through profit or loss and financial ~ &H A2 EMR AR Z B EEZF 8

assets at fair value through other KA
comprehensive income 61,386 90,528
Finance income on net investments in DIEIEFTE 2 B
subleases 1,059 -
Interest income on bank deposits HRITIF A BMA 5,541 1,208
Dividends from financial assets at fair value 2& B 1zAFEAE th 2 UGS AR 2 8175
through other comprehensive income BEZRE 4,371 3,145
Sub-lease rental income AERSBA - 13,075
Rental income from other properties KRB EAfEE 2 BE WA 12,636 =
The PRC government subsidies* P BT A AL 3,531 =
Others Hih 4,910 2,333
103,356 114,492
Gains, net Wz - FEE
Provisional gain on bargain purchase HEEE 28 E W (MizE3s)
(note 38) 230,844 =
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant &% - BE R&EEE 2 W - 558
and equipment, net 56,306 -
Gain on disposal of an investment property H & —IB &Y E 2 Iz 7,464 =
Gain on disposal/redemption of financial & EBEZEAFELHEMEEKSEAEZ
assets at fair value through other M EE 2 W - F5E
comprehensive income, net 100,078 1,179
394,692 1,179
Other income and gains, net HBA Rz - HE 498,048 115,671
@ The PRC government subsidies represent subsidies granted to the Group by the local * H BB G T i AN S B E R B
governmental authority in mainland China for the business support on its investments EMBUTHER T 2 /R IAMERE
in an agricultural produce exchange market in mainland China. There are no unfulfilled RABEAMIEEREMR SIS ZE
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. B WEAMRTFZEMAZA
R S AR E R -

AR AR
T azwerg 199
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6.

200

Profit Before Tax

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense (including allowance
for obsolete inventories of

RERASIZTFERA(RIERET
B #9,567,0008 L (ZZF — N ¢
9,454,000/87T ) )

6.  BrBE i A

AEEZBRBANEFRAR, GEA)T

FIRIRIEARR

2020
SE L

HK$'000
FET

2019
—T-hF
HK$'000
T8t

HKS$9,567,000 (2019: HK$9,454,000)) 323,996 449915
Cost of services provided FriR it AR 75 2 X AR 15,169 -
Research and development costs IR KR A 10,843 7,902
Lease payments under operating T REFEERE THRENK

leases in respect of land and

buildings:

Minimum lease payments SR ERK - 77,205

Contingent rents RS - 10,441
Lease payments notincluded inthe Rt AFEAFETEZREMNK 15(c)

measurement of lease liabilities 15,448 =
Auditor's remuneration ZERT N & 4,700 6,000
Depreciation of owned assets B RENE 13 50,768 51,323
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EREEEHE 13 61,906 -

112,674 51,323
Employee benefit expense (excluding & B (T REEFH <
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (Hi3Es)) :
Wages and salaries and other I% - FreRkEMER
benefits 166,098 163,315
Pension scheme contributions RN FTEIHER 9,458 11,831
175,556 175,146
Foreign exchange differences, net R EZ @ F5 638 3723
Impairment losses/(reversal of B ERERE CREBERER) -

impairment losses) on financial FEE

assets, net:

Impairment losses on trade 2 SEWGIERERE - F5 22

receivables, net 9,167 726

Impairment losses on financial STATENRE - e M EMEYHRIAEZ 24

assets included in prepayments, BB EERERE

deposits and other receivables 30 =
Impairment losses/(reversal of RATHEEEM R ER AR Z 18

impairment losses) on debt BEFRERERE CREEE

investments at fair value #|) - FEE

through other comprehensive

income, net 10,165 (80,353)
Reversal of impairment losses on  EUE 3k & F SR B R B H# B - JF58 23

loans and interest receivables, net (3,349) (3,140)

16,013 (82,767)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2020
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Profit Before Tax (continued) 6.  BRBLw A ()
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): RNEE 2 R AN AR HER (GEA) T
(continued) P ZBEBAR : ()
2020 2019
—EEHE :%_hi
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FABxT
Gross rental income e WA L% 5 (48,337) (10,746)
Less: direct outgoing expense B BEEXS 289 491
(48,048) (10,255)
Gain on bargain purchase of B UEE —REE & A B 2 BBINIRAE 2 17(b)
additional equity interests in Wz
an associate* - 38,026
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of &Y - MEKREER 2EE/
property, plant and equipment, net  (Izf)  JF58 (56,306) 4
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries** B A 7 2 e 40 2,937 =
Impairment of goodwill** EERE* 16 - 7,700
Impairment of investment in an Rl & R B 2 K ERE 17
associate** 8,737 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of W - R &SRB REEE 13
impairment losses) on items of CRiERERR) - FEE~
property, plant and equipment,
net** 81,813 (1,495)
Fair value losses on sub-leased DB 2 N AR 14
investment properties*** 662 -
* The gain for the year ended 31 March 2019 was included in “Share of profits and losses * BE-Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE
of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive Z”&ﬁﬁﬁ)\f‘?é\ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁfﬁﬁﬁuﬁlﬁn
income. RAZIDEEE A RRN REE] -
** These expenses are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or o ZERZ I AGEER REM 2K
loss and other comprehensive income. wmERANZ [ HAbFAZ ]
***  These expenses are included in “Cost of services provided" above. e ZERXETA EX AR IRE 2 K
NI
T EEEERERA 201
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7. Finance Costs 7. R
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKARZ AT
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HKS'000
TR FET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEEZFIE 39,175 28,553
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZFE 5,648 =
Interest on unsecured bonds and notes EERESRERZFE 3,295 =
Interest on Promissory Notes FEAEAMRERRIA R BT B A 2 AR
(as thereinafter defined in note 29) (BE&ER T XMIzE29) 258
included in other payables and accruals 3,917 -
Interest on convertible notes AR R 2 F S 4,662 -
56,697 28,553
8. Directors’ Remuneration 8. #HME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules AR AR B 22 AT 2R AR B0 Bk 22 P RE 25 E T AR Al
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) (T Em#RAI]) - BB LR EMERHIZE383(1)
issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong @ () QOEOERARREEEAH
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of B AR 01 E R TR F A A = S
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: BT -
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Fees we 756 756
Other emoluments for executive directors: #ITESE 2 EibES :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2B R EWH= 14,906 15,200
Performance-related bonuses* BRI 2 BEEAT 2,969 2,308
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIHER 92 90
17,967 17,598
18,723 18,354
& Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are * RARETHRITESAEZHIEAL -
determined with reference to the Group's operating results, individual performance of the MEAL I 2EF N RELE S
directors and comparable market statistics during the year. BEEERRR R AR TimLtat

BFEE

202 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Remuneration (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 A

The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non-

executive directors during the year was as follows:

8.

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

E 0 )

FR - ENRATEERBUFNTES
ZEHE T

Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
= 3.1 SREHY Bihg
ok REMFIG 24 sHEIHER Fa0 Pk
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
TAT FATT THAL FAT THET
2020 —Z-BF
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Tang Ching Ho g s L - 11,650 2,963 18 14,631
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, BRIRE T E
Thomas - 798 6 20 824
Ms. Tang Mui Fun Higsa+ - 1,650 - 36 1,686
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEaat - 808 - 18 826
- 14,906 2,969 92 17,967
Independent non-executive B IEHITEE ¢
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REHERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BEXEEE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EKERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David ZRELE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total M=t 756 14,906 2,969 92 18,723
2019 —E-NE
Executive directors: WITES :
Mr. Tang Ching Ho HEmEE - 12,000 2308 18 14326
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, BRIRERSE 4
Thomas - 661 - 18 679
Ms. Tang Mui Fun st - 1,699 - 36 1,735
Ms. Tang Wai Man et - 840 - 18 858
- 15,200 2308 90 17,598
Independent non-executive  BIUIFATES :
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho DERILE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BXFREE 184 - = = 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EkELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David BREEL 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total FEE 756 15,200 2,308 90 18,354

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive
directors during the year (2019: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

FA - WEAGENBEIIFRTESRZ
e (ZF—nF : &) -

BE_ZT_ZHER_ZF-NF=H
=T-HLEFE  BESEFREXRE
HEEFME R ZHE -

T EZRZERARA

_—\,_vﬁiiﬁ
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9.

204

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2019: two)
directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2019: three) non-
director, highest paid employees are as follows:

9. hfammBHAL

FN - AURSHFALREREG(ZE
—hF:MB)ESR HNEeFBERL
XEESHEE c RN =R(ZF—NF :
=R)FEERSFTALINFAMSFF

BIR -
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2R EYHR 3,149 2,970
Discretionary performance related bonuses %235 )& 2 w2 fHRETEAL 46 134
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHER 54 50
3,249 3,154

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

HEERFSFALTZABRHMENF A
TEE -

Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z21,000,0007% 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 722 1,500,000% 7T

EE AR
2020
—E-EF
1 1
2 2

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020



10.

Notes to Financial Statements

Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax

prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

B 5 A

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

10. Fifasi

BBMNSHNFENREBELE 2 LETE
R TR E165% ( —F—N4F -
16.5%) {EH B o Efbith [ < AR
A 2 TR E R AN ' E E TSP
R/ AERENRITHREGE

2020 2019
BT —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Current — Hong Kong REA—&B
Charge for the year RFE LN 1,074 920
Underprovision/(overprovision) BAFETR(H#B58)
in prior years 7B (39) 2,848
Current — other jurisdiction REA—Efh RERE R
Charge for the year RFE LN 3,406 =
Deferred taxation (note 33) RIER A (P 7E33) 12,758 3,680
Total tax charge for the year RNEFHIBET 17,199 7448

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective
tax rates is as follows:

RIBAR B R E KR EB KB A B ATER
ERREEE,ARAR R ERBANS
AER R FIRR X BRI ER R EGE
EV B IRRF SRR T

2020 2019
—E-RE —ZT—hiF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHIT
Profit before tax BRI A 110,616 81,694
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of R TEBER /FEER 2 EE,BRH
different countries/jurisdictions ReE 7 HIE 17,360 11,104
Adjustments in respect of current tax of LB 2 BNEBFLIE(EH 2 SR
previous periods (39) 2,848
Profits and losses attributable to associates B4 A B fE( 2 % 7l & &8 (2,505) (7,654)
Income not subject to tax BERBUA (79,613) (35,704)
Expenses not deductible for tax A HF A 33,523 16,606
Tax losses utilised from previous periods & F i@ 1E B > B &5 18 (43) (5.224)
Tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁn IR R 38,033 LSAAS
Utilisation of deductible temporary BIEARMERZ AT R ERE
differences previously not recognised (28) -
Deductible temporary differences not RERZ AT s = 51
recognised 813 247
Impairment of deferred tax asset RIEFIIE & ERE 9,891 -
Effect of tax concession MBBR 2T E (193) (220)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate RSB ERB R E 2 BIAT 17,199 7448

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to HK$1,315,000 (2019:
HKS$1,339,000) is included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

DB N R Z T8 1,315,0008 7T (=
ZT— R4 ¢ 1,339,000 7T) © EEFALR
%Eﬁz& \miﬁu& SERAZ[ DG

7T é‘?%% SRAERA
S ¢¢$ﬁ
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11.

12.

206

Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividends in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity
Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of
1,231,642,888 (2019: 1,248,141,518).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 in respect of a
dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had no dilutive effect
on the basic earnings per share amounts presented.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. W3k ~ W5 sk fhi

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RRMRE fRARE
Leasehold
landand Furniture
Leasehold buildings/ Leasehold Plantand and Motor Computer ~ Construction

land Buildings buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles system  inprogress
BRILR
B4 i B3/87 HRREE BRRRE ! BjEE HRIE

Cost: BA:
At1 April 2018 RZT-N\EmA- = = = 2 65540 71551 240 2185 15021 751 935,946 935,946
Additions #E = - - 5460 4562 2075 213 - 35 m 15400 15400
Acquistions of subsiciariesthat  WERZE 2B E ZHEAR

arenotabusiness (note39)  (Hiskz9) - - - 259000 - - - - - - 259000 259000
Assets classied as held ARBHFHENEE

forsale = = = (69000) = = = = = - (69,000) (69,000)
Wiitten off i = = = = (%30) = = - = = 630 (%30)
Disposal i = = = = (30) 6 %) = = = (131) (131)
Transfer £ = = = = 3810 144 397 - - (27691) - -
Exchange realignment EfRe = = = (8420) (1446) = (128) 6) (8) ) (10175) (10175)
At31 March 2019 RZZ-NEZR=1-A

(as originally presented) (RB%23)) = - = 916752 71506 97205 26719 213 15280 525 1,130,110 1,130,110
Fffct of adoption of RERERRLENE RN

HKFRS 16 ve 2350 %893 310413 (213520 = = = = = = (213520) %893
At 1 April 2019 (s restated) WZT-NEMA-R(AE5) 2350 %893 310413 103232 71506 97205 26719 213 15280 525 91659 1227003
Additions #E = 58335 58335 = 4797 13%8 1,165 = 0 = 8050 66,385
Acquistion of subsidiaries  IREHER(Hfitss)

(note 38) 12544 14538 27082 4106 3030 - 3122 4055 493 - 47376 74458
Witten off il - - - - (1728) = (75) = (60) = (2513) (2513
Disposals i (539 - (2539 (2466) (16) (%02) (1) - (39) - (3434 (28763)
Modfication 5] - 761 761 - - - - - - - - 761
Transfer = = - - - 529 - - - - (529) - -
Exchange realignment [ELS (376) (359) (139) a9 Q - (15 %) (1) 4 (@3 (1,168)
At 31 March 2020 RZTRE=f=1-A 200359 170,168 370527 705351 18167 97661 57618 6082 20757 = %5636 1.336,163

AR AR
T Cezwarg 207
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 13. W3 ~ W B i )

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RRMRE fRARE
Leasehold
landand Furniture
Leasehold buildings/ Leasehold Plantand and Motor Computer ~ Construction

land Buildings buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles system ~ in progress Total
HELHR
B4 H B3/87 HRREE BRRRE ; BjEE HRIE

Accumulated depreciation  ZiHERAE :
and impairment:

At 1 April 2018 RZT-N\EmA-H = = = 60242 30363 11839 13164 832 10130 - 126570 126570
Provided for the year FERE = = = 25008 1170 944 3832 345 1526 - 5138 5138
Aosets classfied asheldfor dle - HEARfEHENEE = = = (1284) = = = = = = (1284) (1284)
Wiitten off i = = = = %0 - = = = - 530) 930
Disposal S - - - - (30) U] (%) - - - (127 12
Impaitment/reversal of HE/(5ERm)

impaiment) - - - 2700) m - 284 - - - (1495) (1495)
Exchange redlignment EiRE = = = (674) #3) - 89 () o) - (1.270) (1.270)
At31 March 2019 R-E-7§=A=1-R = = = 80592 41062 280 1709 1125 11633 - .78 8
Ffect of adoption of SNBSS

HKFRS 16 7e 37200 6498 43700 (37200 - - - - - = (37200) 649
AtT Aprl 2019 srestated) ~ R=F-AEMA-A(EE)) 37202 6498 87100 839 41082 280 1709 1125 11633 - 135,585 179285
Provided forthe year FERE 488 57000 61,906 045% 1718 931 4463 453 231 - 50768 112674
Wiitten off M - - = = (1,708) = (687) - (57 - (2450) (2450)
Disposal i | (8208) - (8208) (799 9 (833) @® = (39 = (1688) 9,8%)
Impairment W 6235 59559 05,794 1871 3778 - 370 - - - 16019 81813
Exchange redlignment EfRE 8 (13) U] (110) 12 - (66) 4 (3 - (194) (201)
At31 March 200 R-E-34=A=1-H 4013 123062 163,185 76808 54853 2984 2167 155 13834 - 198038 36123

Carrying amount: BEE:

At31 March 2020 R-E-%4=A=1-R 160236 47106 20734 628543 B314 61837 30451 4530 693 - 767598 974,940
At31 March 2019 RZE-7§=A=1-H = - - 836,160 30444 75925 964 99 3647 525 %733 %733

208 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group's owned buildings with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$186,777,000 and leasehold land, which is included in
right-of-use assets, with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$118,047,000
(2019: leasehold land and buildings of HK$398,893,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had property, plant and equipment, before
current year impairment, of HK$975,105,000 (2019: HK$1,019,679,000) relating
to the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU and Western Pharmaceutical CGU. As
mentioned in note 3 to the financial statements, given that both CGUs were
loss-making during the year, an impairment assessment has been performed.
For the purpose of impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
each individual retail store is identified as a separate CGU.

As a result of the impairment assessment, impairment losses of HK$3,446,000
(2019: HK$921,000), HK$370,000 (2019: HK$284,000) and HK$59,559,000
(2019: Nil) were recognised based on value-in-use in respect of the leasehold
improvements, furniture and equipment, and right-of-use assets of
certain retail stores which continued to underperform during the year and
were therefore fully impaired. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 11.0%.

Impairment losses of HK$ 11,871,000, HK$332,000 and HK$6,235,000 (2019: Nil)
were recognised in respect of the owned buildings, leasehold improvement
and right-of-use assets of the Group’s manufacturing facility due to the
decrease in the recoverable amount. As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate
carrying amount of HK$389,000,000 represented the aggregated recoverable
amount of the owned buildings, leasehold improvement and right-of-use
assets of the Group's manufacturing facility for which impairment loss has
been recognised during the year. The recoverable amount was determined
based on the fair value less costs of disposal based on a market approach
determined by an independent professional qualified valuer which took into
account current prices of properties of similar locations and conditions and
other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value measurement was
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, a reversal of impairment losses of
HK$2,700,000 was recognised in respect of the leasehold land and buildings
due to the increase in the recoverable amount of certain leasehold land
and buildings. As at 31 March 2019, the aggregate recoverable amount
of leasehold land and buildings of a retail store of the Group for which
impairment loss has been reversed during the year ended 31 March 2019
was HK$18,800,000. The recoverable amount was determined based on the
fair value less costs of disposal based on a market approach which took into
account current prices of properties of similar locations and conditions and
other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value measurement was

categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

B 285 A M

31 March 2020 —ZE-ZF=F=+—H

13. W3 ~ W5 B skt (an)

R-E-_ZTF=A=+—8  A5£EKE
H42{E186,777,000/8 L2 E T B BETF
K BRME4E(E118,047,0007 7T B 5+ A £ A
BHEEZHETHELM(ZTE—hF :
BRI F{E398,893,000/ T 2 % T it I
BF) ERAMBETAEEZ —MRIR
TEEEDER(HEI) -

R-E-TF=ZA=+—0  KEEHE
BHEPEIBSELBMNIANAERSE
SEBEMNBBZME BB NREGIR
Ki&ﬁ@?ﬂ%m%%%ﬁ@?
— L ¢ 1,019,679,0003 7T) © fNBA 7S
ﬂﬁﬂﬁsﬁﬁ C ENEBR S EEE
URERDREEE  AEESETH
BTG - PE - BE LR RERT
Hms  SESEEERET ABIH
WEEEBA »

HREETE  ERBEFARRFER
ENETEEE2HERE - RAKLK
B R (E AR EE A EEERRER
183,446,000/ 70 (=Z — A4 : 921,000
/%71) 370/000/%75(—5 j'LEF 8
284,000 7T ) % 59,559,000 7T ( =&
—h&E: &) BWEE2ERE - BLR
SEAEAZITIREA11.0% °

BEEATH&@%gﬁﬁc’J“ ERANEERLE

RitzBRBT  HERBUAKER
R ERRRMERE871,0008 T -
332,000 7T }6,235,0008 T (ZF— N
Fom) RZZ_ZTF=[=+—
B - BREA{E389,000,000/8 T R4 E&E
FREHEARERENEEREN B A
BT HEXEAREREEEZ IR
Cl48%8 - AIIE & 2R TR R A FERE
ERANRABILEEA ERMEEMET
ZTISEERE - WS BB E R &
2z BRIERREM T B SR
AEE - A ATFEFERARTES
BME=MR -

RBEE-_ZT-NAF=A=+—HIEF
B ERETHEE LM REFH R D
T RRIE AN R AR & 3 AR FRERR(E
E518%#[@2,700,000/8 7T - R=ZZE—NF
ZA=t—B AREEREBEE-ZT N
F=ZA=+—HILFEERRERHEN
—BTEENEE i REF 2 A E
# ¥ 718,800,000 7T » A @S FETY
&Vﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ$%%m%iﬁ
WHEZ BRI E RIGTEZ M2
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14. #EWH

14. Investment Properties

210

2020 2019
—E-RE —TNEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHREE 558,000 503,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W BB A | (B EE38) 2,912,560 =
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are nota  WEEIEZERSIEE 2 iiTE A =) (KiFE39)
business (note 39) - 91,000
Additions during the year FRARE 3,705 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR (99,800) -
Disposal during the year FEARNHE (11,000) =
Accrued rent-free rental income FEEH SRS A (10) (357)
Net gains/(losses) from fair value BAMEATEARZ W/ (F18)F5E
adjustments for owned properties (99,198) 17,445
Net losses from fair value adjustments for ~ DR FEFE 2 E1EF58
sub-leased properties (662) =
Exchange realignment M 3 B (72,804) —
3,190,791 611,088
Less: included in assets classified as held &l : st AR FEAFIELENEE (Mi:E27)
for sale (note 27) - (53,088)
Carrying amount at end of year FRIREE 3,190,791 558,000

The Group's investment properties are commercial properties in Hong
Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China. The
investment properties were revalued by Asset Appraisal Limited and RHL
Appraisal Limited, respectively (2019: Asset Appraisal Limited), independent
professionally qualified valuers, at 31 March 2020. The finance department
of the Group has a team that reviews the valuation performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes and reports directly to
the senior management of the Company. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between management and the valuers twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial reporting. At the
end of each reporting period, the finance department holds discussion with
the independent valuers to verify major inputs to the independent valuation
reports. The finance department also assesses property valuation movements
when comparing to the prior year valuation reports.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases,
further details of which are included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,652,579,000 (2019: HK$611,088,000) and
certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure the
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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Notes to Financial Statements

14. Investment Properties (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, certain investment properties of the Group situated in
mainland China, with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$347,465,000 (2019:
Nil), did not have the property certificates registered under the names of the
respective subsidiaries of the Group.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the risk of the Group not being
able to obtain the legal titles for the relevant properties is low and the Group
will continue to complete the ownership registration of the investment
properties.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included on page
287.

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial properties
and agricultural produce exchange markets of the Group uses significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) and details of their movements are disclosed
above.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level T and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).

B 285 A M

31 March 2020 —ZE-ZF=F=+—H

14. &M @)

R-ZE-TF=ZA=+—H  KEE[
A Bl A B AR 428 A347,465,00078
T(ZZE—NF : B ZETREMEY
REBEREAEEE@ANBARE T
HIERER -

ARREERR » AREEZEISHERH
MFEEREFEZRRER - ANEE K
BB NERERSLEE °

AEEREVENE - FHBHERSE
287E °

DNFEER
REEMERANEREERR S TS
MEEERHEFEDRAERTAE
SRABR(E=A)  MEEHFER
XA -

FR - F—REF KBz ATFER
EREER  TEEARELE =R
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14. Investment Properties (continued)

212

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the

fair value hierarchy:

14. &M @)

NP EERE)
BRAS=ZRAATESENATENE
ZHER

Agricultural
produce
Commercial exchange
properties markets Total
HRAYE BERXZTS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 RZZ—-N\FMOA—BZKHEE 503,000 - 503,000
Accrued rent-free rental income FEEtREBE YA (357) = (357)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are  WEEFEETSIEE Z B A7)
not a business (note 39) (H$5E39) 91,000 - 91,000
Net gains from fair value BB R R AT ERE
adjustments recognised ZWEE e
in profit or loss 17,445 - 17,445
611,088 - 611,088
Less: included in assets classified as 5 : st AD B A EHENEE
held for sale (note 27) (Pf3E27) (53,088) = (53,088)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 R-ZE—hF=A=+—8AK
and 1 April 2019 —T-NFHHA—BZEAE 558,000 = 558,000
Accrued rent-free rental income FEEtREE S YA (10) = (10)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)  UgFERTE 2 7 (FizE38) = 2,912,560 2,912,560
Additions during the year FARE - 3,705 3,705
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AT (99,800) - (99,800)
Disposal during the year FALE (11,000) = (11,000)
Net losses from fair value BRAMEATERE
adjustments for owned properties 2 &8 H%E (95,490) (3,708) (99,198)
Net losses from fair value DHAMEAFERE
adjustments for sub-leased ZEREE
properties - (662) (662)
Exchange realignment bE AR - (72,804) (72,804)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 R=-Z=_ZTF=F=+—HZMmE 351,700 2,839,091 3,190,791

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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14. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to
the valuation of investment properties:

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

14. &M @)

NP EERE)
VAT AR B S R EPT R A 2 (B T30
REERABIEZHR

Significant

Valuation technique unobservable input

fR{E i ERFUERHAYE
Commercial properties Direct comparison method Price per square foot
[k YES HELBE FFHRER
Agricultural produce Direct comparison method  Price per square foot

exchange markets and investment method & 75 R &%

EEMRZ SN HELBEREEE

Estimated rental value per

square foot and
per month

BRI REESEE

Capitalisation rate

AR

As at 31 March 2020, the valuations of investment properties were based on
either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables from
the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent of the
properties or the direct comparison method by reference to comparable
market transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value
per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair
value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair
value of the investment properties.

HK$68,000 to HK$66,000 to

HK$116,000 HK$148,000
68,0008 T E 66,0008 TTE
116,000& T 148,000 7T
HK$280 to N/A
HK$339 TEA
280/ B TE
339 T
HK$84 to N/A
HK$991 TEA
84 TE
9917 T
7% to 9% N/A
7%%E9% TEA

R-ZE_ZTF=ZA=1+—H BEYE
TRIBIRE R (BRI THEE
WzfeREBEEESMSEHEEERL)
FEELBE(AN2EAELEMSER
2)#ETEE -

FEHREREBAE LA (TR -
SEHREMEATEANEE M, O
) A BT T RESEBEEBEANE
EA/CTR) - 883BRENEATE
RigEm,/ Cid) - EREEEFAIR
EACRR) - eB3BRENEATE
Rigmd,/ (&)

AR AR
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15. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land, buildings
and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of
32 to 68 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of office properties generally have lease terms of 6
years, while retail shops generally have lease terms between 2 and 4 years.
Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is
individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension and termination options and variable lease
payments, which are further discussed below.

(@) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group'’s right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

5. HH

AEBEERAEA
AEBETAHEEFERAZZERAE T
LREFREEZHESH - AEEE
RAMEH —NEMNFAREERERES
+ib - HIA32E6SE - MIBEZS
THFEEZ BRI RE S EM
RIE - MARYMERE 2 HAEEE A6
FTDEEH2ABRABEN T224
F o B E 2 AEEE A1 208 A A
TR/ SENEBERE - —MWs @ &
EETAAAEEUIIALTEHRER S
THEEE - BRIFI BE TESEMEREK
IHREENTEHENKZAEEH
BRFIE®E— ST o

() ERERE
AREEREAE FEERSF
MEEHIT -

As at 1 April 2019

Leasehold
land Buildings Total

HE L ’¥ Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT

R-F-NEFOH—BEFAEEHH

(upon adoption of HKFRS 16) HMEERE16571%) 176,318 90,395 266,713
New leases FEIEE - 58,335 58,335
Additions as a result of acquisition ~ EUWEEHE A R MAE

of subsidiaries 12,544 14,538 27,082
Depreciation charge HrEEfx (4,886) (57,020) (61,906)
Disposal HE (17,121) - (17,121)
Impairment RE (6,235) (59,559) (65,794)
Lease modification HEEFT - 761 761
Exchange realignment ME H R (384) (344) (728)
As at 31 March 2020 RZTE=-FTF=A=+—H 160,236 47,106 207,342

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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15. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other payables
and accruals) and the movements during the year are as follows:

HK$'000
THET

RZZB—NFHA—BRABTEFHIRELR

As at 1 April 2019 (upon adoption of HKFRS 16)

5. M @)
AEBERRHEA ()
(b) HEEE
THE B (G A B FE 2B R
HERET) ZERERENS
mT

1 65JE1§) (122,890)
New leases HEIHE (60, 272)
Additions as a result of acquisition of subsidiaries  FEULFEHTE A R MAE (25,155)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year  FRIER 2 RILF| S (5, 648)
Payments (NEN 72,673
Lease modification HEEET (761)
Exchange realignment 0E 5 AR 616
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 RZE_TF=RA=+—HZKHA (141,437)
Analysed into: DR
Current portion ENERER (63,015)
Non-current portion FERNHEAER (78,422)
(141,437)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 48 to the

financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as

follows:

(c)

HEBEBZEHADMRYBR
RIS TEABHER -

RNBEERZHER

N

Eilakapl

_|

2020
et et 23
HKS$'000
FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HERBEZHR 5,648
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZITERX 61,906
Expense relating to short-term leases and B HIH E RN T =T F
other leases with remaining lease terms =RA=+—HstzpEREMEE
ended on or before 31 March 2020 (included HBREZAX GTAHEE kD HEMAY)
in selling and distribution expenses) 11,256
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets HIREEEEHEME R GTATRFX)
(included in administrative expenses) 682
Variable lease payments not included in the Rt A EBETTEZ AT HERNRK
measurement of lease liabilities (included GTASHE R D #HAS)
in selling and distribution expenses) 3,510
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE 65,794
Finance income on net investments in subleases 5% & F 58~ BT S A (1,059)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEBRERZ B3 147,737
T ESEEIERARAD 215
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15. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Extension and termination options

The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from
more than 2 years to 18 years. The leases containing extension and
termination options are managed locally and vary in terms. The Group
has included extension or termination options in the measurement
of the lease obligations when it is reasonably certain to exercise the
options.

Variable lease payments

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease
payment terms that are based on the Group's turnover generated
from the retail shops. There are also minimum annual base rental
arrangements for these leases. The amounts of the fixed and variable
lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the current year for
these leases are HK$37,928,000 and HK$3,510,000, respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows relating to
leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in notes 41(c) and
43, respectively, to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

(i)

Operating leases

The Group leases its investment properties and properties held for sale
consisting of 4 commercial properties in Hong Kong and 11 agricultural
produce exchange markets in mainland China under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group during
the year was HK$48,337,000 (2019: HK$10,746,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2020, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants are as follows:

5. M @)

REBEREBA (H)

(d)

(e)

(U]

EERAILEERE
AEERERBN T 26U EE
18@2?‘]?@@3}1 B E B A

IFEER ZEHERSETE
HEEERIGHERAAE - BAR
SEEEBE/TEEMNRILE
BN HAEEEZEst A8
TR bR o

WA E SR

AEHEESZHTEEMH - Hp
BERBEAEETEEHE XM
HEZ AT B ENRIER - %F
HETIARRFEEAESZ
BE o NREEBLZSHEN B ERE
RZEERAIZHAENRS B A
37,928,000 7t 53,510,000/ 7T

THEZ RS H AR N E 1 R B
M EERBNARRRSRED
R B 75 2k B 5 41 (0) Ko 43 3%
?g o

REBEERHBEA

(@

reER
AEFRBLEHEREHBER
REMERFSEHENE(BED
BUREE ZEEMERIAM
RPN RERR S T%) °
ZEMRE 2 GEFRBREREPX
HRES - ARBEFRERZHE
® U A /48337000 T (=F
— L4 ¢ 10,746,000/ 7T) - BE
FIBHR T IRARMFES

R-ZE-ZF=A=+—H0 K
SERIBETE P RT 2 AR
RRERE N R 2 YR
BHEENKAT :

2020 2019

= = 2 —FNF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHEIT

Within one year —FNRN 155,822 16,392
After one year but within two years —FRIEMEA 52,856 10,695
After two years but within three years ~ REFEEBE =R 19,739 2,426
After three years but within four years =& {&{BI04 A 8,468 146
After four years but within five years MEREBERER 6,246 =
After five years hF% 23,380 =
266,511 29,659

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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15. Leases (continued) 15. F& @&
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBERHEAE)
(i) Finance leases (i) REHEE
The Group sub-leased office premises to its fellow subsidiaries and 5 AEBEREREHERHMER
retail shops to its franchisees under finance lease arrangement, with AMBRBSHEBRAYERAEF
lease term negotiated for terms ranging from 2 to 3 years. The terms of EEHMESHETEER - HEMl
the lease require the tenants to pay security deposits. BN F223F - HEKRREKRH

FPXMRES

The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the DEREFEZRAERFANE
movements during the year are as follows: BT :
HKS$'000
FHEIT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 RZZE-—NFOA—BZKEE
(upon adoption of HKFRS16) (BRNB B IHREERIE16571%) 27,588
Additions arising from new leases EFETHEMAE 3,104
Accretion of finance income recognised FERNFER 7 BILEFFEUTA
during the year 1,059
Proceeds from subleases DR FIE (11,606)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 REZEZTF=A=+—HAZEAE 20,145
Analysed into: PR
Current portion BNEAER 5 10,526
Non-current portion FEENERES 9619
20,145
At 31 March 2020, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by the RZTZTF=A=+—H ' &K
Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance leases with its SERIZEE P FT L2 A A
tenants are as follows: BB G AR 2 B WA
WHEERFTAT
2020 2019
i =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHEIT
Within one year —FR 11,206 -
After one year but within two years —FREMFEA 7,878 =
After two years but within three years ~ BFZE=FR 2,167 =
21,251 -
In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is calculated on B bdES - FERAESIRE
a percentage of the turnover of the store. S BLOIETE -

AR AR
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16. Goodwill

1
HK$'000
FHET

218

6. W&

At 1 April 2018: RZZE—N\FMHA—A :
Cost AR 298,964
Accumulated impairment 2EHRIE (291,264)
Net carrying amount ARHENFE 7,700
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated impairment —N\FOA—BZHEA - Mk REHREE 7,700
Impairment during the year ended 31 March 2019 &#E-—Z—AGF=A=+—RHIFEZHE (7,700)
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 T NF=ZA=1+— Z—NFMHA—BK
:g:gi B=4r— -
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020: RZZE-—NF=A=1+—
—ZE-TF=A=1+—
Cost %N 298,964
Accumulated impairment Z25HRE (298,964)
Net carrying amount BREDF{E -

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Impairment testing of goodwill

As at 31 March 2019, goodwill acquired through business combinations was
allocated to the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU for impairment testing. The
recoverable amount of the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU was determined
based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by management. The
pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was as follows:

Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU R SR
The cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a steady
growth rate of 3%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Chinese
Pharmaceutical CGU for the year ended 31 March 2019. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates were based on
historical operating results, expected market development as well as industry
forecasts.

Expected changes in selling prices and direct costs — The expected amounts
were based on historical operating records and expectation of future changes
in the market.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020
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16. Goodwill (continued) 16. B2 @)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued) BE-Z-NF=HA=+—HLEFE
(#8)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) AmEREERE (E)

Discount rate — The discount rate was based on estimates of the required PIRE — R DRBAEFT REERE

rate of returns that reflect the current market assessment of the time BISE  —RMsERRPERSES

value of money, general market risks and the risks specific to the Chinese BRI 2 15Tk AT B & T

Pharmaceutical CGU. Ho

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a full impairment of HK$7,700,000 was RBE-_T-NF=ZA=+—HIF

made for the goodwill in the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU as a result of the B AREERERB(CREEHESS - K

deteriorating economic environment and weakening consumption. SERPERSEAEN I HEELHE

URI{E7,700,000/8 7T

17. Investments in Associates 17. RBEARZH/E
2020 2019
—ECZF —ZT-NEF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET T
Cost of investments in associates: REEE R R ZIZERKA : @
Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost REB LMD - R 600,031 600,031
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRRMG - HRAA 4,331 7,081
Less: impairment losses recognised B BRERREEE (223,552) (214,815)
380,810 392,297
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAR RS 1% 518 e At 2 T W s
other comprehensive income, net of HIBR B HEAR B
dividends received (68,797) (64,733)
Share of other reserve FEAE E A 2,020 2,020
314,033 329,584
The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed in R EEE N B 2 B 5 RIGRIE A 5R
note 22 to the financial statements. BRI SRR M5 224855 -
Particulars of a material associate are as follows: —HEBBE NG BN ¢
Percentage
of ownership
Place of incorporation/ interest
Particulars of issued registration and attributable to
shares held business the Group Principal activity
AEEEGFE
FFERITRAFRE AR, B AR R it B RS FEEK
Easy One* Ordinary shares Cayman Islands/ 29.06 Investment holding
P55 HKS0.01 each Hong Kong REER
BREBECOIATZEBER HEHS &6
* Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the subsidiaries * REZIRET - ZHEZ2HBR
of Easy One are the provision of financial service in Hong Kong and property development FZEBEKEAENEEIRESRRG
in mainland China. The financial statements of this associate are not audited by Ernst & MR BE AR EERE o :ZHBHERQ
Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network. R Z MR RSB ALK TR
EEAT R K G AT S AT 2 Bk
R E AR B A Rl ©

AR AR
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17. Investments in Associates (continued) 17. R BHE A R Z & (90
Notes: Ft5E
(@  Included in the cost of investments in associates is goodwill arising from the acquisition (@) REEQRTZBREXNABIEWESS
of Easy One. The movement in the cost of investment attributable to goodwill is set out TEACEHE RERTELEERZ
below. SEFIMNT ©
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2018 and 1 April 2019, net of cumulative impairment  R=Z—N\FMNA—HBE=-ZT—NFNA—AH - KRR
/WE 23,231
Impairment during the year FRRE (8,737)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-_ZTF=A=+—H 14,494

(b) Year ended 31 March 2019

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group acquired a total of 29,300,000 shares
of Easy One from the open market at an aggregate consideration of HK$14,790,000, and
the Group's equity interests in Easy One increased from 23.80% to 29.06%. As a result, an
aggregate gain on bargain purchase of equity interests in Easy One of HK$38,026,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2019 and included in “Share of profits and losses
of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

(c) The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Easy One,
a material associate of the Group, reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements:

(b)

()

BE-Z-hE=A=+—HLEE
RBE-_ZT—NAF=A=+—A81t
FE - AEBRARTSAERE
14,790,000 7 7T 45 B& & #£ 29,300,000 A%
Z5=ERG - NEER S 5HE 2 RE
FR23.80% 38 AN Z=29.06% ° At HE
—E-AF=ZA=+—HILFEZE
BREREWE S FSRENRKE
38,026,000/ 7L 5T AR & B2 & E Ath
EHEKESRI DG E D RRNRE
Bl

TEREES ZE(REEZEBE AT
ZIZEBBER  URERE
RIRHE(EZ 4R

CuprE

2020
=t gt 2
HK$'000 HK§ (0[0[0]
Fix FHT
Current assets MEEE 1,099,609 1,189,073
Non-current assets FERBEE 308,682 396,748
Current liabilities HEBAE (389,949) (473,671)
Non-current liabilities FnBHaE (8,986) (76,944)
Net assets BEFE 1,009,356 1,035,206
Reconciliation to the Group's interest AREEREERNR 2R -
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N 65 B R A O R B Bl 29.06% 29.06%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, AEED(HBERR 2 EEFE -
excluding goodwill TEENE 293,319 300,831
Goodwill on acquisition Wk 2 B O REHRE)
(less cumulative impairment) 14,494 23,231
Carrying amount of the investmentat 31 March ~ R=A=+—B WX EEHEE 307,813 324,062

pLiyLi]
—g-%x
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue Wz 113,393 130,761
Profit for the year AEEHF 41,461 53,097
Other comprehensive loss for the year AEEEMEEER (67,310) (119,267)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEXHEEBRERE (25,849) (66,170)
Dividend received B AR B -
Market value of the Group's investment R=A=+—HAAKEEKRE
at 31 March ZME 80,859 80,859
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17.

Investments in Associates (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 A

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

17. JRBEE AR Z B (50

BE - (48)

(d)

The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material:

(d)

TRBERERHERRNIEERE
RHIFE T EHY -

2020 2019

=t St 2 =TI

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Share of the associates’ profits/(losses) for the year FE(L Bt & R A A F Em F/ (E18) 3,129 (2,582)
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive e AR EmE2Ekas (EE)

income/(loss) 136 (136)
Share of the associates' total comprehensive EEBE DR 2EKE(BE)BE

income/(loss) 3,265 (2,718)

Dividend received B AR S 203 1,054
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEERBERRIZREZBERE

investments in associates 6,220 5522

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income

18, $% 2 1 i A% 30 4th 4 v e &5 A

Bl W 5 ¥

2020 2019
HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
FET

Listed equity investments, RS - BATFE
at fair value 51,866 87,388
Listed debt investments, at fair value LHEKEE  RATFE 121,354 165,146
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value  JE_ETHEKEE @ RAFE - 686,877
173,220 939411
Portion classified as current assets DI RRBEET D (48,120) (710,788)
Non-current portion IEMENE D 125,100 228,623

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the Stock Exchange
and were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

Assuming the portfolio of the Group's listed equity investments and listed debt investments
remained unchanged, the market value of the Group's listed equity investments and listed
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income at the date of approval
of these financial statements were HK$59,396,000 and HK$127,827,000, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group received dividends in the amount of
HK$4,371,000 (2019: HK$3,145,000) from the equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and recognised them in profit or loss.

At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group's equity investments and debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$44,341,000 and HK$121,354,000,
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (2019:
HK$65,430,000 and HK$146,181,000, respectively) (note 31).

i

(ii)

7T

PR AESR A 75 S B A2 BT £ T 2 B M9 4R
A HRARERBZEREBRH
RS - BB AR R IEE R A
FEEEMEEBEALR

REAEE 2 EHRERE R ETHE
BREHEBRBTE  AEBEQAT
EEE M2 E S AR ETRER
BER EMEBRERZZN I RTE
B B8 B 5 Bl 459,396,000/ 7T
127,827,000/ 7T °

REBE-ZE-TF=A=+—HLHF
B AEEEEERATFEEEMS
T e A BR 2 AR 1% 4 K ER 4,371,000
BIL(ZZ— N : 3,145,000 7T ) B

R=ZFE-_ZTF=FA=+—H0 "' 4%
[ 3 37 (B 8 5 5l A 44,341,000 7T &
121,354,000 (=T —NF : 5 5l
65,430,000 7T }.146,181,000/8 7T ) Z &
FEAFESHMERE WSR2
BRERERRE  WERBETAE
B2 —RIBITEE R

BEEERARA
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 25 A

31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

As at 31 March 2020, except for a defaulted listed debt investment of HK$3,794,000 which
was categorised within Stage 3, none of the listed debt investments were overdue and all
of them were categorised within Stage 1 for the assessment of expected credit losses.

As at 31 March 2019, none of the debt investments were overdue and all the debt
investments were categorised within Stage 1, except for an unlisted debt investment of
HK$686,877,000 which was categorised within Stage 2, for the measurement of expected
credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the expected
credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default approach with
reference to risk of default and losses given default of the issuers or comparable companies.
As at 31 March 2020, the probability of default applied ranged from 0.16% to 6.0% (2019:
0.02% to 25.0%) and the loss given default ranged from 50.1% to 59.3% (2019: 50.9% to
59.3%).

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are as follows:

18. $& 5 P8 28 H 4 2 i W #2 A
e Z W5 6 ()

MeE - ()

(i) RAFELEMEZEREARZER
’E ZBET

R-ZE-_FTE=F=1+—8  BREHD
BRI E3,7940008 T D HEAE
=REERSN - Efth T EBREH &S
0 BREHEEBENGEmS
FIAZSEBEREND B RE—TEE -

R-ZE-HhE=A=+—8  HEE
BRERY  RBHEEHEBNTE
mE ' BEBGRELNSEAE
B% + MEFE T EH5 1% & 686,877,000
LA TEREZPEER ©

NEREBHBEBERBHEEEE
BITRED - MESEEBEDE
BEREANRBREXRT2EELNER
MEEIT AR AT L A RIE SRS ) 5 1R
TRHRE - RZZTE_TFE=A=1+—
B BHOBERNT016%Z60%(=F
— N 002%F250%) ' EHEEN
F50.1%Z59.3%( —F— L4 : 509%%
59.3%) °

BATELEM2ERE AR ES
REZHMERBERBEEEINT

2020
i g 23 —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
5 Tz
At beginning of year R4 ) 101,781 182,134
Assets derecognised HIEHRZ BE (101,781) -
Impairment losses/(reversal of WEEBE/ CREBERD)
impairment losses), net (note 6) (M 5E6)
Reversal upon disposal/redemption R E /e % & E - (43,554)
Changes in risk parameters ENE ) - (37,548)
New investments purchased BEHKE 10,165 749
10,165 (80,353)
Atend of year RF R 10,165 101,781
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

19. Properties Under Development 19. e
2020
ZEZEF
HK$'000
FHT
Properties under development expected TEHRE R 2 B R 3 ¢
to be completed:
Within the normal operating cycle REFEEBIHANIIERDEE
included under current assets 297,146
Properties under development expected to be completed within the normal TRHEAR IE B & BB HREK R IKE 2 3
operating cycle and recovered: EHRmE
2020
—EIEF
HK$'000
FHT
Within one year —FR 234,844
After one year —F1& 62,302
297,146
20. Properties Held for Sale 20. FfEhEm%
2020
—EEF
HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount at 31 March R=EA=+—HZEEE 1,645,165
Notes: B &E -
[0 At 31 March 2020, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying value of 0] R-ZZE-ZEF=A=+—H &&E
HK$375,451,000 (2019: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group's general banking facilities IR E 42 1B 43754510008 (=2
(note 31). —NEF : 8 ZFHEHEYE - LAES

BT AREEZ —RBITEEPER)

(ii) Further particulars of the Group’s properties held for sale are included on page 287. (ii) AEEBRELEME 2 E—TFFH
RE287H -

MREERERERAR
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Notes to Financial Statements
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21. Inventories

21. ##8

2020 2019

ZE-BHF :?_hi

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHEIT

Raw materials and consumables JREROEE 42,879 49,770
Work in progress B 5,340 2,861
Finished goods IR 106,671 108,877
154,890 161,508

22. Trade Receivables

22. ® 5 BWGKIR

2020 2019

p g 223 —ZE-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHT

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIR 86,103 97,323
Less: Accumulated impairment o BEDRE (18,801) (5113)
67,302 92,210

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit
period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to
a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from the Group's
associates of HK$14,805,000 (2019: HK$13,871,000) which are repayable on
credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.
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hEEERR o AEEWELE H R
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Notes to Financial Statements

22. Trade Receivables (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

B 5 A

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

B 5 ME Wk JE (1)

B o RRFIAR R EMRRIEER A
NANRRE R R AR 2 BRI A ATEA T

2020 2019

“ECEF —T-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHBT

Within 1 month & A AR 24,426 46,305
1 to 3 months 1&23f@A 25,600 29,108
3 to 6 months 3E6fE A 12,078 13,173
Over 6 months BiB61E A 5,198 3,624
67,302 92,210

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are

as follows:

B 5 REFRZBERBESIT -

2020 2019

—E-RE —ZT—hiF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

At beginning of year REH] 5,113 5,244
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) U BRI A 7] (B FE38) 5,969 =
Impairment losses, net (note 6) REEE - (M) 9,167 726
Exchange realignment (ERIEE (135) (199)
Amount written off as uncollectible EisH 2 fE R B FRIE (1,313) (658)
At end of year RER 18,801 5113

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and
rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

REHRE B BERBBEERETRE
O UFERBAEEEE - HEx
TBEREREERUEREANZ ER
FoabErT o AmEHn B &Gt E (A
R R - EmRL - FRREMF
) o ZETH RN KNI R

R E RN RS RS E’Jﬁ%ﬁiﬂ&%
B~ BRI R RGBSR
BRAEER - —RME @ WAHEE
—FERAEARGINITES - FHHE
S IEMIR
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 25 A

31 March 2020 — ==& =A=+—H

22. Trade Receivables (continued) 22. B 5 REWGRIE (a0
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TXEFIAEEF A EERESHNE
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: FREVFIENEERRER
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF=A=+—H

Past due

bl

Within 1to 3to Over
Current T1month 3 months 6 months 6 months
Ea 1@BAMUA 1231EA 3Z6fHA HEiR6MEA

Expected credit loss FAHREEE1ER

rate 0.2% 2% 6% 12% 92% 22%
Gross carrying LEEE(TSET)

amount (HKS'000) 51,478 4,882 3,984 6,745 19,014 86,103
Expected credit TR e &8

losses (HKS'000) (F%7T) 87 112 252 790 17,560 18,801
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ—NF=A=+—H

Past due
i Hp

Within 1to 3to Over

Current 1 month 3 months 6 months 6 months
=901 & A AR 123@A 3Z6fE A B iB6fE A

Expected credit loss FEHAEEE B

rate 0.5% 1% 1% 1% 77% 5%
Gross carrying #RRREE(FHT)

amount (HKS$'000) 69,641 4483 11,442 5812 5,945 97,323
Expected credit TR s B ke

losses (HKS'000) (F&T) 319 38 82 72 4,602 5113
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Notes to Financial Statements

23. Loans and Interest Receivables

B 5 A

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

23. MR BB

2020 2019

—_ 1 —= $ > 771&

HK$'000 HK$/000

FHT FiET

Loans receivables, secured BURESR - HiEHE (i), (iif) 35,381 -
Loans receivables, unsecured FEURE SR - I (ii), (iii) 15,288 -
Interest receivables FEUF B 18,871 27494
69,540 27,494
Less: Impairment allowance R ORERHE (iv) (1,290) (3463)
68,250 24,031

Notes:

(i)

(ifi)

As at 31 March 2020, these loan receivables were stated at amortised cost at effective
interest rates ranging from 8% to 12% per annum. The credit terms of these loan receivables
are 3 years.

As at 31 March 2020, these loan receivables were stated at amortised cost at effective
interest rates ranging from 1% to 6% per annum. The credit terms of these loan receivables
range from 3 months to 6 years.

As at 31 March 2020, all of these loan receivables are either overdue or with maturity within
one year, and they have been classified as current assets accordingly.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest receivables are as
follows:

FI=E :

(ii)

(D}

N—E_TFE=-A=+—H " ZE5E
WEFIRE R ATIER - BB F M=
NFENE - ZERRERZEEH

R=F -
R-ZB-ZF=A=+—R0 " ZFRK
WEFIZEHK AT - BIRERN R

NFI1ZE6E - ZERBERZEEH
NF=ERAERF -

RZE-_TFE=[=+—H " %
EREERIC BN —F R
B ZESBEARDEE °

R B R B R E AR R R B
W -

pLiyi]

—g-g=
HK$’000 HKS (0[00]
FHET FHET
At beginning of year R ) 3,463 6,603
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) U B Bt B8 A &) (B 5E38) 1,207 -
Reversal of impairment losses, net (note 6) EE B D - FEE(MEe) (3,349) (3,140)
Exchange realignment PE N AR (31) =
Atend of year RF R 1,290 3,463

As at 31 March 2020, except for loans and interest receivables with an aggregate gross
amount of HK$58,029,000 and HK$86,000 were overdue and categorised within Stage 2
and Stage 3 for the assessment of expected credit losses, respectively, none of the loans
and interest receivables were overdue and all of them were categorised within Stage 1 for
the measurement of expected credit losses.

As at 31 March 2019, none of the loans and interest receivables were overdue and all the
balances were categorised within Stage 1, except for an interest receivable of an unlisted
debt investment with a gross amount of HK$23,768,000 which was categorised within
Stage 2, for the measurement of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the expected
credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default approach with
reference to the risks of default and loss given default of the borrowers or comparable
companies. As at 31 March 2020, the probability of default applied ranged from 0.16% to
6.0% (2019: 0.02% to 25.0%) and the loss given default ranged from 50.1% to 62.5% (2019:
50.9% to 59.3%).

R-Z-_TF=A=+—0 " KREk@A
48 {8 /58,029,000 7T, [ 86,0007 JT 2
BREFRENERE B RHELE
BEBNtEME 2RI BEAE R
FE=FRERIN - HthERE R RS
wma ] BB EEBENEm
T AREREBERRF S SR
BETEE -

RZZE-—NF=A=+—H  HIEE
H&Em&ﬂ@@ﬂﬁ REHEEEE
WETEMs - IAGSRHEIEAE—
P ER » 4% 423,768,00078 T2 — 18
FEMEHRENERFEAFASE
—PEER ©

REREAHERE RAHEEER
ETREDN - MEREEBENE
ﬂﬂgﬁﬁLi’JHFﬂ‘Mii&%Li’mﬁﬁ
15&'/\}\&Tttﬂﬁﬁﬂjﬁtmgﬁg
TEE - R=ZZT=_ZTF=A=+—
A ZBHOMENT016%E60%(=F
— N 002%FE250%) * mmm@s
BH AE501%E625%( —F— L4 ¢
50.9%Z59.3%) °

ERERERERD
Teleen
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

228

24. TR ~ $4 Fo 3 it W

K IE

2020 2019
—E-RE —TNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Prepayments TR ERIE 25,785 13,419

Deposits paid for the acquisition of WY - BB Rz B AR
property, plant and equipment &K 2,254 3,499
Rental and other deposits HekEMiEe 103,974 32,840
Other receivables b FE U8 89,763 14,844
Right-of-return assets LE}EQF 1,848 3,398
Cost of obtaining contracts B3 & 492 A 46,492 =

Total prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - RS RE M EUGRIE

receivables k) 270,116 68,000
Less: Impairment allowance B RERHE (835) =
269,281 68,000

Less: Deposits classified as B DFERIERBEE 2R
non-current assets (19,905) (21,702)
Portion classified as current assets PERRBEENDD 249,376 46,298

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised
the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss when the revenue
from the related property sale is recognised and are included in selling and
distribution expenses at that time. During the year ended 31 March 2020, no
sales commission was charged to profit or loss.

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits, deposits
with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have no history of
default. The financial assets included in the above balances were not overdue
and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses,
except for balances of HK$20,401,000 (2019: Nil) which was categorised within
Stage 2 for the measurement of expected credit losses. Where applicable, an
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the
expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of
default approach with reference to the risks of default of the counterparties.
As at 31 March 2020, the probability of default applied ranged from 0.83% to
3.3% and the loss given default was estimated to be approximately ranged
from 55.8% to 62.5%. As at 31 March 2019, the loss allowance was assessed to
be minimal.
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Notes to Financial Statements

24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

(continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

24. TR ~ $4 Fo 3 it W

X JE (50

SEATEMFR - e REMEKFIRZ
MBEERENBRREESIT -

2020 2019

b b 223 —ENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHET

At beginning of year RE - =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W R B8 A B (P 5338) 825 =
Impairment losses (note 6) RUE R (Ki5E6) 30 -
Exchange realignment HE K SR (20) =
At end of year RER 835 =

25. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss

Financial assets

25. &P AR 2R AR Z 55

g fafk

MBEE

2020

—E-BF —T—NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHIT

Unlisted funds, at fair value FLEMES RATE 50,382 1,886

Listed equity investments, at fair value R E - I ATE 73 =

Listed perpetual notes, at fair value  EMKEZHE - RAFE - 19,403
Derivative component of unsecured — #E3IF=E 2 HT4E T AE S

notes 6,220 -

56,675 21,289

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair value
gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

The above unlisted fund investments and listed perpetual notes were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

Notes:

(i) The fair value of unlisted fund investments is determined based on the quoted market
prices provided by fund administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-
counter market.

At the end of the reporting period, the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
that are denominated in USD, other than the functional currencies of the respective group
entities, amounted to HK$50,382,000 (2019: HK$21,289,000).

(ii) At 31 March 2019, the Group's listed perpetual notes of HK$19,403,000 were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 31).

LR A DR AR A FELEREA
RZBHBEE  RERANEEILHE
BEHMEERSE RN T ERERE

B

i ERSRE R ETKEREE
SRl D ERR AT ELBRES AR IS
BE  AREEHNRE MBI IFE R
SNARE RS

fi

() FEEMEEREZ ATFEIRIBHE
SERARBZIABME  2Z8%
IR BTG EZ BRREE -

RRERR - UEREEERER
MELAIN B E T EZ R A TFEL
B ABR 2 IR 4E1% & /550,382,00078 7T
(ZZ—NE : 21,289,00087C) °

(i) RZZE—NF=A=+—80 ' 58
KRB (E 19,403,000 T 2 EHKEZE
& URBRTASE 2 —RIETE
B (PfH7E31) ©
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25. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss (continued)

Financial liabilities

Derivative component of convertible notes

AHAREE 2 OTE T AR D

5. & P H G AR Z 1 #

26. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

B, il
PPy

2020
—z-®f
HKS$'000
T
621
HWERBE&ERIERUEZ

PR ) B 42
2020 2019
ZBoEEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHEIT
Cash and bank balances R e RIRITHRR 463,180 149,209
Time deposits TEHTFER 20,679 22,000
483,859 171,209
Less: restricted bank balances (note) R X REIERTT AR (PR EE) (8,157) =
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFLERIER 475,702 171,209

Note:  According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries
of the Group with their banks, the subsidiaries are required to place at designated bank
accounts certain amounts as deposits for potential default of mortgage loans advanced to
property purchasers. The deposits can only be used for payments for construction costs
of the relevant properties. These guarantee deposits will be released after the property
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the banks.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$333,343,000 (2019: HK$37,109,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised
to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposits rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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27. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Liabilities 27. 23 A EHENEE K H

Directly Associated with the Assets Classified as 3 J8 0 45 A H S 0 R LR
Held for Sale il L= R
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE—Z-hF=A=1+—HLEFE
2019
—g-ne
HK$'000
FAT
Assets classified as held for sale PEABEHENEE
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified as held H8ARFELERN L E—RHMBAR]
for sale BE
- Union Target — A 0] 53,110
Non-current assets classified as held forsale DA ERENIEREEE
— Property, plant and equipment —% - BEREE (ii) 67,716
120,826
Liabilities directly associated with the HEABARELHENEEEREHEEN
assets classified as held for sale afE
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as D AFEHEHHE —MHB A
held for sale B&
— Union Target — BB 0) 361
Notes: B 5E
0} On 28 February 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement 0] RZT—AF=_A=1+N\A8  £5H
with independent third parties to dispose of the entire equity interest in Union Target BB E =AM ERREEE R - A
Limited (“Union Target”) and the shareholder's loan owed to the Group at a consideration R 1853,088,0007%8 7T i & BB A R A A
of HK$53,088,000. The transaction was completed on 14 June 2019. The consideration was ([H3A ) 2 2 3P ARiE R RS AN EE K
adjusted to HK$52,718,000 based on the net asset value of Union Target as at 14 June 2019. RRER - ZRHIN =T —NFRA
THOEZEX - R=ZZ—AFARA+H
H RERBEUBzZEEFEARR
52,718,000/& 7T °
The assets and liabilities of Union Target (excluding an inter-company loan and amounts RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H Ba@En
due from group companies which are eliminated on consolidation) as at 31 March 2019 are BERBEBE(TEERGEIRE L
as follows: B2 RIBE R R B R E A RFRIE) 1A
T
Union Target
A
HK$'000
FHT
Assets BE
Investment property BEMZE 53,088
Deposits && 2
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale DRERFIELENLE BB RRIEE 53,110
Liabilities RiE
Other payables EH e RIE 361
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale AERFELHENHE —HNRBRARIAE 361
Net assets directly associated with the disposal subsidiary HEERB AR EEAENEEEE 52,749
(ii) On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement (ii) R=ZZF-—AF=A=+/\B ' x5£H
with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as leasehold land and BB E=FR] LR B EHE -
buildings included in property, plant and equipment at a consideration of HK$102,800,000. R B 102,800,000/ 7T H &5 A B -
The transaction was completed on 30 May 2019. WEREZENDRREELHRIEF
WE - ZRHGR_T—NEARA
=+HB7%X

AR AR
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28. Trade Payables 28. ® 5 BEAHKIR

232

2020

—g-2F

HK$'000
FET

Trade payables & G e FIE 66,709

2019
—Z-AF
HK$'000
FET

35,959

An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period,

based on the invoice date is as follows: ZIRERDITIATE ¢

B RNFRR B EMRRIERRAH

2020 2019

—ECEF —ZE-hF

HK$’000 HKS'000

FExT FHET

Within 1 month & A AR 6,751 14,923
1 to 3 months 12318 A 3,625 6,547
3 to 6 months 3Z6fEA 4,470 7,608
Over 6 months B imofE A 51,863 6,881
66,709 35,959

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of
30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame.

AN
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29. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities 9. it W AF 3k H R R A
AR U

2020 2019
— 7 p— ﬂ-: :EE*j—LE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Receipts in advance TEWHRIR 95,606 10,398
Rental and other deposits received B U S K HAbizE 92,854 4,588
Contract liabilities AHEE (a) 548,829 7,098
Refund liabilities BREE 2,508 6,089
Other payables H e {508 (b) 213,392 22,808
Accruals st E A (© 82,159 58,741
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 141,437 -
Promissory Notes IR (d) 376,000 -
Accrued interest on Promissory AL IR 2 FERT 2 (d)
Notes 266,113 -
Less: Portion classified as W DRI EREAER S
non-current liabilities (81,586) (1,883)
Portion classified as current liabilities 28 &REI & EE 5 1,737,312 107,839
Represented by: ¥ -
Contract liabilities AHEE 548,829 7,098
Current portion of other payables HAth FET I8 M &R T E A 2
and accruals mENE D 1,188,483 100,741
Portion classified as current liabilities 9 ¥ &mE& &S H 1,737,312 107,839
Notes: BisE
(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) BHBEFBWT :

31 March 2020
et et 22

=A=t-—-H
HK$'000
FHExT

Advances received from customers (7] B = 4 BR Y Bk

31 March 2019 1 April 2018
—T-N\F

mA—A

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT FHET

Sale of goods HERY 8,173 7,098 7434
Sale of properties Fiz k=7 540,656 - -
548,829 7,098 7434

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation to sales of Chinese
and Western pharmaceutical and health food products and advances received from buyers
in connection with the Group's pre-sales of properties. The net increase in contract liabilities
was mainly due to the CAP Acquisition.

EHEEREREEFAERRER
MR E AR PR A B R R A K E
BRENERERUERNBER - SHE
BRI IFEFEARPRERERK
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29. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one year. The
carrying amounts of the above other payables approximate to their fair values.

As a result of the initial application of HKFRS 16, accrued lease payments of HK$2,583,000
previously included in “Other payables and accruals” were adjusted to the right-of-use assets
recognised at 1 April 2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the financial statements for further details).

On 5 December 2007, CAP, which was acquired by the Group on 12 February 2020,
issued two promissory notes with an aggregate amount of HK$376,000,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wuhan Baisazhou Market (the “Promissory Notes"). The
Promissory Notes bore interest at 5% per annum and were repayable in five years from
the date of issue. CAP may, at its absolute discretion, pay all or any part of the outstanding
principal amount and interest of the Promissory Notes.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group was in the process of pursuing a litigation regarding the
Promissory Notes. For details, please refer to note 45(a).

30. Unsecured Bonds and Notes

234

(a)

Unsecured Notes 2024

29. iy e fF k 0E K REEH A
B B ()

Fff%

Rt

(b)

d

- ()
HAENRBANE  BEE—FA
,ﬁéi/% o bt B Al R A5 SR IR A B T £

ATEIRE -

HREREABRSHEREERSE 16
5% - SRRt Al H AR T8 R BT B
A |z FEst & 302,583,000 T 2
AR-ZZ—NEHA—HERRZE

REAE(GE—FHBEE2MUBEHEE
fiEE2.2) ©
R-TPLF+-ATA TEE

ER(AEEER_ZE-_ZTF_- A
+ToBBHEKE) BHITRBEESEA
376,000,000/ 7T Z & H 2K - EAI
BRZEAPNTHZBIRE(HEL
FR]) o AHERIZFRIE%:T L
W/AR BT R AFERNEE - B
BRERISENBEINEALRRZ
2K AT REEAS RFIE ©

RZT_ZTF=A=1+—80 " £5EH
J—.EET»)Eg(RmB;}Etuﬁ;Q o BB
E2HMEE45)

. SRR 2R B R R

(a)

“HFEEERRE

As at 31 March 2020
F=A=+-~H

n=2=%

Contractual
interest
rate (%)

per annum

SREFE(%)

Unsecured Notes 2024 —E R EIEIRE R

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

30. Unsecured Bonds and Notes (continued)

(a)

Unsecured Notes 2024 (continued)

On 19 May 2014, CAP established a HKS$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The notes issued under the program are listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only.
CAP further announced that interest on the notes will be payable
annually in arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

CAP has totally issued 40 batches with the principal amount of
HK$400,000,000 which bears interest at 1% per annum on 30 May 2014,
11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18 July 2014, 28
July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September 2014, 6 October
2014 and 7 October 2014, respectively (the “Unsecured Notes 2024").
The entire Unsecured Note 2024 will mature on 30 September 2024.

Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows:

Redemption period by CAP: Three specified redemption dates from
31 December 2023 to 30 June 2024

Redemption amount on maturity date: 96.85% of the principal amount

Up to the acquisition date of the CAP Group and as at 31 March 2020,
CAP has completed the repurchase of and cancelled the Unsecured
Notes 2024 in an aggregate principal amount of HK$110,000,000.
Accordingly, principal amount of HK$290,000,000 remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2020.

The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated
using the effective interest method by using the effective interest rate
of 11.1%.

B 285 A M

31 March 2020 —ZE-ZF=F=+—H

0. JEFEHPE SR B S 0% (4

(a)

“OERERRE (B
RZZE—NFERA+HIE  FE
R fb 3% 37 1,000,000,0007 78 2
HHARBE S - RIBAEIBTZ
REARMEXREEETES
A REERRPT BT o MERE
mi#E — FEMEEN S HIRFEH
BT FFERI% ©

FEEEMED IR T —N4F

ﬁﬂ*ﬂLE ° _?*@ix\

+—8 - —mEASAZTHh
E\iﬁ—mitﬂ_a~_
ﬁ—@fﬁtﬂﬂ'ﬁ 2T
FLA+TNARH —mME £
A=+NH - :%*@it
A=Z+hRA - Z=E—WFENA
Z+RB - ZE—MEAR=T
H ZZ—HWE+ARBR=Z
—HF+ A+t HE HKETI08 KR

& #8/3400,000,0007% 7T 4 FI| 2 &

1%2 FB5H ([ =T — MF EIERE
®1) o —T-NEEEARER
EHRN T _HFAR=THE|
HA o

“EONFEEERRBZFEL
™

FEEERBRERE - =EE
EHEEAMBR T -_=F+=H
=+—HE_Z-_WFARA=1+
=

REPHZEE SR :
96.85%

REFELZ

BHEFHEEMSEBWEASILE
ER-ZZF-_TF=A=+—A8"
PR REMD AR REHEA
£ 51100000008 T2 — &
TN EE IR o Bt - R
T-TF=A=+—H A&
290,000,00078 7T 1M AR E3E

R ERERRERZ NS
SEAERMERINI%Z BER
MEEFE -

(LT 2 BEEER AR
_7_7¢¢*E
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30. Unsecured Bonds and Notes (continued)

236

(b) Bonds 2020
On 19 November 2014, CAP entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent for the issuance of non-listed bonds with maturity
in 2020 in an aggregate principal amount of HK$26,000,000 ("Bonds
2020").

CAP has issued the Bonds 2020 in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$26,000,000 on 5 January 2015, 13 February 2015, 30 March 2015
and 17 April 2015 to the subscribers with the interest rate of 3.00%
payable annually for those bonds issued on or before 18 February
2015 and 7.30% payable annually for the other bonds issued after 18
February 2015. The Bonds 2020 was matured and redeemed in full by
CAP on 18 February 2020.

The fair value of the unsecured bonds and notes at the acquisition date of
the CAP had been split into the liability and derivative components and their
movements are as follows:

Bonds 2020
“ECEEFS
Liability
component

CLEEi)
HK$'000
TAL

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and
1 April 2019

R-Z—-N\ENA—H  —T-h%F=H
=t+t-AK=T-NFmA—A -

0. MEFCHME IR B IR (50

(b) =Z-FHEH
R=F—WFE+—HA+hB &
B B = m S 5 IR AT S AL 5 16
ml«/{?“ﬁﬁA Z_TFIHES
8% /326,000,000 7T 2 IF £
?’:ﬁ(f ToTEFS])

FREEEGER=Z—AF—A
AR - =Z—ZE—AF=-F+=8"
—E—hF=-A=+HEK=Z
—ﬁimﬂ+t5%“$$@ﬁ
5260000008 T2 —E_FF
BEFTREA  HPRZZ—H
FZA+N\BRZRIETZES
BEERMNFIERE300%  R=F
—AF-—A+N\BZEETZE
HFEHFREMAFEAR730% - =
T oTFBEFEN T TF=
A+N\BESHEEATBERERT
HEED o

A A T R o R 2 R
B2 ATERFH ARERTAETAY
ESBOT :

Unsecured Notes 2024
“ECMEREAEE
Liability

component
afEHs
HK$'000
THT

Derivative
component Total
TTEIERS b
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT

(note 25)

(Fit5E2s)

Acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR 25853 178513 (5393) 198,973
Accretion of interest ZHEFIS 147 2,707 - 2854
Redemption e (26,000) - - (26,000)
Fair value gain AFEdE = = (827) (827)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-FF=f=+—H = 181,220 (6,220) 175,000
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31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

Current:

BIAR

Bank loans - secured
PITER—BER

Bank loans - secured

RITER —BEMR

Bank loans - unsecured

BATER — R

Non-current:

FEBNE
Bank loans - secured

RITRR —BEMR

Other loan - unsecured
HER—EHR
- Loan from a fellow
subsidiary
—RE—HRZNE
ARIZER

Contractual
interest
rate (%)

BHFIE(%)

HIBOR+1.5
ERRTRZERE
+1.5E

HIBOR

+(1.56 to 1.65)/
RMB base

lending rate
+(0to 1.39)/
1.49t07.35
EBRITRAERE
+(1.56EZ1.65E),/
ARBEEERFIE
+(0EZE1.39E)/
1.49E%7.35E

RMB base
lending rate
-1.05
ARBEREHRFE
-1.05E

HIBOR+1.56/

RMB base

lending rate

+(0to 1.39)/
7.125t07.35
EBRTRERE
+1.56 / ARMEE
EXAE+
(0EZ1.39E)/
7125E%7.358

10
10E

2020
—E-EE

e

Maturity
£

On demand
REEERE

2020 - 2021

—E-EFE
—E--F

2020 - 2021

2021 -2029

—g-—4%
S B

2022
—E-CE

Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

31. WHESAT R A

2019
—ENF
Contractual
INEEY
HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
TET ANFIE%)  FH BT

135,000 HIBOR+1.5 On demand 150,000
BEARIAERE  RNREERE
+158
500,655 HIBOR  2019-2020 82,290
+(1.56 t0 1.65)
BEARTRZERE ZT-NEFZ
+(1.56EZ1.65E) 3
17,472 - - -
653,127 232,290
641,598 HIBOR+1.56 2026 619,937
EHRITAERE+156 —T-AF
B
75,000 - - -
716,598 619,937
1,369,725 852,227
T EHEFEIEREGRAA] 237
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31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings  31. wBE &84T & H Al )

(continued)

2020 2019
—ECBF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAxT
Analysed into: KANRA :
Bank loans repayable: R TOIFEER 2 RITE :
Within one year or on demand —F AR E R (@)

(Note (a)) 653,127 232,290
In the second year MERA 114,023 44,790
In the third to fifth years, inclusive =ERFAN(BERRMRE) 236,052 164,412
Beyond five years AFAE 291,523 410,735
1,294,725 852,227

Other borrowing repayable: RTHFHERZ EMEE
In the third to fifth years, inclusive =ERFEN(REERME) 75,000 -
1,369,725 852,227

Notes: ffsT -

(a) Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group is a term loan with a principal (@) AEBZARBTERBREASE
amounting to HK$135,000,000 (2019: HK$150,000,000), of which the respective loan 1350000008 T (=T — N &F :
agreement contains a repayment on-demand clause giving the bank the unconditional 150,000,000 7T) Z E BAE 3K - H A48
right to call in the loan at any time and therefore, the respective loan amount has been BRI A R E SRR B AR
classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loan is included Mo AT IRITEGEER - ATRER B
within current interest-bearing bank and other loans and analysed into bank loans EEXR - Bt - HEERSERRE
repayable within one year or on demand. A - ElHiTimE - FEERG

AmBET SRITREMEEAR - Wi
—FRNRREEEREEEZRITE
FOETTOMT
At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing bank and other RIRERR - T SRTREMERER
borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements is as BERBHTE 2 EERB HE S
follows: ZEIEAHAST ¢
2020
—ZT-2HF —BNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Bank loans repayable: RTEHERBZRITER :
Within one year —FR 548,127 97,290
In the second year M F A 144,023 74,790
In the third to fifth years, inclusive —ERFN(REERFMSF) 311,052 269,412
Beyond five years EENUE 291,523 410,735
1,294,725 852,227
Other loans repayable: RTIEHERBZHMER :
In the third to fifth years, inclusive SERFRN(BEERWE) 75,000 -
1,369,725 852,227
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Notes to Financial Statements

31. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property, plant and equipment
(note 13), owned investment properties and certain rental income generated therefrom
(note 14), properties held for sale (note 20), financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (note 18).

(c) As at 31 March 2020, except for the bank borrowings of HK$261,567,000 and other
borrowing of HK$75,000,000 from a fellow subsidiary which bear interest at fixed rates, all
bank loans bear interest at floating interest rates. As at 31 March 2019, all bank borrowings
bore interest at floating interest rates.

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group's bank and other borrowings which are denominated in
the following currencies are as follows:

31.

B 255 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H
wh B SR A7 B At i 8 ()

- ()

)  AEEERTRITERTDALEEZY
¥ BERERRE(NEZ)  BAKRE
MEREEEZETHSEA(ME
14) ~ FEREME(ME20) RIZAF
BEEE M2 ERE AR BT EE (Y
FE18)fEIEAR o

© R-ZZE-_ZF=A=+—8 ' KRIET
&5 261,567,000 T RKRE —HR R
8 A 7] 2 H b f5 575,000,000 7T 5
RETE R BN FAEHRITERY
AFBFIRE - RZT—NF=A
=+—8 ' FARTERENZEF

RS e

@  ANEREATIIEEEZRITEE M
EEZREENT

2020

=t ot 2.3 ;
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
HKS BT 883,237 852,227
RMB AR 486,488 -
1,369,725 852,227

LT E B AR A A
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32. Convertible Notes

On 19 October 2016, CAP issued convertible notes in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$500,000,000 which bear interest at 7.5% per annum (the “CN
2021"). The CN 2021 will mature after 5 years from the date of issuance and
can be convertible into ordinary shares of CAP at any time between the
date of issuance of the CN 2021 and the maturity date. The CN 2021 are
convertible at a conversion price of HK$0.4 per share.

The interest for the year ended 31 March 2020 was calculated by applying an
effective interest rate of 11.48% to the liability component for the remaining
period from the acquisition date of the CAP Group.

As at 31 March 2020, the CN 2021 with principal amount of HK$264,800,000
were outstanding and the maximum number of shares to be converted is
662,000,000 shares of CAP.

The fair value of the CN 2021 at the acquisition date of the CAP Group had
been split into the liability and derivative components and their movements

32. IR EE

REZ—RFTA+TNLE  TERER
1T 4258 5500,000,00078 7T HREF
K7 5%t B2 AT HRER(—F——
FAMBERE]) - —T - —FAHMRKRE
BRNETH R AFE RIS - A
R-ZFB-_—FABMEREBERTAHERE
IR R R R A B R ER T
B - —T - —F IR RER AR
BER0ABIT T IAEE -

BE—Z-BF-A=t+-ALFEZ
T8 T35 8 (A5 7 B R G B
BEH Hﬁt#ﬁ%?,ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ] 1.48%2 B

%lj_'_ﬂ 7"’

RZEZZTF=A=+—H =—T=—
FAIBRBREE s HAEERNSEAL
264,800,000/ 7T * fxf= A SR DEX B
£662,000,0000%F BB E MR ©

—E - FABERERTEREMRSE
EWERHz A FEERSBEBRIT

are as follows: TR - HEHHIT :

Derivative
component Total
PTETAEHS st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
F&T T T

(note 25)

GEPS)

Liability
component
=N

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and R=ZT—\FWA—H  —ZT—NnF

1 April 2019 =A=t+t-—HBR=_ZE—AFHA—H = = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)  UWxEEHIEB A Rl (FI7E38) 248,415 1,201 249,616
Accretion of interest ZIEHI S, 1,399 - 1,399
Fair value gain A EHK R = (580) (580)
At 31 March 2020 RZE=—TF=A=1+—H 249,814 621 250,435
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31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

33. Deferred Tax 33. EERIIH
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as FRNREREEEREEZ FFHWT :
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEEE
Unrealised
fair value gain
on financial
Depreciation assets at Fair value
allowance fairvalue  adjustment
in excess through other  arising from
ofrelated  Revaluation comprehensive acquisition of
depreciation of properties income  subsidiaries
RAFEEHM
2EMNEARE EREHELR
BBEEIE BHEEZAE MELATE
ZTERHE WXERE RATERS RE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET FAT T
At 1 April 2018 RZE—\FEA—H 27,111 - 5,353 - 32464
Deferred tax charged to profitor ~ FRMBRR NG ZIEEFH
loss during the year 4627 - - - 4627
Deferred tax credited to other FRREM2ER AL
comprehensive income during ERHIE
the year - - (3,521) - (3,521)
At31 March2019and 1 April 2019 R=Z—hAF=ZA=+-A}
T-NFNA—A 31,738 = 1,832 = 33570
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) Hﬁl%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂ(lﬂﬁ%) - 488,922 - 156,887 645,809
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)  HE&MBA R (BF40) (7) - - - (7)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to  FRRMEZERIG /(GIA) ZEL
profit or loss during the year R (1,363) 887 - - (476)
Deferred tax credited to other FRREMEEREALZ
comprehensive income during RIERIR
the year - - (1832 - (1,832
Exchange realignment B A = (12232) - (3922) (16,154)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-TF=A=+—H 30,368 477577 - 152,965 660910
T EEXIERERA 241
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33. Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets

33. EHERLIE )
BEREEE

Loss Depreciation
available for in excess
offsetting of related Impairment of
against future depreciation financial
taxable profit allowance assets Total
BHEERERE HBEBTE BisEE
BANZARAEE SHBEZRE AE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2018 RZZF-N\FHA—H 34,232 4,774 323 39,329
Deferred tax credited to profitor ~ FRMETRR T AZELERTE
loss during the year 592 180 175 947
At31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=F—h&E=A=+—HK
ig—ﬂiﬂl H—H 34,824 4,954 498 40,276
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to FRRABERT A/ (F1R) ZIEL
profit or loss during the year 18 (8,440) (4,905) 111 (13,234)
At 31 March 2020 —ZTF=RA=+—H 26,384 49 609 27,042
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have HERENMS - ETEEHBEER

been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

EEEE”AEH%H%%%%WTB&% o AT
RARBERER BRI TS B
B = (B AT

2020
—v—wq—:

2019
—T-hEF
HKS'000
T

HK$'000
FET

RERE MR R AER ARV IR EE

consolidated statement of financial R
position 48 10,122
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in ~ R4R& BIEARR R AERHELH BEE
the consolidated statement of financial it
position (633,916) (3,416)
(633,868) 6,706

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$693,753,000 (2019: HK$456,926,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has unused tax losses
arising in mainland China of HK$381,520,000 (2019: HK$9,464,000) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
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33. Deferred Tax (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 March 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in mainland
China. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
these subsidiaries in mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised amounted to HK$324,403,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

33.
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34. Share Capital 34. BA
Shares igv)
2020 2019
—E-RE == I
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Authorised: VAR
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,0000% &[%0.017# 7T 2 L@
HKS$0.01 each 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
1,231,642,888 ordinary shares of 1,231,642,8880% & [%0.0178 70,2 EiBA%
HKS$0.01 each 12,316 12,316
The movements in the share capital and share premium account of the AR AR R A7 5 (B 2 B D 45 At 40
Company were summarised as follows: T
Number
of shares Issued Share
inissue capital premium Total
2RIT B81T
ROEE R MR R E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THET THET
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FHA—H 1,265,142,888 12,651 2,116,420 2,129,071
Cancellation of shares FEEHRE AR (PfEE)
repurchased (note) (33,500,000) (335) (9,621) (9,956)
At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 RZZE—NF=A
and 31 March 2020 =+—HB -ZF—hF
MA—BR=ZZT=TF
=A=+—H 1,231,642,888 12,316 2,106,799 2,119,115
Note: B 5E
The Company purchased 33,500,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of REBEE-_ZT—AF=A=Z=+—"HIFE
HK$9,956,000 during the year ended 31 March 2019. The purchased shares were cancelled during R ) BA B AR B 9,956,000/ T A B X TR B
that year. 33,500,000/ fx 17 - ZZEBERHOERZF
JEREEH
Details of the shares repurchased by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 are ARAARBE_E—NF=A=+—HItHF
summarised below: EEOEROFBERRAT
Number Highest Lowest
of shares price price Aggregate
repurchased per share per share price
Month of repurchase BEROEE BRESEREX SREEER BE
HKS HKS HK$'000
BT BT FHT
September 2018 —=—)\§1A 24,000,000 0.300 0.275 7,000
October 2018 —T—N\F+A 9,500,000 0310 0305 2,956
33,500,000 9,956
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35.

Notes to Financial Statements

Share Capital (continued)

Share options
Details of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September 2003
(the 2003 Scheme”) was terminated with the approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting held on 22 August 2013
and a new share option scheme of the Company (the “2013 Scheme”) was
approved to be adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 22 August
2013. The 2013 Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years from
that day, unless otherwise terminated earlier by shareholders in a general
meeting. As a result, the Company can no longer grant any further options
under the 2003 Scheme.

Upon the termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share options were granted
thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior to the termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed exercise
period in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme.

The 2013 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the board of directors may grant options
to directors and eligible employees of the Company or its subsidiaries to
let them subscribe for shares in the Company at a consideration equal to
the higher of the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at the date of offer of grant and the average closing price of the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant,
upon payment of HKS$1. Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary of the date of grant as
determined by the directors at their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which options
may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option scheme of the
Company, shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time excluding any shares issued upon the exercise of options
granted pursuant to the 2013 Scheme. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2013 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme.
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35.
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35. Share Option Scheme (continued) 35. At E )
The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued) ARAT ZBRAETE ()
The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to an BERERZZ-—=FEAIRTEERAL
eligible person under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 1% of the ZBRIERTS K2 IRID B8 - TSR
aggregate number of shares for the time being issued and issuable under the RE-Z-=FF8EREBETRUHE
2013 Scheme. TR ID4EE 2 1% ©
No share options were outstanding under the 2013 Scheme as at 31 March RIB_BFR_ZB-NF=A=+—
2020 and 2019. B —Z—=F8 TUERARITER
PHE o
The following share options were outstanding under the 2003 Scheme BIE_TT=F51E - ATERERSE
during the year: AIRATTHE
2020 2019
- el 23 —T-hEF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price  of options price of options
it B pilll B2
TEE  BREHE B EREHE
HK$ HKS
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
SRET 5 BRBTT 5
At beginning of year REA] 7.420 17 14.226 39
Forfeited during the year RERZ IR 7.420 (m 7.420 (2)
Expired during the year RERNEW - 20.693 (20)
At end of year RER 7.420 16 7.420 17
There were no share options granted or exercised during the years ended 31 HE_Z-_ZFR_ZT—NF=A
March 2020 and 2019. =+ —HIEFE - WERHSATEER
BRHE o
There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended 31 HE-_T-_ZFR-_ZF-—NF=A
March 2020 and 2019. =+—BILFE - BEERRARNG A
BRI o
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35. Share Option Scheme (continued) 35. At E )

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020

Number of options Exercise price*
BREHE 1THEE*

‘000 HKS per share
S BRET

16 7.420

RAR ZBRAER 8 (&)
RIBEIRAARITEZ BIEZITEE
RATEHT -

et g 223

Exercise period*
1TEHR*

12.5.2011 to 11.5.2020
=g——FnAt=Az
—E-®£HA+—H

2019

Number of options Exercise price*
MR ERE 1IfE(E>

‘000 HKS per share
T BIGETT

17 7420

Exercise period*
1T H*

12.5.2011 to 11.5.2020
—T——FFA+=-HZE
—T-_ZFRA+—H

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 16,537 (2019: 17,238)
share options outstanding under the 2003 Scheme. The exercise in full of
the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 16,537 (2019: 17,238) additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$165 (2019:
HK$172) and share premium of HK$123,000 (2019: HKS128,000) (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, no share options were
outstanding under the 2003 and 2013 Scheme.

© BRE TR ET R R R
SR AR B R AR AR B B
BT SR -

RBEHR - ARBARBE_ZTT=F
BN 2 BRAET - 165371 (=&
— U 17,2380 ) BB M RTTHE - AR
BAARRIT Z BN - BEITER
RITIE 2 BB P BB AR I 1T 16,537
BR(ZZB—NEF : 17238R)ARAIZE
AR N IE IR A 165 TT(Z B — N5 -
1727%70) R0 %8 123,000 T (=F
— L4 : 128000/ 7T ) (RIOBR B 1THA
%) e

RZFMBEHRELE R - NRFIRE
"gzi&_;—ziﬁiﬂh‘ﬂjz,ﬂ%
Retgrp - BB AR RTTE ©

R orm 247



Notes to Financial Statements

B 285 A Fi

31 March 2020 —Z-ZF=FA=+—H

35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

248

CAP’s Share Option Scheme

CAP adopted a share option scheme (the “CAP 2012 Scheme”) on 3 May
2012 whereby the directors of CAP are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
selected eligible persons (the “CAP Participants”) to take up options for their
contribution to CAP. The CAP 2012 Scheme will remain in force for 10 years.
Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (“CAP Board")
may grant options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for shares in CAP for
a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options granted. The exercise
price is to be determined by the CAP Board and shall not be less than the
highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares of CAP as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must
be a business day (and for this purpose, shall be taken to be the date of
the CAP Board meeting at which the CAP Board proposes to grant the
options);

(b)  the average of the official closing prices of the shares of CAP as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c)  the nominal value of a share of CAP.

Pursuant to the CAP 2012 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in CAP in
respect of which options may be granted when aggregated with any other
share option scheme of CAP is not permitted to exceed 995,306,782 shares,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of CAP as at the date of this
report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the approval of the shareholders
of CAP in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time, the CAP Board may refresh the limit at
any time to 10% of the total number of CAP’s shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the shareholders of CAP in general meeting. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the shares of CAP which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2012
Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not
exceed 30% of CAP’s shares in issue from time to time.
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35. Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The number of shares of CAP in respect of which options may be granted to
the CAP Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of CAP's shares in issue as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess if this 1% limit shall
be subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP in general meeting. The
participant and his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) are abstained
from voting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules
from time to time. Options granted to substantial shareholders of CAP or
independent non-executive directors of CAP in excess of 0.1% of CAP's
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in
advance by CAP’s shareholders.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the CAP Board is empowered
to impose as its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of
any particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the CAP Board at its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years from the date of grant.

No options under the CAP 2012 Scheme have been granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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36. Reserves

250

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 131 and 132 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1995.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the capital
reduction effected by the Company less the amount utilised for the
purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the Company.

Other reserve
The other reserve represents the Group's share of other reserve of its
associate.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in mainland China, a
portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China
has been transferred to the reserve funds which are restricted to use.
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37. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material Non-  37. %4 &k Jk ¥ i fE 4 2 &K 4

Controlling Interests YA B 2 v
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests BE SRR ER 2 A EEE QA
are set out below: FEIFENT

Percentage of equity interest held SRR A 2 RIER D
by non-controlling interests:
CAP R B R EE 46.63%

2020
—ECEF

HK$'000
FHT

Loss for the period from date of acquisition to 31 March 2020 B EE IRz EUEE B e =

shared by non-controlling interests of CAP ZECTF=A=+—HIHHZEE 1,959
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests of CAP RRE B BRI RE M IFERER 2
at the reporting date S 1,046,350
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of CAP TR R R E v SR 2 A RS A R R
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: L WEZSER/MBREMEE AR A
B%HAT 2 ©58

Date of
acquisition to
31 March 2020

CAP

RukEE B EEE

—E-EFZ=H

=+—BLHH

HEIEER

HK$’000

FExT

Revenue for the period B 44,166
Loss for the period HNEE (18,237)
Other comprehensive loss for the period HRNE M2 HEE (75,230)
Total comprehensive loss for the period A2 EEEARE (93,467)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEBFACR RS R (18,508)
Net cash flows used in investing activities TR FEFAZIREREFRE (2,080)
Net cash flows used in financing activities METDMACREREFHE (7,468)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReMReZERERRDFE (28,056)
As at

31 March 2020

R-ZBZEF

=HA=+—H

HK$’000

FTEx

Current assets mENEE 2,572,059
Non-current assets EMENE B 2,909,734
Current liabilities i IN=NI (1,950,783)
Non-current liabilities IEREEE (1,861,898)

AR AR
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38. Business Combination

252

On 26 September 2019, the Group proposed a general offer to acquire a
maximum of 54.83% equity interest in CAP and a maximum of 46.86% of the
outstanding principal amount of the CN 2021 issued by CAP. On 12 February
2020, the CAP Acquisition was completed and 5,312,395,685 shares of CAP
were acquired at HK$0.091 each and CAP became a 53.37%-owned subsidiary
of the Group.

The Group has elected to initially measure the non-controlling interests in
CAP at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of CAP’s identifiable
net assets at the acquisition date.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements, the fair value assessments of identifiable assets and liabilities
arising from the above acquisition have not been finalised and thus, the
assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition (see below) have
been determined provisionally. Upon finalisation of the valuation, the gain
on bargain purchase may change accordingly. The directors of the Company
expect the valuation will be finalised within one year from the completion
date of the acquisition.

A provisional gain on bargain purchase amounting to approximately
HK$230,844,000 is recognised in other income and gains in the Group's profit
or loss for the year, which represented the excess of the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the CAP Group over the aggregate cash consideration
due to the deep discount of market capitalisation of CAP against its net asset
value.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

38.

E 37 k]
R-B-NFAAZTAR - AEER
S2EEN  NUBTARERRS
5483% 2 RARERTARES RS
46.86%:2 B B#1T =T = —F A RKER
KEBASE - R-F_TF-A+=
B RERERUBEEGERN 8
5,312,395 6858 Bl B BE D B 1R &
BRO.091/8 T2 B T IAMEE - B
AE AL A AR B 53,3796 M35 2
BAA -

AREEEFZIFERES N KE A D
EHERERA B EEFRIBADL
VAR B R E fn 2 FRIE i -

RULEBITREMBRERER - KRB L
MBI 2 Al BRI EE R B BHRF
EFHERAEE - Fb U B R
ZEBERBBERTOEEREE - 1
HEEER  BEBEZKEEEH
RS - AR RESRHEEBRIKRE
FRETK B —FNEE -

AEBE 2B EWEE#9230,844,000/8 7T
ERAEERFERERANE s
IR - ZBEATERERSEE
AEEFEZ ATFERTREERZT
EREEEEFEARETEMELRS
REBE 2D -



Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A ik

1 March 2020 === =H=+—H

38. EHBA @

REEAH - FEREREE R HFIE
ERBEZEEATELT

38. Business Combination (continued)

The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CAP
Group as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

HK$'000
THET

Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 74,458
Investment properties HEMZE 2,912,560
Properties held for sale BEHEmE 1,685,600
Properties under development ERPYE 292,320
Trade receivables B S W IR 4,033
Loans and interest receivables FEE R E 65,552
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE - 1E K HE (R UGRIE 207,167
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATFEEES AR VBEE 5470
Tax recoverable A eI 1A 10,068
Restricted bank balances IR IR TAE R 9,132
Cash and cash equivalents RekReERER 364,928
Trade payable B SRR (49,098)
Other payables and accruals H e F0E M et B (1,120,183)
Contract liabilities BRBE (530,318)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss BRATELER AR Z VAR (1,201)
Unsecured bonds and notes EERESRRRE (204,366)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STEBRITREMEE (998,454)
Tax payable FERHIE (59,861)
Convertible notes AR RIR (248,415)
Deferred tax liabilities RAEFIE B E (645,809)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RATERHRIE A EFE 1,773,583
Non-controlling interests FEPERRHE A (1,059,311)
714,272

Provisional gain on bargain purchase recognised in other PR 2 EMRA RGP ERANZERE
income and gains in profit or loss 28 (230,844)
Satisfied by cash LAIR @ BT 483,428

RERE - BHRKKIA - HMfE
W IB AR B ER R E 2 AT E
5 7l /4,033,000 % 7T ~ 77,185,000 &
JL 65,552,000/ 7T ° B 5 WA -
H A 8 U RRIE A B IR E R A B 2
#AE KL ED R 410,002,000% 7T
78,010,0007% 7T % 66,759,000 7T » H
& 89 5l /5,969,000 7T ~ 825,000
7T 51,207,000 7T 2 B 5 U IR
Efth FEUTRIA DA K% B B SR R A S TR
R o

The fair values of the trade receivables, other receivables and loans and
interest receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$4,033,000,
HKS$77,185,000 and HK$65,552,000, respectively. The gross contractual
amounts of trade receivables, other receivables and loans and interest
receivables were HK$10,002,000, HK$78,010,000 and HK$66,759,000,
respectively, of which trade receivables, other receivables and loans and
interest receivables of HK$5,969,000, HK$825,000 and HKS$1,207,000, are
expected to be uncollectible respectively.

T EBEEERAR R
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38. Business Combination (continued) 38. W& @0
The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$6,039,000 for this acquisition. 7R B g 2 W == TE M 2 426,039,000
These transaction costs have been expensed off and are included in the TLZ R - ZERGHRAE RN ER
administrative expenses in profit or loss. R EE - WEFATTHRAX °
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of the CAP Group is as FEANETRREREEZRSRESD
follows: HIEUNNE
HKS$'000
FHT
Cash consideration ReRE (483,428)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Bz RESERIER 364,928
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash ARBESMEHRERECRe KR SER
flows from investing activities I8 B FEE (118,500)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows AR EEBSEEREZ WESER S
from operating activities B (6,039)
(124,539)
Since the acquisition, the CAP Group contributed revenue of HK$44,166,000 Bl ESRIER  FRREREEAERE
and contributed a loss of HK$18,237,000 to the consolidated profit of the B & U A44,166,0007% T © B AARE
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020. BEEE—_T_ZF=A=t+—HILFE

Z e A BER18,237,0008 7T °

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue & HRNEVET  AEERE-T
of the Group and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 TEF=A=+-—HLEFEZEKA
would have been HKS$1,473,963,000 and HKS 157,762,000, respectively. Ko M 2 Bl & 1,473,963,000 % 7T &

157,762,0004 7T °
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39. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries that are not a Business

For the year ended 31 March 2019
The net assets acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019
are as follows:

B 255 A ik
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39. Wl ISR PR 2 B 2 W
BE-®-NEZA=+-ALEE

AEERHE-T-NF=A=t+—8
I FEREN AR FENT -

Oriental Precious Shiny
Sino  Investments World Wang To Total
RE RE @t
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT THT AT THT THT
Net assets acquired: FriiiE 2 BEFME -
Property, plant and WE - BE REE
equipment 190,000 69,000 = = 259,000
Investment properties REME - - 52,000 39,000 91,000
Other receivables H iR 39 45 - 123 207
Tax recoverable A ERIE = - - 34 34
Bank balances RITHER 46 32 32 36 146
Other payables and accruals ~ E (T E &R & (2,850) - (386) (300) (3,536)
Tax payable JERBUA (13) = (30) = (43)
187,222 69,077 51,616 38,893 346,808
Satisfied by: BT A ER :
Cash e 187,222 69,077 51,616 38,893 346,808

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions of Oriental Sino,
Precious Investments, Shiny World and Wang To is as follows:

BRI BEREE « Precious Investments
HEE R Wang ToZ B REDTUT

Oriental Precious Shiny
Sino  Investments World Wang To Total
RE RE st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT THT THT
Cash consideration ReRE (187,222) (69,077) (51,616) (38,893) (346,808)
Deposits paid as at RZZ-N\F=A=1—H
31 March 2018 YRS 19,000 6,900 5,200 3,900 35,000
Bank balances acquired PRS2 SR1TRE ER 46 32 32 36 146
Net outflows of cash and cash &t AF LB BB TSRS
equivalents included in nEsRekREERER
cash flows from investing LFEE
activities for the year (168,176) (62,145) (46,384) (34,957) (311,662)
Transaction costs of the FAREEXBAERENEL
acquisition included in WiFE R IER SRR
cash flows from operating
activities (187) (69) (52) 39 (347)
(168,363) (62,214) (46,436) (34,996) (312,009

AR AR
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39.

40.

256

Acquisitions of Subsidiaries that are not a Business
(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

On 7 February 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with East Run Investments Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On Properties Limited (“WOP”), a 75% owned subsidiary of Wang
On, in respect of the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Oriental
Sino, Precious Investments, Shiny World Investment Limited (“Shiny World")
and Wang To Investments Limited (“Wang To") (collectively, the “Target
Companies”) and shareholder’s loans of the Target Companies owed to WOP
at a total consideration of HK$350,000,000. The transaction constituted a
connected transaction of the Group and was completed on 25 April 2018.

Pursuant to the relevant sale and purchase agreement, the cash consideration
was adjusted to HK$346,808,000 based on the net asset value of the Target
Companies as at 25 April 2018 (the date of completion).

The above acquisitions have been accounted for by the Group as acquisitions
of assets as the entities acquired by the Group do not constitute a business.

Disposal of Subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed of during the current
year and the financial impacts are summarised below:

39.

40.

W b Ik 36 5 1R R = B R 8
(%)

BE-Z-hAE=HA=1+—HLEE
Fe
RZZ—N\FZA+tH  AEEHERZ
A% EZHNE R R AL ERR
AR REME D EEE2EWNE AR
East Run Investments Limited 5] 32 —
MEEWH=  NAEHENBEREKE
350,000,000 7% 7t 42 & R #E - Precious
Investments » FIEREFR AR (K
i€ | ) K& Wang To Investments Limited
(TWang To ) (BIEZERE 1 &E
B EBEITIRA R B ER AR AL ME
ZRRER - ZRXSEHAEEHHE
G BERZZE-—N\FOA=-+HHB®
B o

—~
—

RBEFEEE G - ReREREER
REAR—F-NFOA-+HB (K
H ) 1 & B FHE 7 £ 346,808,000/8
JG °©

FA A SR BB R B RS I AR
BN ER E #§ Ei W A BR S BE E W
e

H 85 B 2+ )

BE-Z-ZEF=-HA=+—HLFE
RAFEHENBARZBEFBERE
MR RSN T

Union Shiny
Target Wang To World Total
o] FHE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER TR FTET FET
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Mtz£(a)) (H=E(b)) (Fif=E(c))
Net assets disposed of: BHEEEFRE
Investment properties KB 53,088 47,000 52,800 152,888
Prepayments, deposits and other  FEI3UE ~ & MEME
receivables WERIA 24 - 1 25
Other payables and accruals HoAth A FR0E K FE =T R (382) (300) (431) (1,113)
Tax payable FERTHITE - (56) (77) (133)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIREE - (4) (3) (7)
52,730 46,640 52,290 151,660
Professional fees and expenses HEERAMAX 737 1,109 1,107 2,953
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A Al &S (749) (1,105) (1,083) (2,937)
52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676
Satisfied by: RATHAER :
Cash BE 52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676
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40. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposals of Union Target,
Wang To and Shiny World is as follows:

B 255 A ik
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40. HEFE A E @)
BZE-E-SE=-HA=t+-ALEFE

(%)
LT ABE &SR - Wang ToRtiE 2
SMEBDHT :

Union Shiny
Target Wang To World Total
HiE JerE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT THET FHExT FHET
Cash consideration RERE 52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676
Professional fees and expenses HELHANMRAY (737) (1,109) (1,107) (2,953)
Net inflows of cash and cash HENBARIzHERES
equivalents in respect of the EREERAFE
disposal of subsidiaries 51,981 45,535 51,207 148,723
Notes: M
(a) On 14 June 2019, the Group disposed of Union Target, which was holding an investment ©) R-ZT—NERNATUHE » NEEK

property with a carrying amount of HK$53,088,000, together with the shareholder’s
loan owed by Union Target to the Group to an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$52,718,000.

(b) On 31 July 2019, the Group disposed of Wang To, which was holding an investment
property with a carrying amount of HK$47,000,000, together with the shareholder’s
loan owed by Wang To to the Group to an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$46,644,000.

(© On 15 August 2019, the Group disposed of Shiny World, which was holding an investment
property with a carrying amount of HK$52,800,000, together with the shareholder’s
loan owed by Shiny World to the Group to an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$52,314,000.

38 (5 5 BR T {E53,088,00078 7T Z #%
BY¥)EREBERAEEBZRRE
REEFT—RBUBE=FH BREA
52,718,000/ 7T °

(b) R-ZE—NFtA=+—8 " ~5£8
#Wang To (%578 BRI fE47,000,0007% 7T
ZIZRE W) ERWang TodE R A& E
ZREERLEET—BBYE=F
1R (B 546,644,000/ 7T ©

© RZZE—AFNA+ARR  AEEH
St R (% 45 BR 1 {8 52,800,000/ 7T 2 %
BYF¥)ERNBERAEBZRRE
REET—RBYE=F  #REA
52,314,000 7T °

LB BT RR AR A A
T TFFR
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41. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 41. HEBHEeREEMGE

(@) Major non-cash transactions (@) EEFBREXRH

The Group has the following major non-cash transactions during the FRN - AEBETIEEFES

year: %5 :

(i) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- (i) FRN - AEEHRBEEL
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$58,335,000 and WMEEFZHE TR
HK$60,272,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for REAREERNEE
leasehold land and buildings (2019: Nil). BEZHEBRETE D

Al A 58,335,000 & 7T K&
60,272,000/ (= F— N

Fom|m)o
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, a debt investment at fair (i) BE_ZT_ZTF=AH
value through other comprehensive income issued by CAP held =+—HIEFEE  K&H
by the Group was refinanced by a new loan granted to CAP of FANREREmATEST
HK$525,000,000 (2019: Nil) before the completion of acquisition RATELSHM 2 ER S
of the CAP Group. AR 2 B EE R P E
EEMEEKESEETK

AERTHERERR
£7525,000000 T (==
—NEF ) ZHIEERE

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RMEEBHELEEESH
Bank Unsecured
and other Lease  Convertible bonds
borrowings liabilities notes and notes
RATR ERAESR
Hitfe & HESE ARRER =B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FHET FHBT BT
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\EMA—H 927,017 = = =
Changes from financing cash flows &R EHREEE) (74,790) - - -
At 31 March 2019 RZE-—h&E=A=1+—H 852,227 = = =
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 RInE B o TSRS &L
ERIGE )7 = 122,890 - -
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZE—NENA—H
(=751) 852,227 122,890 - -
Increase arising from acquisition of BB B2 Rl A0
subsidiaries (note 38) (PIzE38) 998454 25,155 248415 204,366
Changes from financing cash flows BEHR&HESE 54,784 (72,673) - (26,000)
Elimination of loan to CAP HEHERERER (525,000) - - -
New leases EHE - 60,272 - -
Lease modification HEEF] - 761 - -
Interest expense MERL - 5,648 1,399 2,854
Foreign exchange movement HNERE) (10,740) (616) - -
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-TF=A=+—H 1,369,725 141,437 249,814 181,220
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41. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 41. & H &R B LM EE @)

(continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEERSHRLAEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash FFARERERZHERSR
flows is as follows: BRI -
2020
—g-%%
HK$’000
FTExT
Within operating activities KR RETE 3,842
Within financing activities AEEE 72,673
76,515
42. Pledge of Assets 42. &K
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank and other loans RASBERTREMEFEERNAS
are included in note 31 to the financial statements. B & E IR M RT3 o
43. Commitments 43. KI5
(a)  The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the (a) PMAREHEK W AEEZEREE
reporting period: IR
2020 2019
“EEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Contracted, but not provided for: ERESEE =R
— Property, plant and equipment —E - BE KK 1,924 2,503
- Properties under development —BEAYHE 136,415 -
— Properties held for sale —BELEYE 23,204 =
- Investment properties —REWE 238,098 -
399,641 2,503
T2 SR B R A A
“zozrrg 259
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43. Commitments (continued)

260

(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 (b)

The Group leased certain of its office properties and retail shops under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties were negotiated
for terms ranging from one to six years.

Certain leases had contingent rental payable which was based on the
turnover of the relevant retail shops. The contingent rent paid for the
year ended 31 March 2019 was HK$10,441,000.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

437545 (a0

REEB-AF=ZA=Z+—-BH2ZK
EHE AR
AEERELEHERHESE
ETHRAEMERTEER - W
RZHEMBER—2NF -

ETHAESARNES 2BL
DREBEEMTEERHIEER
AFE-HE_ZT-NAF=H
=t+—BLFE eNEAES
10,441,000 7T °

R-TE—AF=A=+—H8 &
SERBET AT HECERNER
NTFHEEZARFERSE
R ¢

HK$'000
THIT

Within one year —FR 66,215
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FRENF(BREEEMF) 66,525
132,740

(c)  The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as () AREFBEZEHEESHN-Z—

at 31 March 2020. The future lease payments for these non-cancellable
lease contracts are HK$ 1,516,000 due within one year and HK$7,403,000
due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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44. Related Party Transactions 44. BRAWIT R 5
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) ERBHZRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial BRZEMBHRREMI DTl
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with RHHN + ANER B A B A e
related parties during the year: HEITUATERRS :
2020 2019
“E-EF —ZT—NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FA&T
Wang On and its subsidiaries R REWE R R (BRASEEIN)
(other than the Group)
— Rental income earned — REBEGRE 2 HE WA ()
by the Group* 2,555 9,700
— Finance income on net — D IRICEFFE 2 A (vi)
investments in subleases 847 -
- Rental expenses incurred —REEEECZHERAX (i)
by the Group - 2,068
— Sales of pharmaceutical products — — 75 [ §5 B (i)
by the Group* 8,818 6,855
— Recognition of right-of-use —EREAREE V)
assets** 11,859 -
— Interest expense on a loan —RNEEEEZEFFERAZ (iii)
incurred by the Group 1,233 =
— Management fees incurred —AEEEECEES (i)
by the Group 297 -
Associates =Nl
— Sales of Chinese pharmaceutical ~ — N[ & h BEE B (ii)
products by the Group 20,138 21,173
— Rental income earned —REERR 2 HSWA (i)
by the Group 1,967 1,445
— Finance income on net — D ICEFFE 2 A (vi)
investments in subleases 142 -
— Management and promotion —RNEERRZEEER (i)
fees earned by the Group EEE 1,051 1,081
— Interest income on a loan earned  — A& @I BB 2 EFGF B ULA (iv)
by the Group - 4203
— Interest expense on convertible — AR ERE 2 A B (i)
notes 1,933 -

AR AR
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3 —a
44. Related Party Transactions (continued) 44. BRWHTT AL 5 ()
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EEREEES 235 ()

Notes: B &E

0} The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the Group and 0} EZ%X%EEEK%Q% g
the related parties. T BB E Z IERHETT o

(ii) The sales to the related parties were made according to the published prices and (ii) HIEE A (EL 2 S5 E TIRIEAR
conditions that the Group offered to its customers. SEMARPREZEAME

& RIGIETT ©

(i) The interest was charged by a related party on a loan advanced to the Group. (iif) BAEE A RS T ASE 2 B
Details of the terms of the relevant loan are set out in note 31 to the financial WELH S - HERE 2 IR 2
statements. FIEEN B mER M 30 -

(iv)  The interest was charged by the Group on a loan advanced to Easy One which has v)  AEERAZZEELZER
been fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2019. WERFE  ZERERHE=

TNE=A=+—AIFE
BIE -

) On 2 May 2019, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement with a fellow ) R-Z-NFRA-H A&
subsidiary in respect of leasing a retail premise for the Group's retail operation. The EHFERMBEARRAEET
amount of rent payable by the Group under the lease is HK$380,000 per month, %%?&‘ﬁﬁ%?%%% RN =F
which was determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the S H® -  AEEIREHEE
vicinity. At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-of- Fgﬁﬁ'\ﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬁgﬁﬁﬂ 380,000
use asset and a lease liability of HK$ 11,859,000 and HK$ 11,775,000, respectively. BT W2 EE

AR M E « AR ER
BB AEEREREREE
ERBEAESR411,859,000
7T % 11,775,000/ 7T °

(vi)  The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with certain associates in v)  AKEEETEEQARRSHE
respect of sub-licensing of certain retail premises. The aggregated amount of rent HETEEMEILE TR
payable by the associates under the sub-licensing agreement is HK$230,000 per & o BHE N RIRES RiREE
month, which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed between ﬁﬂ'\]fﬁﬁ%@%ﬁﬁﬂ 230,000
the Group and the associates. At the commencement date of the lease during the ﬁ ; ﬁtﬁﬁ%%$§§@ﬂ??%
year, the Group recognised a net investment in sub-leases of HK$3,104,000. HT}?;’JEZf Mﬁ'ﬁ%fi ®

TR iﬁ&ﬁﬁé%ﬁa 104000,%‘35

=5
(vii) The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with two fellow (vii) 7R £ B£8R ] [R) R B B A B 3k
subsidiaries in respect of sub-licensing of office premises. The aggregated amount DM RYERI L E T A
of rent payable by the Group under the sub-licensing agreement is HK$619,000 per & o AEERES AIREEN
month, which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed between R EFERE A619000%
the Group and the fellow subsidiaries. At the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 during TC 2 EREEHEF R
the year, the Group recognised a net investment in sub-leases of HK$22,528,000. 3 8 2 ) 2L [R) 128 T 2 165K i
TE ° NERNE IR EBI
REALER 16500 - AEERE
R M 1R & ¥ 22,528,000

=0

* These related party transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions *

AN 75 32 5 I A 45 4R
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Z(

EFE R ETRAIE14A

N

x 4&;

Z3
R
&)
Z
2

o3 These related party transactions also constitute connected transactions as defined * LRANE T R 5 IMEK B ER
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. (ﬁ%itm%ﬁﬁw%mﬁ) °
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (b) AEEXEEEAEZMHE

2020 2019

—ECEHF —ZE-hF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAxT

Short term employment benefits RHESET 4,214 5613

Post-employment benefits BEBL 2 1R T 73 84

Total wEt 4,287 5,697
The above compensation of key management personnel excludes the AEBTEEBASZMEEE
directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 8 to the BEEAEBRNU LS TRIEES
financial statements. e SRR B

MERMIFES ©
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45. Financial Guarantees/Litigations

(a)

(b)

Financial guarantees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$63,518,000 to customers in favour of certain banks for the loans
provided by the banks to the customers of the properties sold (2019
Nil). Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default
on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales
proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the event
of default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks
are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged
properties through open auction or other appropriate means. The
Group is responsible for repaying the banks when the proceeds from
the auction of the properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage
principals together with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate
ownership certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of
the Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment
of the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties.

Litigations

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”)
from independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang"”) and
Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., Ltd (“Tian
Jiu") for their respective 70% and 20% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural
(the “Baisazhou Acquisition”).

B 285 A Fi

31 March 2020 —ZE-ZF=F=+—H

45. MBIEBHR

(a)

(b)

MEIER
RZE_TF=A=+—8 "
REERE FTRITAMAEEY
E2BEPREBZERAZER
TAZEARARFR|EERY
63,518,000/ T (=& — L4 :
) o IRBERGTK  MZEER
REREMATR M ZI53RE - 8l
AEBEERERENERRM
RITZ RERIRBASERRG
FEREFK - R T Fril 2 £
e[ $H & AT1S RKIH o

R btz - R RS RS
FIRITEAEIRERAOEMR
%5 B R RNIZBER - AR
TTRRERERTEHEE  LREHR
ARBPESEMEE S AZERD
HRYE - WYERAEMSHR
EEREREERBASERZR
FHHLE RIAEEFEE
RIERTTEER BROA

E“ih
=1

LKEEZF‘%HE B X HER RS
ERERFBERERL AR
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45. Financial Guarantees/Litigations (continued)
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(b)

Litigations (continued)

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of
civil proceedings in mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil
proceedings in mainland China and Hong Kong in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group:

a) it is alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer
agreements (the “Contended Agreements”) in relation to the
Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related consideration was
understated and the manner of settlement of the consideration
was inaccurately described;

b) itis alleged that Baishazhou Agricultural forged the related
documentation for filing with the PRC Ministry of Commerce
("MOFCOM") and the Hubei Administration For Industry and
Commerce (the “Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and
the Contended Agreement involved forged signatures; and

Q) it is alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the
Baisazhou Acquisition and processed the related fillings on the
basis of the above documents that are allegedly forged.

In March 2020, CAP noted the judgment of the Supreme People’s
Court dated 31 December 2019 (“31 December Judgment”). In the
31 December Judgment, the Supreme People’s Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of
(i) the judgment of the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court
dated 31 March 2017 (“31 March Judgment”) (which dismissed the
application made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the decision
issued by MOFCOM that its approval issued in relation to the
Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall remain to be in
force), and (i) the judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated
20 December 2018 (which upheld the ruling of the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court in the 31 March Judgment).

In other words, in the opinion of the Company’s directors and as
advised by PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by MOFCOM in 2007
in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and
remain to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the legal and
beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the PRC Laws.
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45. Financial Guarantees/Litigations (continued)

(b)

Litigations (continued)

This is consistent with the judgment issued by the Higher People’s
Court of Hubei Province in December 2019 which dismissed the
counterclaims made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu against CAP therein
for orders that (i) the share transfer agreements in relation to the
acquisition of an aggregate 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural
from Ms. Wang as to 70% thereof and Tian Jiu as to 20% thereof (the
“Contended Interests”) were void and invalid from the beginning, (ii)
costs of the legal proceedings be paid to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, and (iii)
the Contended Interests be returned to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as defendant:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First
Instance (the “Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser)
sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their
breach of various provisions of the sales and purchase agreements for
the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA").

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the Court to effect that
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the two
instruments (purportedly described as promissory notes in the SPA)
(the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment by presentation of the
Instruments until the final determination of the court action or further
court order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments will no
longer fall due for payment by CAP on 5 December 2012. The parties
are waiting for the Court to hand down the judgement.

For details with regard to the civil proceedings which the CAP Group
has been involved in, please refer to the interim/annual reports and
announcements issued by the CAP Group.

46. Financial Instruments by Category

Except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, as
disclosed in note 18 and note 25, respectively, to the financial statements,
all other financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 are classified as financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost,
respectively.
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

266

Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,
other than those carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values,
are as follows:

47. ik THZ 2P R A FE

FH

AEESHITE(REEEQATFELRE
HENESBITARIN 2EBERATF
(EVERNE

Carrying amounts Fair values
FREIE AFRE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E-EF —NF —B-BF —T-hF
=A=+—H =ZA=+—H =A=+—HB =A=t+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHExT FHT FHExT FHT
Financial liabilities BigaE
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITR
other borrowings HibfgEs 1,369,725 852,227 1,365,621 841,895
Unsecured notes EERRE 181,220 = 162,229 =
Convertible notes AR ER 249,814 = 249,669 =
1,800,759 852,227 1,777,519 841,895

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank balances, trade receivables, net investments in subleases,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
loans and interest receivables, trade payables and financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the Company
are responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance department reports
directly to the director and the audit committee. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the director. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim
and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, convertible notes and unsecured notes have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk
for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2020 were
assessed to be insignificant. The fair value of the liability portion of the
convertible notes and unsecured notes are is estimated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using an equivalent market interest rate for a
similar securities with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance
risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments, listed debt investments and
listed perpetual notes are based on quoted market prices, except for one
investment which was determined based on the market approach with
reference to the prices recently paid for similar assets and the market
comparables due to the suspension of share trading of the relevant
investment. The fair values of unlisted fund investments are determined
based on the quoted market prices provided by fund administrators with
reference to prices derived from the over-the-counter market. The fair values
of unlisted debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income have been estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair
values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of
the reporting period.

For the fair value of a listed equity investment designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income which is suspended for trading, the
market approach is adopted and enterprise value versus earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA") (“EV-to-EBITDA"),
discount for lack of control ("DLOC") and discount for lack of marketability
("DLOM") were used as inputs to the valuation model. For the fair value of the
unlisted debt investment classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, management has estimated the potential
effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model and has quantified this as a reduction in fair value using less favourable
assumptions, and an increase in fair value using more favourable assumptions.
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 47. &#TH2Z A P KA FH

Instruments (continued) £33 )

The fair value of the embedded derivatives in unsecured notes and AR M AT R R 2 B AR ITE
convertible notes is determined by valuation techniques and based on TEMAFETAGER AL RETS
assumptions on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. AR EER—EFENBRR TUE
The valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including E o ZMEEATECERRKE - i
the expected volatility, discount rate, risk free rate and mean reversion. W& mE AN = NI ERFENNE

B R AU -

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of LTARZZE_ZFR-_F-—NF=A
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 =t —HEmMIAREBEZERTAHE
March 2020 and 2019: BABUREE N 8 SURE DT

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

technique unobservable input to the input
fh{ER % EXTABERGAYE & DNHEHRARBZHRE

As at 31 March 2020
R-BE-BEE=A=+—H

A listed equity investment Market approach EV-to-EBITDA 7.74times 1% increase/(decrease) in EV-to-EBITDA
classified as financial asset mimA 1 (EEHEBITDA 77415 would result in increase/(decrease) in
at fair value through other fair value by HK$21,000/(HK$21,000)
comprehensive income and R EEHEBTDALE N, (R ) 1%4#5
the share trading of which was SAFER,CR)21,0007T,/
suspended (21,000/7¢)

HERRATELEME2AREARZ
MHEEEREL(ER S ETRE DLOC 16.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in DLOC would
K& result in (decrease)/

increase in fair value by
(HK$167,000)/HKS$ 167,000

DLOCHE M, CR A ) 1% < R F1E
CR4),/48n(167,000%7T),/
167,0007% 7T

DLOM 25.0% 1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM would
result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
(HKS181,000)/HKS 188,000
DLOMIE NN, (R4 ) 1% 2 A FE Rl
) /1240(181,000%7T),/188,0007%
TT
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Valuation Significant

technique
fhER %

unobservable input

ERTUBEERABE
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47. &/ T HZ 5P & A A
£330}

Sensitivity of fair value
to the input
AT EHBABBZBRE

Range
BE

As at 31 March 2020 (continued)
R-B-ZE=A=1+-H(#)
A derivative component from

Binomial model Expected volatility

convertible notes classified as ZEATEEERX TEER IR
financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
PERRATELBE ARZWBERE
ZARRERNITETERS
Discount rate
Risk-free rate
3 B Fll =
A derivative component from Hull-white Volatility
unsecured notes classified one factor K8

as financial assets at fair value trinomial model
through profit or loss ER—BRE-RE=
HERRATECBEARZHBEE BEARERRX
ZEERERMOITETAERS
Discount rate

EAEEES

Mean reversion
H{ER S

73.8% 1% increase/(decrease) in expected
volatility would have no material
impact on the fair value

TER L, (RN % T EHATE
EREATE

14.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would have no material impact on
the fair value

FERREM,/ (R % T EHATEE
KERTZE

0.59% 1% increase/(decrease) in risk-free rate
would have no material impact on
the fair value

EERBRFIREN (RN TEHAT
BEXKEATE

0.13% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility
would have no material impact on
the fair value

R, G ) 1% &4 A FEERK
E-piN-7

15.8% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would have no material impact on
the fair value

WREEN (RO )T EHATEE
KERZE

0.0298 1% increase/(decrease) in mean
reversion would have no material
impact on the fair value

BEREEN RPN %TEHAFE
BEREATE

LT E B AR A A
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 47. & TH2Z 2 FH K& A FE
Instruments (continued) F )

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

technique unobservable input Range to the input
ER% BATAHRBAZE BE NHEHBABEZ BRE

As at 31 March 2019
R-ZB-N&E=H=+—H

A listed equity investment classified ~ Market approach EV-to-EBITDA 1331 times 1% increase/(decrease) in EV-to-EBITDA
as financial assets at fair value miH% TPE(E(EEIEBITDA 133162 would result in increase/(decrease) in
through other comprehensive fair value by HK$45,000/(HK$53,000)
income and the share trading of T EEEHBRMDAE N, (R D) 1%
which was suspended SRNFEENM, O )45000%7T,/

HERRATELEME2AREARZ (53,0007%7L)
HBEEEREERER Sz FTkE
K& DLOC 16.7 % 1% increase/(decrease) in DLOC would

result in (decrease)/increase in fair

value by (HK$248,000)/HK$261,000
DLOCHE I, (R A ) 1% < AFE

CRA) /380 (248,0007%

7T),/ 261,000 7T

DLOM 20.0 % 1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM would
result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by (HK$248,000)/HK$261,000

DLOMIENN, (R4 ) 1% 2 A TE
(R /4 h0(248,0007%
JT),/261,000/7C

Unlisted debt investment classified ~ Discounted Credit spread 13.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in credit spread
as financial assets at fair value cash flow method {EFAEZ% would result in (decrease)/increase
through other comprehensive TRBEEREE in fair value by (HK$3,899,000)/
income HK$3,956,000

HEARATELEMREEE AR ERSEEN/ (RPN %ESATE
BB EE 2 3 FEBRE (R4, #n(3,899,0007%7T),/

3,956,000/ 7T
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2020

Quoted
prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
RiEBTS
2B
(B—4%)
HK$'000
TET

B 255 A ik

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

47. &/ T HZ 5P & A A
£S5 )

DFHEER
TRHFAPAEESRTAZ ATEAE
L

BRAVEFEZEE -
R-B-2F=A=t+—H

Fair value measurement using
EATHEEZAVEE

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3)
BEATER BEARTEHE
BABE WARE
(B=#&) (B=4) st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET FET

Financial assets at fair value through BATESEMEENEARY
other comprehensive income: BITSERE :
Listed equity investments FiRERE 37,901 - 13,965 51,866
Listed debt investments FEBRE 121,354 - - 121,354
Financial assets at fair value through RATELERZ AR
profit or loss: WIS &R :
Unlisted funds FEMES - 50,382 - 50,382
Listed equity investments FiRERE 73 - - 73
Derivative component of BERZEZITETARS
unsecured notes - - 6,220 6,220
159,328 50,382 20,185 229,895

AR AR
T awerg 271
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial  47. &b THZ AP R4 FE

Instruments (continued) £330 )

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AP ESHR(E)

Assets measured at fair value (continued) BRAFEFEZEE (&)
As at 31 March 2019 R_ZE—NF=A=1+—H

Fair value measurement using
BT RIE 2 AP EHE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

iNET BAAER EATAEHER

ZHRE EPN-6- N6
(B—%) (B=&) (B=H) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHBT FHT FHT

Financial assets at fair value through BATESEMEERE AR

other comprehensive income: MBEE -

Listed equity investments FRRERE 71270 - 16,118 87,388
Listed debt investments EEBERE 165,146 - = 165,146
Unlisted debt investment FEMEBRE - = 686,877 686,877

Financial assets at fair value through BATESER AR ZHEEE :
profit or loss:

Unlisted funds FEmES - 1,886 - 1,886
Listed perpetual notes EmKERE 19,403 = = 19,403
255819 1,886 702,995 960,700
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are as RUATEE  E=FAFEFE2EF
follows: Il NE
HK$'000
FHIT
At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FWHA—H 933,082
Imputed interest income recognised in profit or loss PSR Z AT FEWA 5125
Redemption of debt investments EEEBHRE (220,000)
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income REA 2 E KRR 2 E1E (15,212)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE—NF=A=+—HARZ=ZF—NEF
MmA—H 702,995
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EER B A R 5393
Gain recognised in profit or loss RBEERZ W 827
Imputed interest income recognised in profit or loss IERER 2 et A S WA 2,259
Redemption of debt investments FE R (EH IR E (175,000)
Debt investments refinanced by a loan receivable granted HERZBRERBRE 2 BEBRE
(note 41(a)(ii)) (BFEE41(@)(01)) (525,000)
Gain recognised in other comprehensive income R E A 2 K FER 2 s 8711
At 31 March 2020 R-E-_TF=H=+—H 20,185
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47. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value
As at 31 March 2020

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
WERTS
2B
(B—#%)
HK$'000
TERT

Financial liabilities at fair value through ~ IRAFELEBZARZHBRE :
profit or loss:
Derivative component of convertible ARREBEZITETASS

notes -

B 5 A

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

AR T HZ AR A FE
& (a0
AFEZERE)
BAVEIHBCAE
R-E-—mE=A=+-§

Fair value measurement using
EATHER AV ERE

Significant
observable

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)
BATAHE
WAHE
(B=H)
HK$'000
TET

inputs
(Level 2)
BEATER
BAHE
(E=4%)
HK$'000
TET

A5t
HK$'000
Ti#gn

- 621 621

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31
March 2019.

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are as
followvs:

RO -
o -

F=RNVEFEZE

HK$'000
THIT

1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019

RZZE—N\FHEA—H

CZE-NEF

=A=+—HER=ZE—hFHA—H -

Acquisition of subsidiaries g NG| 1,201
Gain recognised in profit or loss ISR FER 2 W (580)
At 31 March 2020 RZZB_ZTF=H=+—H 621
Note:  During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Wik : £ RUBEERVEEENS -

Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2019: Nil).

E—MEE R AT EER
EEE > NEEASERE=R(=T
—NEF &)

T EBEEERAR R
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

274

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
unsecured bonds and notes, bank and other borrowings and convertible
notes disclosed in note 30, 31 and 32 to the financial statements, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the parent,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, net investments in subleases, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank balances, trade payables, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, bank and other borrowings, unsecured
bonds and notes, convertible notes and financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.
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Notes to Financial Statements

48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks

(i

Currency risk

The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign currency
bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Substantially most of the Group's bank deposits are denominated
in the relevant group entities’ functional currencies. Substantially
most of the Group's sales and purchases are denominated in the
relevant group entities’ functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities to
hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5% and
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year ended 31 March 2020 would have increased/decreased
by HK$56,000 (2019: profit for the year would have decreased/
increased by HK$76,000).

The Group's exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
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a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ir)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 31 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 26 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group has
not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of one to three months Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate. The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
and bank deposits at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year ended 31 March 2020 would have decreased/increased by
HK$4,244,000 (2019: profit for the year would have decreased/
increased by HK$3,466,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank
borrowings.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the
current year mainly due to the increase in variable-rate interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no

sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HHEREEBERBEK(GE)
Market risks (continued) 35 BB ()
(iii)  Price risk (i) 1B ER
Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities E18 BB = 48 A IR 5 &
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and KRB R 75 5 2 (BB &

the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments included
in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

MR EES A FER
RzER R-_TE-_T4F
ZA=+—8 A%£ERA

income (note 18) and financial assets/liabilities at fair value SFARATFEELEMEE
through profit or loss (note 25) as at 31 March 2020. The Group's Weas ABR 2 BT 15 & e (M e
listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchanges and are 18) RIZRATFEKLEZA
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting Rz EEB&E(fE

period.

25) K& IR R B A2
BHEERER - AEEZ
EHRE T ZERRA L
W WAHREBRRZ TS

REEEITIHE
The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the close of RRERARZZERHH
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the R A RE - BT
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points Z TS REREREFR
during the year are as follows: R R ERNT

31 March High/low 31 March High/low
2020 2020
—E-EE CEZEZF
=A=t+—H B K
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ (0[0[0) HKS$'000
FEx FHT FHT FHT
Hong Kong B
- Hang Seng Index —EERH 23,603 30,280/ 29,051 30,808/
21,139 24,980
The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price AEBEBBEYETFRE
movements and the changes in market conditions that may %T%Z%Eﬂ%&ﬁ‘%ﬁk 2
affect the value of these financial investments. ZEREHRTIGTEE

7T

@ﬁﬁ'@ﬁ%'ﬁz}—tl‘ﬂ o

BEEERERAD
—7—?£'E£F?F:E
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  48. FA#sm % P B £2 5 BUOR (50

(continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HHEREEBERBEK(GE)

Market risks (continued) 35 BB ()

(iii)  Price risk (continued) (i) 1EFER ()
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% TRE R H A& HRFF
change (2019: 10% change) in the fair values of the listed equity TEW B RFTEREE
investments, with all other variables held constant and before Al ETIRERERRS
any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end HAZKREE  HEA
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the FEI10%(=ZF— NLEF -
listed equity investments included in financial assets at fair value 10%) &8 2 BREE ° A
through other comprehensive income, the impact is deemed to A E - BEEARRT
be on the fair value reserve (non-recycling). BEEEMmEEREARZ

MIEEEN EHRERE

FERGEHAFER
BTAEE)2ZE -

Increase/

Carrying Increase/ (decrease)
amount (decrease) in other
of equity in profit components

investments before tax of equity
REREZ BREADER  REZHMIHS
FREIE #n, (f2) #inCR)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FET

2020 —ECEH

Equity investments listed in REB LT

Hong Kong: ARAEIRE -
- Financial assets at fair value ~ — AT ELERA 7/
through profit or loss BR 2 AT & B 73 (7) -
— Financial assets at fair —RATHELEAM
value through other 2HEHKE AR 5,187/
comprehensive income MISEE 51,866 - (5,187)
2019 —ZT-NF

Equity investments listed in REB T2

Hong Kong: AAERE -

— Financial assets at fair —RRATHELEAM
value through other 2HEWEARRZ 8,739/
comprehensive income MIEEE 87,388 - (8,739)
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Notes to Financial Statements

48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates of
all financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the undiscounted amount is
derived from the interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

B 255 A ik
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48. %y B H AR R BOR ()

B B B 2R B AR R BUR (4]
REE S EE
E@m@ﬁ%@%ﬁ@’$%.
ERkEREEER RN
ERREFRIBENKRF - ARAE
SELERHES LRERSR
2RETE - THEABERET
EEER  WHARBILERRY -

BB 2 R E R
TRAJAEEV K EERGE
HWEH - BERBBEASERFA
BERHMHMBRERTRES
MBS - IEMBEEZEIH
BRI B EE K H HEE -

TRERENERAEHERE °
WHSRERERTEE AR
SRAREWERRZAE -

On demand Total
or less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
1year 1to 5 years 5years cash flows amount
RERY, KRRE
SR-F -Z5f RENE hEAE kAR
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TATL TET TAL TAT TAL
Asat 31 March 2020 R-E-BE=f=t-H
Trade payables BHRNFE 66,709 - - 66,709 66,709
Other payables and accruals AN ERESER
(excluding lease liabilities) (REAERN 945,195 3,164 - 948,359 948,359
Lease liabilities HERRE 69,925 82,330 4,206 156,461 141,437
Bank and other borrowings - variable $517RkEfhEE—Z8
rates 531,820 358,616 241,346 1,131,782 1,033,159
Bank and other borrowings - fixed ~ TR EMEE-FE
rates 174,871 157,902 69,917 402,690 336,566
Unsecured notes ERAZE 2,900 292,465 - 295,365 181,220
Convertible notes AREE 19,860 284,660 - 304,520 249,814
1,811,280 1,179,137 315,469 3,305,886 2,957,264
As at 31 March 2019 RZZ-NFE=A=1-H
Trade payables U 35,959 - - 35,959 35,959
Qther payables and accruals AR IERIET &R 25513 1883 - 273% 273%
Bank borrowings - variable rates  $F{IfEE %8 254681 276,636 43539% 966,713 852,227
316,153 278519 43539 1,030,068 915,582
T EEXIERERA 279
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

280

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In order to minimise
the credit risk on trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly based
on past due information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March.
For listed debt investments, the Group also monitors them by using
external credit ratings. The amounts presented are gross carrying
amounts for financial assets.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

48. W55 ke i BE H AR B BOR (50

PR EEEEREE(F)
REES R (&)

B E 2 R E @R % ()

)% B2 BRI EHREE
ZENERZ AR - AIA LR
FTEMBREZZETATA
ZERAITELES -

FERE
AEEERZER A B EERTDN
FZTETRS - AEERR A
PIBEHLRAEAITNETRS
NEFHZEMRERRBRERT
RHBIEE 5 R E M ER IR Z (F
SRk AEEEEASERE
SENMAAREETEEER Bt
EEREMERER - ARRR
HR R E ¥R e W m B B (R IR - Utk
S - REBERIHE ARG S
18 51 & e SRR 2 AT U B 2R - PA
HEARE BN AT UG O BB R 2 59
BRI EEE - Bt ARFE
ERREERBEAKRRE

REER R FREEE
TRETERAEENEERE
NEEEREESERERR - =
ZERBHER (BRIEEMBER
AEBAMN BN HBERARRE S
ISR TER) - BR=A=+—
BH)FHERBR DR - REBTRA
RINEBEERT REER LR ERR
& 2SI eRMENBEERR
[ETi=



Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A ik

48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2020

12-month
ECLs
12{8A8
BHEE

[ -]

Stage 1
F—HER
HK$000

THET

Debt investments at fair RATELEM2EK
value through other B AR EBEE

comprehensive income

Stage 2
FoHEER
HK$'000

THERT

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

48. %y B H AR R BOR ()

a. BEEKREEBEREEGE)
FERR(E)
R=ZF-_FF=A=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

2HRAEEER

Stage 3
FZRR
HK$000

THET

Simplified
approach
L5 %
HK$’000
TiEx

Total
#st
HK$'000
FEx

- Baa to CCC -BaazE(CCC 117,560 - 3,794 - 121,354
Trade receivables* g S EE - - - 86,103 86,103
Net investments in subleases S & %58 - - - 20,145 20,145
Loans and interest receivables  EUE 2t K I & 11,425 58,029 86 - 69,540
Financial assets included in -~ st ATERZUE « & K

prepayments, deposits H At RETRIR 2 8175

and other receivables - BE-LE7"

Normal** 144,752 20,401 - - 165,153
Restricted bank balances X BRI 8,157 - - - 8,157
Cashand cash equivalents ~ HERALEREE 475,702 - - - 475,702

757,596 78,430 3,880 106,248 946,154
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 March 2019

48. %y B H AR R BOR ()

a. BEEKREEBEREEGE)
FERR(E)
RZE-NAF=A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218A
BHEE
i
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—REER FEREER E=PRER 9z e
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
AT THT FHBT FAT
Debt investments at fair BATEEEMEEK
value through other B AR EBEE
comprehensive income
- Aato CCC —AaZ(CCC 165,146 686,877 = = 852,023
Trade receivables* g 5 R RE - = 97323 97,323
Loans and interest receivables FEME T K FIE 3,726 23,768 - - 27,494
Financial assets included in -~ st ATERZUE « & K
prepayments, deposits H A REIGRIR 2 BT 7
and other receivables - BE-IEE*
Normal** 51,183 - - 51,183
Cashand cash equivalents & MELERER 171,209 = - 171,209
391,264 710,645 - 97,323 1,199,232

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to
the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be "doubtful”.
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48. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

b.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.
Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, unsecured notes and convertible notes, less cash and cash
equivalents. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

B 255 A ik
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48. %y B H AR R BOR ()

BERER
AEEEAEENTZBBEER
EARKEFELLNESD R
FEBEERLD - REBRHEX
Fr MR REBERAL

AEBRBLERRNEZEHE
REBETEERAE - X&H
AARAKRRRMARE - BARR
BTRENBETHRG - &HE
—ETER-T-NF=H
=+—HIEFER  EXREED
BiE - BURSEFHIELIRES) -

AEEFN A& B R (KRR
Fi B ARG RERR PABTS FHE) &
BB - ERFRE IR BRT
REMEE - BEERRERAHS
REFBZBBERRERFEEER
BEFHESH - REBRNEE
LeEmT

2020 2019
—E-EF —ENF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ 8817 & £ EE

(note 31) (FMH3E31) 1,369,725 852,227
Unsecured notes (note 30) R R SRIR (M1 EE30) 181,220 =
Convertible notes (note 32) AR SR (FEE32) 249,814 =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) &l : W& RIRSFREE (MizE26) (475,702) (171,209)
Net debt A5 F 1,325,057 681,018
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  BHR RIHEH ARE{G RS 2,300,061 2444118
Gearing ratio BELE 58% 28%
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49.

50.

284

Events After the Reporting Period

On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited, which is wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Tang, the controlling shareholder of Wang On and a director of the
Company, requested the board of Easy One to put forward a proposal of
privatisation of Easy One at the cancellation consideration, comprising the
cash consideration of HK$0.3 per share of Easy One and the consideration
shares on the basis of eight (8) ordinary shares of Wang On held by Caister
Limited, for each share of Easy One (the “Proposed Privatisation”). Subject to
the Proposed Privatisation becoming effective, the transaction will constitute
a disposal of interest in an associate of the Group, and a loss on disposal of
interest in an associate is expected to record.

Further details of the proposed transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated on 4 May 2020 jointly published with Wang On, Easy
One and Caister Limited.

Comparative Amounts

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the Group
adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the comparative amounts in the financial statements
were not restated and continued to be reported under the requirements of
the previous standard, HKAS 17, and related interpretations.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020

49. Hidk MR FIH

50.

RZZEZZFTFHAMA - Caister
Limited (AR R 2 IR R AN A 2
EEHEEERERER)ERS ST
EESREEZFATHERE(RERE
5 BEWRMH0IBTAEZHERE
K iz Caister Limited &8 N\ (8) IR EZR
LTERRBR-—BRZIISRNEETEZ
RERGD) &S ZELE(EEZLE
b]) - FEZBLECERE  EEARS
HERHERNAEEBME A Zi#Es - B
TEEA BB A 2 RS sREEIE -

BERG2E—THBRRARRER
%~ 5 5= KCaister Limited B & T3
AfiA—_Z &R ANBZAMH

bR < 4

AN SRR M 2. 28 — R - A%
EER=—ZT—NFMHA—BERBLER]
BB M 5 T IRER AN B A B 75 i 5 2RI
1655 © RIEZ A% - B HRERANALLER
SR BB B B BRI TR 2ER
EASERE 7R RARREZ AT
23



Notes to Financial Statements

B 255 A ik

31 March 2020 —E=F&=A=+—H

51. A2 v Bk Ot %
AR AR AN BRREZ AR

51. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the

end of the reporting period is as follows: R
2020 2019
= = 22 —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB R R ZKRE - -

Financial assets at fair value through

BATESEMEEAREARZHBEE

other comprehensive income 7,525 21,958
7,525 21,958
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A RIZRIE 3,224,633 3,157,037
Other receivables H fth U TR IE 374 608
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReERER 41,861 21,668
3,266,868 3,179,313
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries FEB B A R FRIA 945,734 884,184
Other payables and accruals H PR TR K BT B R 12,480 13,943
958,214 898,127
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,308,654 2,281,186
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEMSE
LIABILITIES 2,316,179 2,303,144
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Deferred tax liability REFIEA F - 167
Net assets EEFE 2,316,179 2,302,977
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEITIRAR 12,316 12,316
Reserves (note) bt (3E) 2,303,863 2,290,661
Total equity oy o 2,316,179 2,302,977
Tang Ching Ho Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
5 PR BB
Director Director
BEE BE

AR AR
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Notes to Financial Statements
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51. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
(continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:

51.

A2y w FA B IR DL (ast)

ARARIEEEERIINT

Fair value
Share reserve
Share Special  Contributed option (non-  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve recycling) losses Total
AVERE
R} EE HBIE BB BRERE (FTaE) e &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT TAT TAT AT TAT
(note)
i)
At 1 April 2018 R=Z-/\FMA—AH 2,116420 (27,150) 275,693 332 28533 (17,203) 2,376,625
Loss for the year AFEEER - - - - - (58,523) (58523)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: AEEEMZEEE :
Change in fair value of financial RATAESE 2R
assets at fair value through other AEZHBEEZ AT
comprehensive income, netof tax  {E&8) + MERFHE = = = = (17.820) - (17,820)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  AEE2EEIBEH - - - - (17,820) (58523) (76,343)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BB R EES4IIR (FiH5E34)

(note 34) (9621) - - - - - (9,621)
Forfeiture of share options BRI - - = (246) = 246 -
At31 March2019and 1 April 2019~ R=ZE—hF=A=+—H

k=E-NFWA-A 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 86 10713 (75480) 2290661
Profit for the year AFEERF - - - - = 25803 25803
Other comprehensive loss for the year: AEEEMZEEE :
Change in fair value of financial RATELEM AR
assets at fair value through other AERZHBEEZ AT
comprehensive income, netoftax ~ {EE8) - MKRFHIE = - - - (12601) - (12,601)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ AEE 2K/ (B1B)

for the year et = = = = (12,601) 25,803 13,202
Forfeiture of share options BRELZK - - - 6) - 3 =
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-FF=H=+—H 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 83 (1,888) (49,674) 2,303,863

Note:  The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 24 to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
capital when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should
the related options expire or be forfeited after the vesting period.

52. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 30 June 2020.
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52.

fieE : BRERREFBEMARTEZERLE
Btz DFECE—SHBRRUTER
RIFTFE24H BARRAD BER Z TR 2
BEBE) - MIRRABREETE - A
BERMHEEDRA - HIABEERE
BN EBRRRR  ERSEK
BEERETET -

4 1 8 B 5 R e

HBHRREAEREN T _TFA
=+ AR RAETE -



Investment Properties

Location
3k

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products
International Logistics Centre, west of
Luoji Expressway, Old town district,
Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

R EDR R A RS T 2R 8 S REE B A
&G R EIE BRI O

Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market,

Special Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country,
Hongshan District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province,

the PRC
R A RN L E T EATEE S
EEAYDIMERIER KM S

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,
east of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,
Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R BT AR A 15 7 SR L1 238 3 A8 SR A
ERIERFOMENS

Properties Held for Sale

Location

o1k

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products
International Logistics Centre, west of
Luoji Expressway, Old town district,
Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

BRI A RS T RS S REE BT A
TR R = B EE B R MR R D

China = ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market,
north of Jinhaiwan West Avenue
(Entrance of North and South Highway),
Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC

R E AL R B8R SN T & E T R AL A
(Fadbm R AL ) A B — FR B (M)
REmMATS

Particulars of Properties

Agricultural produce
exchange market

RERZ N5

Agricultural produce
exchange market

EmRX 5%

I

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMRXZM%

Approximate
saleable floor area
BA T HEREMmE
(Square feet)
(FFHFR)

1,000,700

1,632,900

/B SR

BEYE

Attributable
interest of the

Tenure Group
FH AREEZ BIEER
Medium term lease 53%
AR EAFEAY

Medium term lease 53%
FREAFR A

Medium term lease 27%

FHATRAY

i B2

Attributable
interest of the
Group
AEE 2 EiLRER

Agricultural produce 53%
exchange market

BEMXHh%

Agricultural produce 53%

exchange market

LB BT RR AR A A
T TFFR
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Five Year Financial Summary

A S B2

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests TYXRASEBEREAMBEFERE 2 X ERE

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited E - BEMEREERE - DEEEE A

financial statements and reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below. ZISEZM R - WIR T XAESELBEES
oK EHET -

Results ES

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

t o33 —ZT—NF —Z=—N\F T+ F —E—RF
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FHT T T FHIT FHIT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS PRI L 515

Revenue & 620,741 751,443 845,781 738,440 825,331
Profit/(loss) before tax MBS RTEF (EE) 110,616 81,694 (114,887) (96,359) 29,066
Income tax credit/(expense)  FTSHiiE%E, () (17,199) (7,448) (2,281) 2432 (3,839)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ZN4E[E5% A1), (E518) 93,417 74,246 (117,168) (93,927) 25,227
Attributable to: AT AR :
Owners of the parent ISTNEIEZZSPN 95,823 74,627 (115,581) (93,303) 25,387
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M A (2,406) (381) (1,587) (624) (160)
93,417 74,246 (117,168) (93,927) 25227
Assets, Liabilities and Non-Controlling Interests B~ QU R IR B HE 4
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
=BC-BF O —TNE T N\F —E—+tF —IZTRE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT FHET T T
Total assets BEE 7,730,183 3,454,670 3,656,461 3,573,251 3,237,452
Total liabilities BEE (4,378,909) (1,006,581) (1,096,436) (915,528) (907,896)

3,351,274 2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723 2,329,556

Equity attributable to owners & AFHEHE AFE(EHERS
of the parent 2,300,061 2444118 2,554,504 2,651,791 2,322,490
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R = 1,051,213 3,971 5,521 5,932 7,066

3,351,274 2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723 2,329,556
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